3

V.

For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.

Get Adobe Reader Now!



http://www.adobe.com/go/reader


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA

Notice is hereby given that the Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin will hold a
regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below.

Meeting of the: Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton
Date & time: Tuesday, January 10, 2023 at 6:00 p.m.

The meeting of the Finance Committee will be conducted as a hybrid meeting

In person: Council Chambers (2™ floor of the Public Safety Building, 321 S. Fourth St.)
Virtual: You can attend the meeting from your computer, tablet, or smartphone via Zoom
https://usO6web.zoom.us/j/84062510093 ?pwd=L2ZsTDc4bEtRTVFCZExCT1dKcER1QT09
Meeting ID: 840 6251 0093 Passcode: 065524

One tap mobile

+13052241968,,840625100934,,,,*065524# US

Members: Brett Schumacher (Chair), Greg Jenson (Vice Chair), Leonard “Ozzie” Doom, Ben Heili, Lisa
Reeves, Mayor Tim Swadley (ex-officio), and David Thomas

1. Call to order

2. Establish a quorum
3. Public comment

4. Communications
5. Reports

a. Fund 242 Fire Dept Special Fund
b. Retirement payouts transfers 2022
6. Approval of minutes
a. October 25, 2022
b. November 15, 2022 — Open session
c. November 15, 2022 — Closed session
d. December 13, 2022
7. R-xxx-2023 Amend 2022 adopted budget — Landmarks Commission
8. R-xxx-2023 Reduction in GIP-Glacier Moraine, LLC Letter of Credit— TIME SENSITIVE ITEM
9. R-xxx-2023 Contract with Parisi Construction for Deer Point Drive and Oak Opening Drive
10. O-xx-2023 Amend municipal code Section 2-585 Hotel-Motel tax — Option A
11. O-xx-2023 Amend municipal code Section 2-585 Hotel-Motel tax — Option B
12. R-xxx-2023 City of Stoughton mileage reimbursement rate indexed to IRS rates
13. Discussion and possible action regarding authorized depositories
14. Discussion and possible action regarding offer to purchase buildings owned by Stoughton
Housing Authority
15. R-xxx-2023 Amend 2023 adopted budget for the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Task Force
16. Future agenda items
a. 01/24/2023 — December 2022 financial reports
b. 01/24/2023 — Action required regarding offer to purchase buildings owned by Stoughton
Housing Authority
c. 01/24/2023 — Amend 2023 budget for city employee market rate adjustments
d. 02/14/2023 — City of Stoughton meal reimbursement rate indexed to IRS rate
e. To be determined — Future treatment of costs eligible for special assessments





f.  To be determined - Potential revisions to Fund Balance Policy (last revised 1/25/22)
g. To be determined — Potential boundary amendment for Tax Incremental District #6 —
Business Park Expansion
h. Potential revisions of City policies regarding Capital Improvement Plan and Debt
Management
17. Adjourn

Any person wishing to attend the meeting, whom because of a disability, requires special
accommodation, should contact the Director of Finance’s office at (608) 873-6691 at least 24 hours before
the scheduled meeting time so appropriate arrangements can be made.

In addition, any person wishing to speak or have their comments heard but does not have access to the
internet should also contact the Director of Finance’s office at the number above at least 24 hours before
the scheduled meeting so appropriate arrangements can be made.

NOTE: AN EXPANDED MEETING MAY CONSTITUTE A QUORUM OF THE COUNCIL







12/15/2022 01:55 PM BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY Page: 1/1
User: DAVE Period Ending 12/31/2022
DB: Stoughton

Fund 242 FIRE DEPT SPECIAL FUND
Current Year
GL Number Description Beg. Balance Balance

*** Assets *x*

242-00000-11100 PRIMARY CHECKING 41,389.71 34,918.39
242-00000-11302 WISC INVESTMENT FUND 20,806.81 21,048.05
Total Assets 62,196.52 55,966.44

*** Tiabilities ***

242-00000-21100 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5,276.04 0.00

Total Liabilities 5,276.04 0.00

*** Fund Balance ***

242-00000-34115 RESERVED: ROTARY PARK LIGHTS 308.54 0.00
242-00000-39000 FUND BALANCE 56,611.94 0.00
242-00000-39600 FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED 0.00 56,920.48
Total Fund Balance 56,920.48 56,920.48
Beginning Fund Balance 56,920.48
Net of Revenues VS Expenditures (954.04)
Ending Fund Balance 55,966.44

Total Liabilities And Fund Balance 55,966.44





12/15/2022 01:57 PM REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY Page: 1/1
User: DAVE PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2022
DB: Stoughton % Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00
2022 YTD BALANCE ACTIVITY FOR AVAILABLE

ORIGINAL 2022 12/31/2022 MONTH 12/31/22 BALANCE % BDGT
GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION BUDGET  AMENDED BUDGET NORM (ABNORM) INCR (DECR) NORM (ABNORM) USED
Fund 242 - FIRE DEPT SPECIAL FUND
Account Type: Revenue
242-00000-46110 MISC. REVENUE 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
242-00000-48110 INTEREST 5.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
242-00000-48521 DANCE DONATIONS 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
242-52200-46915 TAXABLE SODA SALES 0.00 0.00 533.51 0.00 (533.51) 100.00
242-52200-48110 INTEREST 0.00 5.00 411.29 0.00 (406.29) 8,225.80
242-52200-48500 DONATIONS 0.00 4,000.00 12,093.00 11,193.00 (8,093.00) 302.33
242-52200-48521 DANCE DONATIONS 0.00 18,000.00 12,357.50 0.00 5,642.50 68.65
Total Revenue: 22,005.00 22,005.00 25,395.30 11,193.00 (3,390.30) 115.41
Account Type: Expenditure
242-52200-50320 SUBSCRIPTIONS/DUES 0.00 0.00 3,500.15 0.00 (3,500.15) 100.00
242-52200-50340 MISC OPERATING EXPENSES 3,000.00 3,000.00 936.15 0.00 2,063.85 31.21
242-52200-50341 SUNSHINE 200.00 200.00 175.28 0.00 24.72 87.64
242-52200-50342 DANCE 6,500.00 6,500.00 0.00 0.00 6,500.00 0.00
242-52200-50343 HOLIDAY 1,200.00 1,200.00 1,943.74 1,943.74 (743.74) 161.98
242-52200-50346 MEETING 1,500.00 1,500.00 617.10 0.00 882.90 41.14
242-52200-50347 SCHOLARSHIP 500.00 500.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
242-52200-50349 EQUIPMENT 7,500.00 7,500.00 18,108.81 0.00 (10,608.81) 241.45
242-52200-50350 SODA EXPENSES 0.00 0.00 1,068.11 0.00 (1,068.11) 100.00
242-52200-50366 ROTARY PARK LIGHTS 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
Total Expenditure: 21,400.00 21,400.00 26,349.34 1,943.74 (4,949.34) 123.13
Fund 242 - FIRE DEPT SPECIAL FUND:
TOTAL REVENUES 22,005.00 22,005.00 25,395.30 11,193.00 (3,390.30) 115.41
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 21,400.00 21,400.00 26,349.34 1,943.74 (4,949.34) 123.13
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 605.00 605.00 (954.04) 9,249.26 1,559.04 157.69





12/15/2022 BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY

Month Ended: December

GL NUMBER DESCRIPTION

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

BALANCE
AS OF

12/31/2013 12/31/2014 12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022

Fund 242 - FIRE DEPT SPECIAL FUND

Assets

242-00000-11100 PRIMARY CHECKING
242-00000-11302 WISC INVESTMENT FUND
242-00000-13012 RECEIVABLES-PRIOR YEAR
TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities
242-00000-21100 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
TOTAL LIABILITIES

Fund Equity

242-00000-34115 RESERVED: ROTARY PARK LIGHTS
242-00000-39000 FUND BALANCE
242-00000-39600 FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED
TOTAL FUND EQUITY

Total Fund 242 - FIRE DEPT SPECIAL FUND
BEG. FUND BALANCE

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES
FUND BALANCE ADJUSTMENTS

ENDING FUND BALANCE

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

8,954.02 1,626.18 16,630.38 10,686.72 16,173.80
21,116.91 21,124.21 19,615.65 19,686.49 19,871.26
0.00 0.00 0.00 910.00 0.00
30,070.93 22,750.39 36,246.03  31,283.21  36,045.06
171.65 791.02 400.00 400.00 400.00
171.65 791.02 400.00 400.00 400.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 728.23 (750.61)
22,612.79  29,899.28 21,959.37 35,117.80 31,633.82
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
22,612.79 29,899.28 21,959.37 35,846.03 30,883.21
22,612.79  29,899.28  21,959.37 35,846.03 30,883.21
7,286.49  (7,939.91) 13,886.66  (4,962.82) 4,761.85
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
29,899.28  21,959.37 35,846.03 30,883.21 35,645.06
30,070.93 22,750.39  36,246.03  31,283.21  36,045.06

12,950.28
20,250.87

0.00
33,201.15

500.00
500.00

2,682.13
32,962.93
0.00
35,645.06

35,645.06
(2,943.91)
0.00
32,701.15
33,201.15

42,713.15 18,794.81 41,389.71 34,918.39
20,693.47 20,800.73  20,806.81  21,048.05
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
63,406.62  39,595.54 62,196.52  55,966.44
0.00 0.00 5,276.04 0.00

0.00 0.00 5,276.04 0.00
150.51 331.53 331.53 0.00
32,550.64 63,075.09 39,264.01 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 56,920.48
32,701.15 63,406.62 39,595.54  56,920.48
32,701.15 63,406.62 39,595.54  56,920.48
30,705.47 (23,811.08) 17,324.94 (954.04)
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
63,406.62  39,595.54  56,920.48 55,966.44
63,406.62  39,595.54 62,196.52  55,966.44





		Fund 242 Fire Dept Special Fund 12-15-2022.pdf

		Fund 242 Fire Department Special Fund 12-15-2022.pdf

		Document.pdf



		Book2.pdf




Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton
Tuesday, October 25,2022 @ 6:00 p.m,

The meeting was a hybrid meeting located in the City Council chambers of the Public Safety Building at
321 S, Fourth St as well as concurrently held via Zoom.

Committee members present: Brett Schumacher (Chair), Greg Jenson {Vice Chair), Leonard “Ozzie”
Doom, Ben Heili (remote), Lisa Reeves, Tim Swadley {Mayor, ex-officio) and David Thomas
Members absent: None

Guests present: Dave Ehlinger (remote)

B WNPE

10.

11.

Call to order — The meeting was cailed to order by Schumacher at 6:21 p.m.
Establish a quorum — A guorum was present,
Public comment - None
Communications
a. Shared Ride Services - VendorNet bid information — Ehlinger indicated that proposals
are due November 15" and that the current vendor is aware that the city has started
the bid process.
b. Shared Ride Services — Request for Proposal (RFP) — Ehlinger indicated this a copy of
the final Request for Proposal.
c. Delinguent room taxes — Interest and penalties — Ehlinger indicated that the current
ordinance is slent on row interest and penalties are allocated.
Reports
a. Bank reconciliation 09/30/2022
Cash summary by fund 09/30/2022
Check reconciliation report 09/30/2022
Journal entry report 09/30/2022
Budget amendment report 09/30/2022
Receipt register 09/30/2022
Revenue / expenditure report — Finance Department 09/30/2022
Revenue / expenditure report - Shared Ride Services 09/30/2022
Revenue / expenditure report ~ General Revenues 08/30/2022
J+  Committee overview recap 10-21-2022 ~ No specific questions were raised.
Approval of September 27, 2022 minutes — Motion by Heili/Reeves to approve the minutes as
nreviously corrected by Ehlinger. The motion passed unanimously.
Approval of October 13, 2022 minutes — Motion by Doom/Reeves to approve the minutes as
drafted. The motion passed unanimously.
Discussion and possible action regarding committee overview of financial reports —
Schumacher requested the topic be added to a future Common Council agenda, Ehlinger
indicated that he would work with the Clerk’s office to achieve this.
R-xxx-2022 ~ Amend 2022 adopted budget for ARPA funds ~ Innovation Center Stoughton —
Motion by Jenson/Thomas to recommend the resolution for adoption as drafted. The motion
passed unanimously.
Selection of two (2) Finance Committee members for Shared Ride Services ranking of bids —
Reeves and Doom volunteered for this review committee. They indicated a 5:30 meeting time
would work best with their schedules,
R-xxx-2022 Adoption of 2023 budget and tax levy — Ehlinger recapped the new resolution

ST wm ot oo T






format. No guestions were asked and the committee felt that the new format was more
transparent.
12. Future agenda items
a. 12f13/2022 — October financial reports
b. 12/27/2022 — November financial reports
c. To be determined —~ Future treatment of costs eligible for special assessments
d. To be determined - Potential revisions to Fund Balance Policy (last revised 1/25/22}
e, To be determined — Potential boundary amendment for Tax Incremental District #6 —
Business Park Expansion
f. Revise room tax ordinance regarding penalties and interest
g. Potential revisions of City policies regarding Capital Improvement Plan and Debt
Management — No additional items were requested.
13. Adjourn — Motion by Jenson/Reeves to adjourn at 6:45 p.m. The motion passed unanimously.

Respectfully submitted,

ok

David P. Ehlinger, CPA
Director of Finance/Comptroller
City of Stoughton






Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton
Tuesday, October 25, 2022 @ 6:00 p.m.

The meeting was & hybrid meeting located in the City Council chambers of the Public Safety Building at
321 S. Fourth St as well as concurrently held via Zoom.

Committee members present: Brett Schumacher (Chair), Greg Jenson (Vice Chair), Leonard “Ozzie”
Doom {arrived 6:29 p.m. during closed session), Ben Heili {remote), Lisa Reeves, Tim Swadley (Mayor,
ex-officio) and David Thomas

Members absent: None

Guests present: Dave Ehlinger, Al Gillingham, Brett Hebert {remote), Dan Jenks, and Rodney Scheel

Call to order — The meeting was called to order by Schumacher at 6:00 p.m.

Establish a quorum — A quorum was present,

Public comment - None

Communications — Summary of Shared Ride Services proposals received — Ehlinger indicated

that one (1) proposai was received and that proposal was from our current vendor.

1.

2,

3.

4,

5. Reports
a.
b,
c.
d.
e.
f.
£
h.
i

Bank reconciliation 10/31/2022

Cash summary by fund 10/31/2022 - Ehlinger indicated the posting error for Fund 241
EMS Trust Fund was corrected in November. Reeves asked about the cash balance for
Fund 242 Fire Department Special. Ehlinger indicated he was not familiar with the fund
and would have to get back to the committee for a response.

Check reconciliation report 10/31/2022

Journal entry report 10/31/2022

Budget amendment report 10/31/2022 — Ehlinger indicated the low amount of activity
on this report should be consistent with future reports as the bilk of the amendments
for 2022 are probably complete.

Receipt register 10/31/2022

Revenue / expenditure report — Finance Department 10/31/2022

Revenue / expenditure report — Shared Ride Services 10/31/2022

Revenue / expenditure report — General Revenues 10/31/2022 — No addition questions
on the other reports occurred.

6. R-xxx-2022 Amend 2022 adopted budget for Emergency Operations Center (EOC) ~ TIME
SENSITIVE ITEM — Jenks recapped the reason for the proposed budget amendment. Motion by
lenson/Reeves to recommend approval as drafted. The motion passed 6-0.

7. R-xxx-2023 Amend 2023 proposed budget for Capital Improvement Plan for Public Works —
TIME SENSTIVE ITEM — Hebert discussed the need for the proposed budget amendment due to
price changes in the state contract. Motion by Jenson/Reeves to recommend approval as
drafted. The motion passed 6-0.

8. Future agenda items

a.

b.
c.
d

12/27/2022 — November financial reports

To be determined — Future treatment of costs eligible for special assessments

To be determined - Potential revisions to Fund Balance Policy {last revised 1/25/22)
To be determined — Potential boundary amendment for Tax Incremental District #6 —
Business Park Expansion

Revise room tax ordinance regarding penalties and interest






f. Potential revisions of City policies regarding Capital Improvement Plan and Debt
Management - No additional items were requested.

9. Closed session ~ Police union contract negotiations ** - Motion by Reeves/Jenson to move into
closed session as per Wis. Stat. 19.85{1}{e}. The motion passed 6-0 by rol call vote. During
closed session, Doom arrived at 6:29 p.m. After related discussion, motion by Jenson/Reeves to
move into open session and adiourn at 6:45 p.m. The motion passed 7-0.

10. Adjourn
Respectfully submitted,

o

David P. Ehlinger, CPA
Director of Finance/Comptroller
City of Stoughton






Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton
Tuesday, October 25, 2022 @ 6:00 p.m.
CLOSED SESSION minutes

The meeting was a hybrid meeting located in the City Council chambers of the Public Safety Building at
321 S. Fourth St as well as concurrently held via Zoom.

Committee members present: Brett Schumacher (Chair), Greg Jenson (Vice Chair), Leonard “Ozzie”
Doom (arrived 6:29 p.m. during closed session), Ben Heili (remote), Lisa Reeves, Tim Swadley {Mayor,
ex-officio) and David Thomas

Members absent: None

Guests present: Dave Ehlinger, AJ Gillingham, Brett Hebert {remote), Dan Jenks, and Rodney Scheel

9. Closed session — Police union contract negotiations ** - Motion by Reeves/lenson to move into
closed session as per Wis. Stat. 19.85(1)(e). The motion passed 6-0 by roll call vote. During
closed session, Doom arrived at 6:29 p.m.

Gillingham and Ehlinger recapped the rationale and funding source for an additional 5% increase
for sworn union members on top of the 4% already included in the 2023 Mayor’s proposed
budget. Motion by Jlenson/Reeves to recommend to the Common Council to give authority to
Gillingham to approve up to an additional 5% increase in wages for sworn union members for
the 2022 contract year during union contract negotiations. The motion passed 7-0.

10. After related discussion, motion by lenson/Reeves to move into open session and adjourn at
6:45 p.m. The motion passed 7-0.

Respectfully submitted,

David P. Ehlinger, CPA

Director of Finance/Comptroller
City of Stoughton







Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton
Tuesday, December 13, 2022 at 5:30 p.m.

The meeting was a hybrid meeting located in the City Council chambers of the Public Safety Building at
321 S. Fourth St as well as concurrently held via Zoom.

Committee members present: Brett Schumacher (Chair}, Greg Jenson (Vice Chair), Leonard “Ozzie”
Doom, Ben Heili (remote), Lisa Reeves (remote), Tim Swadley (Mayor, ex-officio} and David Thomas
Members absent: None

Guests present: Dave Ehlinger, AJ Gillingham, Rodney Scheel and Shannon Statz

Call to order - Schumacher called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.

Establish a quorum — A quorum was present.

Public comment - None

Communications - None

Reports

a. Tax Incremental Financing Districts tax increment worksheet 2023 — Ehlinger recapped
the tax increments provided by each taxing district to the TIF as well as the actual
amounts versus the 2023 adopted budget.

b. State Shared Revenue payment November 2022 - Ehlinger recapped the State Shared
Revenue July/November payments and indicated the 2022 revenue was 55,951 above
the budgeted amounts.

c. 2023 adopted budget revisions — Debt Service Fund - Ehlinger indicated the only
change to the adopted budget was the allocation of Debt Service Fund principal
payments for Form C purposes.

6. Approval of minutes
a. October 25, 2022
b. November 15, 2022 - Open session
¢. November 15, 2022 - Closed session = Ehlinger requested the various minutes be
tabled as corrections were needed to be made.

| 7. Update regarding Fund 242 Fire Department Special — Ehlinger updated the committee

| regarding the activity in this fund. General discussion occurred. The committee requested a

printout showing current year activity.

} 8. R-xxx-2022 Third Amendment — Stoughton Riverfront Development, LLC — TIME SENSTIVE
ITEM - Ehlinger, Scheel and Swadley recapped the recent events leading up to the proposed
amendment. Motion by Jenson/Doom to recommend approval to the Common Council as
drafted. The motion passed 7-0.

9. R-xx-2022 Stoughton Riverfront Development, LLC gap analysis ~ TIME SENSITIVE ITEM —
Ehlinger, Scheel and Swadley recapped the recent events leading up to the proposed
amendment. Motion by Jenson/Reeves to recommend approval to the Common Council as
drafted. The motion passed 7-0.

10. R-xxx-2022 Cost reimbursement agreement - Stone Crest Development TIME SENSTIVE ITEM ~
Scheel updated the committee regarding the agreement. Motion by Doom/lenson to
recommend approval to the Common Council as drafted. The motion passed 7-0.

11. R-xxx-2022 Amend depositories for funds of the City of Stoughton — TIME SENSITIVE ITEM =

Ehlinger indicated the addition of First Business Bank for Stoughton Utilities and also indicated

that Fidelity Investments should have been previously included. Motion by Jenson/Thomas to

nhRwNRE






12.

13,

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19,

20.

recommend approval to the Commaon Council as drafted. The motion passed 7-0.
R-xxx-2022 Amend Fireman’s Pension Board investment trustees — TIME SENSITIVE ITEM -
Ehlinger recapped the history of the investment account, changing the trustees to the Director
of Finance/Comptroller and City Treasurer and that the Fireman’s Pension Board had already
supported these changes at their meeting of 11-21-2022. Motion by Reeves/Doom to
recommend approval to the Common Council as drafted. The motion passed 7-0.
R-xxx-2022 Shared Ride Services 2023-2024 with options through 2027—- TIME SENSITIVE ITEM
~ Ehlinger recapped the Requests for Proposal process and that one (1) bid from the current
vendor was received. General discussion occurred. Motion by Jenson/Doom to recommend
approval to the Commaon Council as drafted. The motion pass 7-0.
R-xxx-2022 Amend 2023 budget related to refugee settlement activities — TIME SENSITIVE
{TEM - Ehlinger and Swadley recapped the request to carryover funds from the 2022 budget
into the 2023 budget. Motion by Jenson/Doom to recommend the approval to the Common
Council as drafted. The motion passed 7-0.
0-xxx-2023 Amend Section 2-585 Hotel/Motel Tax of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code —
Ehlinger recapped the proposed changes to the ordinance. Motion by Reeves/lenson,
contingent upon no edits made by the City Attorney, to recommend adoption of the ordinance
as drafted to the Common Council. The motion passed 7-0.
R-0:x-2022 Acceptance of TID #4 audit for 2021 and TID #7 audit for 2020 — Ehlinger recapped
the reports along with timing of the audits. General discussion occurred. Motion by
Reeves/Jenson to recommend approval to the Common Council as drafted. The motion passed
7-0.
R-xxx-2022 Creation of irrevocable fiduciary trust for Firefighters Pension Fund — Ehlinger
recapped the recommendation for the creation of the irrevocable fiduciary trust. General
discussion occurred. Motion by Doom/Jenson to recommend approval to the Commaon Council
as drafted. The motion passed 7-0.
R-xxx-2022 Approve Police Department 2023-2024 Union Contract and related budget
amendment - TIME SENSITIVE ITEM — Ehlinger recapped the budget amendment funding
sources for the committee. Motion by Jenson/Reeves to recommend approval to the Common
Council as drafted. The motion passed 7-0.
Reports
Bank reconciliation 11/30/2022
Cash summary by fund 11/30/2022
Check reconciliation report 11/30/2022
Journal entry report 11/30/2022
Budget amendment report 11/30/2022
Receipt register 11/30/2022 - Ehlinger indicated no comments other than those already
provided on the PDF documents. No additional questions were raised.
Revenue / expenditure report — Finance Department 11/30/2022
Revenue / expenditure report — Shared Ride Services 11/30/2022
Revenue / expenditure report — General Revenues 11/30/2022
Redevelopment Authority — projected deficit 11-30-2022
Revenue / expenditure report — City Council 11-30-2022 - Ehlinger recapped each
individual report. No additional questions were raised.
Future agenda items

a—12/271 2022 —November-financial-reperts

b. To be determined — Future treatment of costs eligible for special assessments

c. To be determined - Potential revisions to Fund Balance Policy {last revised 1/25/22)

o an oo

T TR






d. To be determined - Potential boundary amendment for Tax Incremental District #6 —
Business Park Expansion
e. Potential revisions of City policies regarding Capital Improvement Plan and Debt
Management — No additional agenda items were requested.
21. Adjourn — Motion by Jenson/Doom to adjourn at 6:40 p.m. The motion passed 7-0.

Respectfully submitted,

().Omn

David P. Ehlinger, CPA
Director of Finance/Comptroller
City of Stoughton






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Amend 2022 adopted budget for Landmarks Commission

Committee Finance Committee recommended approval _ on 12/27/2022
Action:

Fiscal Impact: Zero

File Number: R-xxx-2023 Date 01/10/23

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton Landmarks Commission received a federal grant
related to City of Stoughton Main Street Design Guidelines for a maximum of $17,000; and,

WHEREAS, the architectural firm contracted to assist with this project performed services
from July 2021 through August 2022 totaling $16,925; and,

WHEREAS, neither the adopted budgets for calendar years 2021 or 2022 included
authorization for these expenditures; and,

WHEREAS, the general ledger for calendar year 2021 did not reflect any expenditures for
these architectural services thus requiring the city record the total expenditures of $16,925 during
calendar year 2022;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the 2022 adopted budget be amended to
increase the allowed expenditures for Fund 235 Landmarks Commission by $16,925; and,;

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the 2022 adopted budget be amended to increase
federal grant revenue for Fund 235 Landmarks Commission by $16,925 thereby having a net fiscal
impact of zero.

Fiscal note: Budget amendments require 2/3 vote of members elected

Council Action: |:|Ad0pted |:| Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: |:|Accept I:I Veto

Mayor Tim Swadley Date

Council Action: |:| Override Vote






MTA

McGuire Igleski & Associates, Inc.

1330 Sherman Avenue
Evanston, iL 60201

847.328.5679

www.miarchitects.com

Avrchitectnre, Preservation, Plauning
Date August 25, 2022
Invoice No. 2128-01
Owner Name: City of Stoughton
Owner Address: 207 S. Forrest Street

Stoughton, Wi, 53589

Attn. Michael Stacey
Project Name: City of Stoughton Main Street Design Guidelines
MIA Project No.: 2128
Pay Period: from 07/08/21 to 08/25/22
Contract Summary
Design Guidelines for the
Stoughton Main Street
Historic District $16,925.00
. Original . Contractto . Previous RCTET “This
' S eryices . Contract Date : Payments LT “ Request
i S 4 (Not Paid) q
Design Guidelines $16,925.00 $16,925.00 $0.00 $0.00 $16,925.00
Total $16,925.00 $16,925.00 $0.00 $0.00 $16,925.00

Total invoice No. 2128-01 |

8/31/2022 budget amendment

| $16,925.00 l

Increase Decrease

235-56700-43315 Federal grant 16,925.00
235-56700-50405 Professional services 16,925.00

“Balance

$0.00
$0.00





Dave Ehlinger

From: Dave Ehlinger

Sent: Thursday, September 1, 2022 10:13 AM
To: Lisa Aide; Michael Stacey; Rodney J. Scheel
Cc: Brett Schumacher; Tim Swadley

Subject: Architect invoice 08-25-2022.pdf
Attachments: Architect invoice 08-25-2022

Lisa,

The attached invoice is related to a federal grant that the Landmarks Commission has received. Unfortunately, with the
federal government’s fiscal year ending 9/30/22, we need to:

e Pay this invoice by September 15, and

e Submit for reimbursement from the federal government by September 15%.

Although | have not seen the actual grant award, | have seen some grants require not only proof of payment but a copy
of the cancelled check as well.

Can you please add this invoice into BS&A for payment with your next check run?

| am assuming that either Michael or Rodney should approve the expenditure in BS&A.
My next step is to contact the vendor to get a copy of their W-9.

Michael,

Can you please provide me a copy of the grant (all pages)? Baker Tilly is going to need this information to prepare the
Single Audit for 2022.

Michael/Rodney,

Is the RDA aware of this work being done?

Brett,

This grant was not included in the 2022 adopted budget. We will have to amend the budget for Fund 235 Landmarks
Commission to allow for this expenditure. As such, you will see a resolution for this topic on a subsequent Finance
Committee agenda.

If anyone has any problems or questions, please feel free to contact me.

Thanks,

Dave





		Architect invoice 08-25-2022.pdf

		235-00000-13010  Accts Rec backup documentation 12-31-2022.pdf




CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Reduction in GIP-Glacier Moraine, LLC Letter of Credit

Committee Finance Committee recommended approval  on 01/10/2023
Action: TIME SENSITIVE ITEM
Fiscal Impact: None

File Number: R-xxx-2023 Date 01/10/23

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, City of Stoughton sold parcel 281/0611-324-9890-2 located at 441 Glacier
Moraine Dr. to GIP-Glacier Moraine, LLC as authorized under R-22-2020; and,

WHEREAS, the purchase and sale agreement for the above property required an
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit for $550,000 related to tax increments on the property; and,

WHEREAS, the Common Council authorized the reduction of the above Irrevocable
Standby Letter of Credit from $550,000 to $450,765 on April 12, 2022 under R-74-2022; and,

WHEREAS, the Real Estate Property Tax Bill for 2022 (payable 2023) for the above
property indicates an increase in assessed value on the property of $158,400; and

WHEREAS, the Director of Finance/Comptroller recommends a reduction of $25,985 for
the Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit based upon $158,400 increase in the assessed value as per
the attached analysis; and,

WHEREAS, a copy of the current Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit #553 from Bank
of Deerfield is attached;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit
#553 from Bank of Deerfield on behalf of GIP-Glacier Moraine, LLC may be reduced to $424,780
as of January 10, 2023.

Council Action: |:|Ad0pted |:| Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: |:|Accept I:I Veto

Mayor Tim Swadley Date
Council Action: |:| Override Vote







STATE OF WISCONSIN

REAL ESTATE PROPERTY TAX BILL FOR 2022

CITY OF STOUGHTON
DANE COUNTY

GIP-GLACIER MORAINE LLC
PO BOX 159
COTTAGE GROVE WI 53527

GIP-GLACIER MORAINE LLC

BILL NUMBER: 2815005

IMPORTANT: - Correspondence should refer to parcel number.
- See reverse side for important information.
- Be sure this description covers your property. This description is
for property tax bill only and may not be a full legal description.

5567763 5003092 4635201 2531868

SEC 32,
PLAT:
BLOCK/CONDO:

T 06

ACRES: 4.430

N, R 11 E, SEY% of SE4

15363-CSM 15363

LOT 3

LOT 3 CSM 15363 CS110/62&63-2/28/2020 F/K/A
LOT 2 CSM 14436 CS99/112&113-2/7/2017 DESCR AS
SEC 32-6-11 PRT SE1/4SE1/4 & PRT SW1/4SEl/4...

Parcel #: 0611-324-9890-2
Property Address: 441 GLACIER MORAINE DR Alt. Parcel #:
Assessed Value Land Ass'd. Value Improvements Total Assessed Value Ave. Assmt. Ratio Net Assessed Value Rate
159,500 354,400 513,900 9709 (Does NOT reflect credits) 0.017172570
Est. Fair Mkt. Land Est. Fair Mkt. Improvements Total Est. Fair Mkt. A Star in this box
g School taxes reduced by
164,300 365,000 529,300 [:] means Unpaid Prior | 3100 e $ 735.52
2021 2022
Taxing Jurisdiction Est. State Aids Est. State Aids 2021 2022 % Tax
Allocated Tax Dist. Allocated Tax Dist. Net Tax Net Tax Change
DANE COUNTY 211,451 223,265 1,043.15 1,439.31 38.0%
CITY OF STOUGHTON 1,981,606 2,139,059 2,779.17 3,714.55 33.7%
STOUGHTON SCHOOL DIST 7,927,981 8,154,421 2,726.63 3,288.80 20.6%
MADISON TECH COLLEGE 1,024,108 1,079,375 290.98 382.32 31.4%
Total 11,145,146 11,596,120 6,839.93 8,824.98 29.0%
First Dollar Credit 69.28 64.55 ~6.8%
Lottery & Gaming Credit
Net Property Tax 6,770.65 8,760.43 29.4%
Make Check Payable to: Full Payment Due On or Before January 31, 2023 Net Property Tax 8,760.43
$8,792.51 DELINQUENT UTILITIES 32.08
CITY OF STOUGHTON TREASURER
207 S FORREST ST Or First Installment Due On or Before January 31, 2023
STOUGHTON WI 53589 $4,412.30
And Second Installment Payment Payable To And Second Installment Due On or Before July 31, 2023
DANE COUNTY TREASURER $4,380.21
T ADAM GALLAGHER ! :
PO BOX 1299 FOR TREASURERS USE ONLY
MADISON WI 53701-1299 PAYMENT
Lo\ l¥ FOR FULL PAYMENT =
BALANCE Pay By January 31, 2023 >
DATE > $ 8,792.51 4
Warning: [f not paid by due dates, installment option is lost %
and total tax is delinquent subject to interest and, if applicable, $
penalty. Failure to pay on time. See reverse. E
PLEASE RETURN LOWER
v PORTION WITH REMITTANCE A
REAL ESTATE PROPERTY TAX BILL FOR 2022
Bill #: 2815005
CITY OF STOUGHTON TREASURER Parcel #: 0611-324-9890-2
STOUGHTON WI 53589
Total Due For Full Payment $8,792.51
Pay to Local Treasurer By Jan 31, 2023 !

[ ] Check For Billing Address Change.

GIP-GLACIER MORAINE LLC
PO BOX 159
COTTAGE GROVE WI 53527

09

0k11324948902

ooo&792517

ooo04412300

OR PAY INSTALLMENTS OF:

1ST INSTALLMENT 2ND INSTALLMENT
Pay to Local Treasurer Pay to County Treasurer

$4,412.30 $4,380.21
BY January 31, 2023 BY July 31, 2023

FOR TREASURERS USE ONLY
PAYMENT

BALANCE

DATE

rrd





CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN

 RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Resolution by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton
Approving Reduction in GIP-Glacier Moraine LLC Letter of Credit

Committee Action: Finance recommends approval unanimously 4/12/22

Fiscal Impact: None

File Number: R-74-2022 Date Introduced:  April 12,2022

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:
RECITALS

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton sold a parcel in Tax Increment District (TID) #6
to GIP-Glacier Moraine L1.C as authorized under Resolution R-22-2020; and

WHEREAS, the purchase and sale agreement for the above property required an
Irrevocable Letter of Credit for $550,000 related to tax increments on the property; and

WHEREAS, a copy of the above Itrevocable Letter of Credit is attached to this
resolution; and

WHEREAS, the City’s former Director of Finance has calculated that a reduction of
$99,235 of the Irrevocable Letter of Credit is appropriate based upon $355,000 value added
during calendar year 2020; and

WHEREAS, both Ehlers & Associates and the current Director of Finance have
reviewed the calculations and concur with the recommendation;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the [rrevocable Letter of Credit
from Bank of Deerfield on behalf of GIP-Glacier Moraine LL.C may be reduced to $450,765.

Council Action: iZF\dopted D Faited Vote (©-0

Mayoral Action: Accept D Veto
e Dbyl
"[?n“S’\/Nad]ey, Mayor U Date

Council Action: D Override Vote






City of Stoughton
TID #6 -- Grosso Valuation
Last Updated 12/14/2022

S:\Finance\TIF\TIF 6-Business Park Expansion\Valuation Materials\Grosso revised

Taxes

Construction Valuation Revenue Mill Tax Mill Rate
Year Value Added Year Increment Year Rate Increment Change
1 2015 $ - 2016 $ - 2017 $ 23.7900
2 2016 $ - 2017 $ - 2018 $ 23.8696 0.33%
3 2017 $ - 2018 $ - 2019 $ 22.9622 -3.80%
4 2018 $ - 2019 $ - 2020 $ 22.5816 -1.66%
5 2019 $ - 2020 $ - 2021 $ 221444 -1.94%
6 2020 $ 355,500 2021 $ 355,500 2022 $ 20.6422 -6.78%
7 2021 $ 158,400 2022 $ 513,900 2023 $ 18.0426 -12.59%
8 2022 $ - 2023 $ 513,900 2024 $ 17.7720 A -1.50%
9 2023 $ - 2024 $ 513,900 2025 $ 175054 A -1.50%
10 2024 $ - 2025 $ 513,900 2026 $ 17.2428 -1.50%
11 2025 $ - 2026 $ 513,900 2027 $ 16.9842 -1.50%
12 2026 $ - 2027 $ 513,900 2028 $ 16.7294 -1.50%
13 2027 $ - 2028 $ 513,900 2029 $ 16.4785 -1.50%
14 2028 $ - 2029 $ 513,900 2030 $ 16.2313 -1.50%
15 2029 $ - 2030 $ 513,900 2031 $ 15.9878 -1.50%
16 2030 $ - 2031 $ 513,900 2032 $ 15.7480 -1.50%
17 2031 $ - 2032 $ 513,900 2033 $ 15.5118 -1.50%
18 2032 $ - 2033 $ 513,900 2034 $ 15.2791 -1.50%
19 2033 $ - 2034 $ 513,900 2035 $ 15.0499 -1.50%
20 2034 $ - 2035 $ 513,900 2036 $ 14.8242 -1.50%
$ 513,900 $ 125,220.16
Reduction in LOC: Capital Improvements (P&I)

Valuation Year Value Added LOC Reduction LOC Balance Reduction Date Principal $ 2,617,931
2021 $ 355,500 $ 99,235 $ 450,765 12/15/2021 Interest $ 379,640
2022 $ 158,400 $ 25,985 $ 424,780 12/15/2022 $ 2,997,571
2023 $ = $ - $ 424,780 12/15/2023
2024 $ = $ = $ 424,780 12/15/2024 Developable Acres 24.50

$ 513,900 $ 125,220 Cost to Recover / Acre $ 122,350
12/15/2024 Draw on LOC $ 424,779.84 Grosso $ 542,010
Minimum Forecasted Incremental Revenue by 12/31/24 $ 550,000






~—4

PO Box85

BA N K O F Deerfield, Wisconsin 53531

& Phone: 608-764-5411
DEERFIELD
www.bankofdeerfield.bank

W ive ]

Building Relationships where we live since 1887.

IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT
(TIF guarantee)

Bank of Deerfield
15 South Main Street
P.O. Box 85
Deerfield, WI 53531

BENEFICIARY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. DATE

The City of Stoughton,
a Wisconsin municipal corporation 553 March 23, 2022

This Letter of Credit is issued to secure certain obligations of GIP-Glacier Moraine LLC under the
Purchase and Sale Agreement (City of Stoughton — GIP-Glacier Moraine LLC) dated March 4, 2020 (the
“Purchase Agreement”). We hereby authorize you to draw on us for the account of GIP-Glacier Moraine
LLC up to an aggregate amount of Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Seven Hundred Sixty-Five Dollars and
00/100 ($450,765.00) available at sight upon presentation of the following:

1. Your draft in the form attached as Exhibit A.

2. This original Letter of Credit.

3. An affidavit in the form attached as Exhibit B.

This Letter of Credit and each extended, renewed or replacement letter of credit shall be
automatically extended without amendment for a period of one year from its expiration date, unless at
least forty — five (45) days before such expiration date we notify the City in writing at 207 S. Forrest
Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 53589, Attn: Finance Director, that the Letter of Credit will not be

extended for an additional one (1) year period, or that the Letter of Credit will be renewed or repiaced
by a letter of credit in an amount that is less than the amount required by the Purchase Agreement.

FDI€ MEMBER FDIC EQUAL HOUSING LENDER =Y





SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:
Partial drawings are (x) permitted.

All drafts must be marked “Drawn Under Letter of Credit of Bank of Deerfield, No. 553 dated
March 23, 2022.”

Insofar as applicable, this Letter of Credit is subject to the International Standby Practices
(1998), International Chamber of Commerce Publication # 590. This Letter of Credit shall be construed
and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin, including insofar as applicable
the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Wisconsin.

We agree with you to pay draft(s) drawn under and in compliance with the terms of the Letter
of Credit if presented at this office together with this Letter of Credit on or before the close of our

business on March 4, 2023.

Dated: March 23, 2022. BANK OF DEERFIELD

By: :&/V\— 1 /7/2, /VbL

Benjarm/n M. Misna, Senior Vice President






		Tax Bill GIP.pdf

		R-74-2022 - Resolution Approving Reduction in GIP - Glacier Moraine LLC Letter of Credit.pdf

		14a  Approving Reduction in GIP - Glacier Moraine LLC Letter of Credit



		Grosso revised.pdf

		GIP Glacier Moraine - Grosso  #553  $450,765.pdf








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to enter into an agreement with Parisi
Construction, LLC for Roadway Improvements to Deer Point Drive and Oak Opening Drive

Committee Action:  Finance Committee recommended approval on 01/10/2023 ?)
Fiscal Impact: $399,475.57
File Number: R-xxx-2023 Date Introduced:

1/24/2023

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:

RECITALS
WHEREAS, The City received two competitive bids to make roadway improvements to Deer Point
Drive and Oak Opening Drive; and

WHEREAS, MSA, the City’s contracted engineering firm, has reviewed the bids and supports awarding
the contract to the low responsible bidder, Parisi Construction, LLC; and

WHEREAS, the low bid is $399,457.75; now therefore
BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city official(s) be

hereby directed and authorized to enter into an agreement with Parisi Construction, LLC for
$399,457.75, conditioned upon approval as to form by the City Attorney.

Council Action: |:| Adopted |:| Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: |:| Accept |:| Veto
Tim Swadley, Mayor Date
Council Action: |:| Override Vote

S:\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\R -- 2022 - Deer Point Drive.docx






CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL
DEPARTMENT OF DIRECTOR

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT
207 S. Forrest, Stoughton, WI. 53589

(608) 873-6619 www.cl.stoughton.wi.us
Date: December 16, 2022
To: Finance Committee
From: Rodney J. Scheel

Director of Planning & Development
Subject: Oak Opening & Deer Point Drive Roadway Improvements
The City has budgeted $690,000 for the above project that includes pavement replacement and
widening of Deer Point Drive and Oak Opening Drive between the 51 West and Kettle Park
West developments.
The City received two bids for this project. It is our recommendation to award the contract to the

low bidder, Parisi Construction, LLC with a base bid of $399,457.75.

If you have any questions, please contact me.

S:\Planning\RJS\Committees\Finance 12-16-2022 - Deer Point Construction.docx



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/



City of Stoughton Oak Opening Drive and Deer Point Drive Watermain and Roadway Improvements (#8313586)
Owner: City of Stoughton
Solicitor: MSA Professional Services - Madison
12/16/2022 01:00 PM CST
MSA Project #09360028

Rock Road Companies,

Parisi Construction, LLC. Inc.
Section Title Line Item |ltem Description UofM Quantity [Unit Price |Extension Unit Price  |Extension
General
1|Mobilization/Bonds/Insurance LS 1| $15,500.00 | $15,500.00 | $33,000.00 | $33,000.00
2 [Traffic Control LS 1| $3,200.00 $3,200.00 | $2,500.00 $2,500.00
Erosion Control (Silt Fence, Tracking Pad,Inlet
3[Protection) LS 1| $4,800.00 $4,800.00 | $4,375.00 $4,375.00
4|Topsoil Stripping & Stockpile SY 4800 $0.25 $1,200.00 $3.80 | $18,240.00
5{Unclassified Excavation LS 1{ $50,000.00 | $50,000.00 | $40,000.00 | $40,000.00
6[Remove & Relocate Mailbox EA 3 $380.00 $1,140.00 $225.00 $675.00
7|Relocate Light Pole EA 1| $2,500.00 $2,500.00 | $7,800.00 $7,800.00
General Total: $78,340.00 $106,590.00
Demolition
8|Pulverize & Grade Existing Asphalt Pavement Sy 2400 $1.90 $4,560.00 $0.01 $24.00
9[Remove Storm Sewer W/Endwalls LF 418 $27.50 | $11,495.00 $26.20 | $10,951.60
Demolition Total: $16,055.00 $10,975.60
Streets
10|Excavation Below Subgrade (EBS) cY 500 $18.00 $9,000.00 $30.32 | $15,160.00
11|3-Inch Breaker Run w/ Fabric cY 500 $36.50 | $18,250.00 $46.22 | $23,110.00
12|Crushed Aggregate Base Course, 12-Inch Thick TN 4050 $14.00 | $56,700.00 $19.17 | $77,638.50
Asphaltic Concrete Pavement, 2.25-Inch Thick Surface
13|Course, 4MT 58-28S TN 635 $73.00 | $46,355.00 $85.00 | $53,975.00
Asphaltic Concrete Pavement, 2.75-Inch Thick Binder
14(Course, 3MT 58-28 S TN 775 $72.00 | $55,800.00 $77.00 | $59,675.00
Asphaltic Concrete Pavement, 3-Inch Thick Drives, 4MT
15|58-28 S TN 125 $85.00 | $10,625.00 $105.00 | $13,125.00
16|Concrete Curb and Gutter, 24-Inch W/Base LF 90 $49.00 $4,410.00 $69.07 $6,216.30
17|2 FT. Wide Gravel Shouldering LF 2450 $4.50 | $11,025.00 $3.72 $9,114.00
18|Pavement Marking, Bike Lane LF 2650 $1.70 $4,505.00 $1.60 $4,240.00
19|Pavement Marking, 18-Inch Stop Bar LF 11 $21.25 $233.75 $20.00 $220.00






| 20[Sign - R1-1 Stop Sign and Post EA 1| $880.00 $880.00 [  $450.00 $450.00
Streets Total: $217,783.75 $262,923.80

Erosion Control & Landscaping
| 21|Restoration, Seed, Fertilize, & Matting sy 3700 $7.50 | $27,750.00 $6.60 | $24,420.00
Erosion Control & Landscaping Total: $27,750.00 $24,420.00

Storm Sewer

22(24-Inch RCP Culvert LF 48 $91.00 $4,368.00 $128.03 $6,145.44
23|24-Inch RCP Apron Endwall EA 2| $4,700.00 $9,400.00 | $3,246.23 $6,492.46
24(24-Inch HDPE LF 16 $120.00 $1,920.00 $114.85 $1,837.60
25|24-Inch HDPE Endwall Remove and Reinstall EA 2| $1,800.00 $3,600.00 | $1,086.93 $2,173.86
26(18-Inch CMP Culvert EA 165 $75.00 | $12,375.00 $102.84 | $16,968.60
27|18-Inch CMP Apron Endwall EA 6| $1,300.00 $7,800.00 $544.26 $3,265.56
28|Adjust CB Casting EA 1 $530.00 $530.00 $585.84 $585.84
29|24-Inch CMP Culvert LF 122 $88.00 | $10,736.00 $110.60 | $13,493.20
30|24-Inch CMP Apron Endwall EA 4| $2,200.00 $8,800.00 $630.38 $2,521.52
Storm Sewer Total: $59,529.00 $53,484.08

Base Bid Total:

$399,457.75

$458,393.48







CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589
OPTION A
ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Amending Section 2-585 Hotel/Motel Tax of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code;

Committee Action: Finance Committee recommended approval  01-10-2023

Fiscal Impact: Potential increase in delinquent penalties (amount unknown)

File Number: 0- xx-2023 Date First reading — January 24, 2023
Introduced:  g.cong reading — February 14, 2023

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton has not revised the city ordinance for hotel/motel taxes since it’s
adoption in November 2003; and,

WHEREAS, the Director of Finance/Comptroller suggests the following changes to the ordinance:

1) Update the ordinance language regarding the allocation of room tax revenue to be consistent with
current practice,

2) update the ordinance for consistency with hospitality industry practice regarding names on
lodging invoices consistent with the USA Patriot Act of 2001,

3) establish that any related forfeitures, interest, and penalties shall be reported within the General
Fund, and,

4) increase the forfeiture for late filing to be calculated on a quarterly basis as opposed to an annual
basis due to the fact that these room taxes are collected on a fiduciary basis by the establishment;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton as follows:

Amend Section 2-585 Hotel/Motel Tax of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code as per the attached Exhibit A

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication.
Dates

Council Adopted:

Mayor Approved:

Timothy Swadley, Mayor
Published:

Attest:

Candee Christen, City Clerk






Exhibit A

Sec. 2-585 Hotel/motel room tax.

(a) Definitions. In this section, the following definitions shall apply:

Bed and breakfast establishment. Any place of temporary lodging that provides four or fewer
rooms for rent, which is open for rental more than ten nights in a 12-month period, is the owner's
personal residence and is occupied by the owner at the time of rental, and in which the only meal
served is breakfast.

Gross receipts. Has the meaning as defined in Wis. Stats. § 77.51(4)(a) insofar as applicable.

Hotel or motel. A building or group of buildings in which the public may obtain accommodations for
a consideration, including, without limitation, such establishments as inns, motels, tourist homes, tourist
houses or courts, bed and breakfast establishments, lodging houses, rooming houses, summer camps,
apartment hotels, resort lodges and cabins and any other building or group of buildings in which
accommodations are available to the public, except accommodations rented for a continuous period of
more than one month and accommodations furnished by any hospital, sanatorium or nursing home or
by corporations or associations organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable or
educational purposes provided that no part of the net earnings of such corporations and associations
inures to the benefit of any private share- holder or individual.

Transient. Any person residing for a continuous period of less than one month in a hotel, motel or
other furnished accommodation available to the public.

(b) Imposition of tax.

(1) Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 66.0615, a tax is hereby imposed on the privilege and services of
furnishing, at retail, rooms or lodging to transients by hotelkeepers, motel operators and
other persons furnishing accommodations that are available to the public, irrespective of
whether membership is required for the use of the accommodations. Such tax shall be at the
rate of six percent of the gross receipts from such retail furnishing of rooms or lodgings. Such
tax shall not be subject to the selective sales tax imposed by Wis. Stats. 77.52(2)(a)1.

EffectiveJanuary-1-2004; Ten (10) 30 percent of such tax shall be appropriated to the City’s
General Fund for purposes of promoting economic development. Ninety (90) Seventy percent
of such tax shall be deposited in the city tourism fund to be used exclusively for the purpose
of tourism promotion and development in the City of Stoughton. The City shall use room tax
revenue deposited within the City’s tourism fund to contract with a tourism entity or tourism
entities to provide tourism promotion and development services for the City.

(2) Exemptions. The following room sales are exempt from this tax:
a. Salesto the federal government;
b. Sales to persons listed under Wis. Stats. § 77.54(9a).

(3) Exemption conditions. The following conditions must occur for a sale to be exempt from the
room tax:

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 1 0of 4





Exhibit A

a. The lodging establishment must issue the billing or invoice for the lodging in the name of
the exempt entity and/or the guest’s name in compliance of the USA Patriot Act of 2001
(Public Law 107-56 October 26, 2001); and

b. The lodging establishment must receive from the exempt entity:

1. Inthe case of federal and Wisconsin state or local governmental units, a purchase
order or similar written document (such as a letter of authorization), or

2. Inthe case of nonprofit religious, charitable, scientific or educational organization,
the organization's certificate of exempt status number.

c. The exemption still applies if the individual pays with his or her own funds, as long as the
above conditions are met.

(c) Collection of tax.

(1) Administration by city treasurer. This tax shall be administered by the city treasurer who shall,
at city expense, provide the necessary application and reporting forms at no cost to the
taxpayer.

(2) Reporting periods. The tax imposed for the months of January, February and March, and for
each calendar quarter thereafter, is due and payable on the last day of the month next
succeeding the calendar quarter for which imposed. A return shall be filed with the city
treasurer, by those furnishing at retail such rooms and lodging, on or before the same date on
which such tax is due and payable. Such returns shall show the gross receipts of the preceding
calendar quarter from such retail furnishing of room or lodging, the amount of taxes imposed
for such period, and such other information as the city treasurer deems necessary. Every
person required to file such quarterly return shall, with his first return, elect to file an annual
calendar year or fiscal year return. Such annual return shall be filed within 90 days of the
close of each such calendar or fiscal year. The annual return shall summarize the quarterly
returns, reconcile and adjust for errors in the quarterly returns, and shall contain certain such
additional information as the city treasurer requires. Such annual returns shall be made on
forms as prescribed by the city treasurer. All such returns shall be signed by the person
required to file a return or duly authorized agent, but need not be verified by oath. The city
treasurer may, for good cause, extend the time for filing any return, but in no event longer
than one month from the filing date.

(3) Sale or conveyance of business. If any person liable for any amount of tax under this section
sells out his business or stock of goods or quits the business, his successors or assigns shall
withhold sufficient portion of the purchase price to cover such amount until the former
owner produces a receipt from the city treasurer that it has been paid or a certificate stating
that no amount is due. If a person subject to the tax imposed by this section fails to withhold
such amount of tax from the purchase price as required, he shall become personally liable for
payment of the amount required to be withheld by him to the extent of the price of the
accommodations valued in money.

(4) Determination of tax by audit.

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 2 of 4





Exhibit A

a. The city treasurer may, by office audit, determine the tax required to be paid to the city
or the refund due to any person under this section. This determination may be made
upon the basis of the facts contained in the return being audited or on the basis of any
other information within the city treasurer's possession that meets the criteria set forth
in Wis. Stats. § 66.0615(2). One or more such office audit determination may be made of
the amount due for any one or for more than one period.

b.  The city treasurer may, by field audit, determine the tax required to be paid to the city
or the refund due to any person under this section. The determination may be made
upon the basis of the facts contained in the return being audited or upon any other
information with the city treasurer's possession. The city treasurer is authorized to
examine and inspect the books, records, memoranda, and property of any person in
order to verify the tax liability of that person or of another person. Nothing herein shall
prevent the city treasurer from making a determination of tax at any time.

(5) Failure to file return. If any person fails to file a return as required by this section, the city
treasurer shall make an estimate of the amount of the gross receipts under subsections (2)
and (3). Such estimates shall be made for the period for which such person failed to make a
return and shall be based upon any information which is in the city treasurer's possession or
may come into the treasurer's possession. On the basis of this estimate, the city treasurer
shall compute and determine the amount required to be paid to the city, adding to the sum
thus arrived at a penalty equal to ten percent thereof. One or more such determinations may
be made for one or more than one period. Any penalty assessed shall be placed in the City’s
General Fund.

(6) Interest on unpaid taxes. All unpaid taxes under this section shall bear interest at the rate of
12 percent per year from the due date of the return until the first day of the month following
the month in which the tax is paid or deposited with the city treasurer. An extension of time
within which to file a return shall operate to extend the due date of the return for purposes
of interest computations. If the city treasurer determines that any overpayment of tax has
been made intentionally or by reason of carelessness or neglect, or if the tax which was
overpaid was not accompanied by a complete return, he shall not allow any interest thereon.
Any interest assessed on unpaid taxes shall be placed in the City’s General Fund.

(7) Delinquent returns and payments: Late fees and penalties.
a. The tax imposed by this section shall become delinquent if not paid:

1. Inthe case of a timely filed return, within 30 days after the due date of the return,
or within 30 days after the expiration of an extension period, if one is granted.

2. Inthe case of no return being filed or a return filed late, by the due date of the
return.

b.  Any person or establishment failing to pay the tax imposed by this section when due
shall be subject to a forfeiture not to exceed $5,000 or 25% of the room tax due for the
delinquent calendar quarter previeusyear, whichever is less. Any forfeiture assessed on
delinquent returns and penalties shall be placed in the City’s General Fund.

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 3 of 4





Exhibit A

c.  Any person or establishment subject to this section that fails to file a correct return
when due shall be subject to a forfeiture of $100.00.

(d) Records to be maintained. Every person liable for the tax imposed by this section shall keep or
cause to be kept such records, receipts, invoices and other pertinent papers in such form as the
city treasurer and this section shall require. Such records shall be retained and made available for a
period of five years from the date of a filing period.

(e) Confidentiality maintained.

(1) All tax returns, schedules, exhibits, writings, or audit reports relating to such returns on file
with the city treasurer are deemed to be confidential, except the city treasurer may divulge
their contents to the following and no others:

a. The person who filed the return.

b.  Officers, agents or employees of the Federal Internal Revenue Service or the State
Department of Revenue.

c.  Officers, employees or agents of the city auditors.

d.  Such other public officials of the City of Stoughton when deemed necessary to discharge
the duties of their office imposed by law or by order of a court.

(2) No person having an administrative duty under this section shall make known in any manner
the business affairs, operations or information obtained by an investigation of records of any
person on whom a tax is imposed by this section or the amount or source of income, profits,
losses, expenditures or any particulars thereof, set forth or disclosed in any return, or to
permit any return or copy thereof to be seen or examined by any person, except as provided
above. Any person who violates this subsection shall be subject to a forfeiture of not less than
$100.00 nor more than $500.00. Any forfeiture pursuant to this section shall be placed in the
City’s General Fund.

(f)  Other penalties. Any person or establishment subject to this section that fails or refuses to permit
the inspection of records by the city treasurer after such inspection has been duly required by such
treasurer, or that violates any other provision of this section not containing a specific penalty, shall
be subject to a forfeiture pursuant to section 1-3. Each day, or portion thereof, that such violation
continues is hereby deemed to constitute a separate offense. Any forfeitures pursuant to this
section shall be placed in the City’s General Fund.

(Ord. No. 0-50-03, § 1, 11-25-2003)

Amended — Ord. No. O-xx-2023, 02-07-2023

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 4 of 4






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589

OPTION B

ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Amending Section 2-585 Hotel/Motel Tax of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code;

Committee Action: Finance Committee recommended approval 01-10-2023
Fiscal Impact: Potential increase in delinquent penalties (amount unknown)

Increased room tax revenue (amount unknown)

File Number: 0O- xx-2023

Date First reading — January 24, 2023

Introduced:  go.0ng reading — February 14, 2023

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton has not revised the city ordinance for hotel/motel taxes since it’s

adoption in November 2003; and,

WHEREAS, the Director of Finance/Comptroller suggests the following changes to the ordinance:

1) Update the ordinance language regarding the allocation of room tax revenue to be consistent with

current practice,

2) update the ordinance for consistency with hospitality industry practice regarding names on
lodging invoices consistent with the USA Patriot Act of 2001,
3) establish that any related forfeitures, interest, and penalties shall be reported within the General

Fund,

4) increase the forfeiture for late filing to be calculated on a quarterly basis as opposed to an annual
basis due to the fact that these room taxes are collected on a fiduciary basis by the establishment,
5) increase the room tax rate effective 07-01-2022;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton as follows:

Amend Section 2-585 Hotel/Motel Tax of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code as per the attached Exhibit A

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication.

Dates
Council Adopted:
Mayor Approved:

Published:

Attest:

Timothy Swadley, Mayor

Candee Christen, City Clerk






Exhibit A

Sec. 2-585 Hotel/motel room tax.

(a) Definitions. In this section, the following definitions shall apply:

Bed and breakfast establishment. Any place of temporary lodging that provides four or fewer
rooms for rent, which is open for rental more than ten nights in a 12-month period, is the owner's
personal residence and is occupied by the owner at the time of rental, and in which the only meal
served is breakfast.

Gross receipts. Has the meaning as defined in Wis. Stats. § 77.51(4)(a) insofar as applicable.

Hotel or motel. A building or group of buildings in which the public may obtain accommodations for
a consideration, including, without limitation, such establishments as inns, motels, tourist homes, tourist
houses or courts, bed and breakfast establishments, lodging houses, rooming houses, summer camps,
apartment hotels, resort lodges and cabins and any other building or group of buildings in which
accommodations are available to the public, except accommodations rented for a continuous period of
more than one month and accommodations furnished by any hospital, sanatorium or nursing home or
by corporations or associations organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable or
educational purposes provided that no part of the net earnings of such corporations and associations
inures to the benefit of any private share- holder or individual.

Transient. Any person residing for a continuous period of less than one month in a hotel, motel or
other furnished accommodation available to the public.

(b) Imposition of tax.

(1) Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 66.0615, a tax is hereby imposed on the privilege and services of
furnishing, at retail, rooms or lodging to transients by hotelkeepers, motel operators and
other persons furnishing accommodations that are available to the public, irrespective of
whether membership is required for the use of the accommodations. Effective June 1, 2023,
such Sueh tax shall beat increase from the prior rate of six percent to eight percent (8%) of
the gross receipts from such retail furnishing of rooms or lodgings. Such tax shall not be
subject to the selective sales tax imposed by Wis. Stats. 77.52(2)(a)1.

Effectivetanuary-1-2004; Ten (10) 30 percent of such tax shall be appropriated to the City’s
General Fund for purposes of promoting economic development. Ninety (90) Seventy percent
of such tax shall be deposited in the city tourism fund to be used exclusively for the purpose
of tourism promotion and development in the City of Stoughton. The City shall use room tax
revenue deposited within the City’s tourism fund to contract with a tourism entity or tourism
entities to provide tourism promotion and development services for the City.

(2) Exemptions. The following room sales are exempt from this tax:
a. Salesto the federal government;
b. Sales to persons listed under Wis. Stats. § 77.54(9a).

(3) Exemption conditions. The following conditions must occur for a sale to be exempt from the
room tax:

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 1 0of 4





Exhibit A

a. The lodging establishment must issue the billing or invoice for the lodging in the name of
the exempt entity and/or the guest’s name in compliance of the USA Patriot Act of 2001
(Public Law 107-56 October 26, 2001); and

b. The lodging establishment must receive from the exempt entity:

1. Inthe case of federal and Wisconsin state or local governmental units, a purchase
order or similar written document (such as a letter of authorization), or

2. Inthe case of nonprofit religious, charitable, scientific or educational organization,
the organization's certificate of exempt status number.

c. The exemption still applies if the individual pays with his or her own funds, as long as the
above conditions are met.

(c) Collection of tax.

(1) Administration by city treasurer. This tax shall be administered by the city treasurer who shall,
at city expense, provide the necessary application and reporting forms at no cost to the
taxpayer.

(2) Reporting periods. The tax imposed for the months of January, February and March, and for
each calendar quarter thereafter, is due and payable on the last day of the month next
succeeding the calendar quarter for which imposed. A return shall be filed with the city
treasurer, by those furnishing at retail such rooms and lodging, on or before the same date on
which such tax is due and payable. Such returns shall show the gross receipts of the preceding
calendar quarter from such retail furnishing of room or lodging, the amount of taxes imposed
for such period, and such other information as the city treasurer deems necessary. Every
person required to file such quarterly return shall, with his first return, elect to file an annual
calendar year or fiscal year return. Such annual return shall be filed within 90 days of the
close of each such calendar or fiscal year. The annual return shall summarize the quarterly
returns, reconcile and adjust for errors in the quarterly returns, and shall contain certain such
additional information as the city treasurer requires. Such annual returns shall be made on
forms as prescribed by the city treasurer. All such returns shall be signed by the person
required to file a return or duly authorized agent, but need not be verified by oath. The city
treasurer may, for good cause, extend the time for filing any return, but in no event longer
than one month from the filing date.

(3) Sale or conveyance of business. If any person liable for any amount of tax under this section
sells out his business or stock of goods or quits the business, his successors or assigns shall
withhold sufficient portion of the purchase price to cover such amount until the former
owner produces a receipt from the city treasurer that it has been paid or a certificate stating
that no amount is due. If a person subject to the tax imposed by this section fails to withhold
such amount of tax from the purchase price as required, he shall become personally liable for
payment of the amount required to be withheld by him to the extent of the price of the
accommodations valued in money.

(4) Determination of tax by audit.

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 2 of 4





Exhibit A

a. The city treasurer may, by office audit, determine the tax required to be paid to the city
or the refund due to any person under this section. This determination may be made
upon the basis of the facts contained in the return being audited or on the basis of any
other information within the city treasurer's possession that meets the criteria set forth
in Wis. Stats. § 66.0615(2). One or more such office audit determination may be made of
the amount due for any one or for more than one period.

b.  The city treasurer may, by field audit, determine the tax required to be paid to the city
or the refund due to any person under this section. The determination may be made
upon the basis of the facts contained in the return being audited or upon any other
information with the city treasurer's possession. The city treasurer is authorized to
examine and inspect the books, records, memoranda, and property of any person in
order to verify the tax liability of that person or of another person. Nothing herein shall
prevent the city treasurer from making a determination of tax at any time.

(5) Failure to file return. If any person fails to file a return as required by this section, the city
treasurer shall make an estimate of the amount of the gross receipts under subsections (2)
and (3). Such estimates shall be made for the period for which such person failed to make a
return and shall be based upon any information which is in the city treasurer's possession or
may come into the treasurer's possession. On the basis of this estimate, the city treasurer
shall compute and determine the amount required to be paid to the city, adding to the sum
thus arrived at a penalty equal to ten percent thereof. One or more such determinations may
be made for one or more than one period. Any penalty assessed shall be placed in the City’s
General Fund.

(6) Interest on unpaid taxes. All unpaid taxes under this section shall bear interest at the rate of
12 percent per year from the due date of the return until the first day of the month following
the month in which the tax is paid or deposited with the city treasurer. An extension of time
within which to file a return shall operate to extend the due date of the return for purposes
of interest computations. If the city treasurer determines that any overpayment of tax has
been made intentionally or by reason of carelessness or neglect, or if the tax which was
overpaid was not accompanied by a complete return, he shall not allow any interest thereon.
Any interest assessed on unpaid taxes shall be placed in the City’s General Fund.

(7) Delinquent returns and payments: Late fees and penalties.
a. The tax imposed by this section shall become delinquent if not paid:

1. Inthe case of a timely filed return, within 30 days after the due date of the return,
or within 30 days after the expiration of an extension period, if one is granted.

2. Inthe case of no return being filed or a return filed late, by the due date of the
return.

b.  Any person or establishment failing to pay the tax imposed by this section when due
shall be subject to a forfeiture not to exceed $5,000 or 25% of the room tax due for the
delinquent calendar quarter previeusyear, whichever is less. Any forfeiture assessed on
delinquent returns and penalties shall be placed in the City’s General Fund.

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 3 of 4





Exhibit A

c.  Any person or establishment subject to this section that fails to file a correct return
when due shall be subject to a forfeiture of $100.00.

(d) Records to be maintained. Every person liable for the tax imposed by this section shall keep or
cause to be kept such records, receipts, invoices and other pertinent papers in such form as the
city treasurer and this section shall require. Such records shall be retained and made available for a
period of five years from the date of a filing period.

(e) Confidentiality maintained.

(1) All tax returns, schedules, exhibits, writings, or audit reports relating to such returns on file
with the city treasurer are deemed to be confidential, except the city treasurer may divulge
their contents to the following and no others:

a. The person who filed the return.

b.  Officers, agents or employees of the Federal Internal Revenue Service or the State
Department of Revenue.

c.  Officers, employees or agents of the city auditors.

d.  Such other public officials of the City of Stoughton when deemed necessary to discharge
the duties of their office imposed by law or by order of a court.

(2) No person having an administrative duty under this section shall make known in any manner
the business affairs, operations or information obtained by an investigation of records of any
person on whom a tax is imposed by this section or the amount or source of income, profits,
losses, expenditures or any particulars thereof, set forth or disclosed in any return, or to
permit any return or copy thereof to be seen or examined by any person, except as provided
above. Any person who violates this subsection shall be subject to a forfeiture of not less than
$100.00 nor more than $500.00. Any forfeiture pursuant to this section shall be placed in the
City’s General Fund.

(f)  Other penalties. Any person or establishment subject to this section that fails or refuses to permit
the inspection of records by the city treasurer after such inspection has been duly required by such
treasurer, or that violates any other provision of this section not containing a specific penalty, shall
be subject to a forfeiture pursuant to section 1-3. Each day, or portion thereof, that such violation
continues is hereby deemed to constitute a separate offense. Any forfeitures pursuant to this
section shall be placed in the City’s General Fund.

(Ord. No. 0-50-03, § 1, 11-25-2003)

Amended — Ord. No. O-xx-2023, 01-24-2023

Created: 2022-10-17 10:58:28 [EST]
(Supp. No. 65)

Page 4 of 4






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

City of Stoughton mileage reimbursement rates indexed to IRS rates

Committee Finance Committee recommended approval  on 01/10/2023
Action:

Fiscal Impact: 2023 mileage rate increased by $0.145 per mile

File Number: R-xxx-2023 Date 01/24/23

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin set the rate for personal mileage reimbursement at
$0.51 per mile plus all applicable sales taxes effective July 1, 2012; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton has been reimbursing employees for mileage at $0.51
per mile since July 1, 2012; and,

WHEREAS, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) adjusts standard mileage rates at the
beginning of each calendar year as well as mid-year when conditions warrant; and,

WHEREAS, the IRS has set the standard mileage rate effective January 1, 2023 at $0.655
per mile; and,

WHEREAS, the Director of Finance/Comptroller recommends setting the City of
Stoughton mileage rate to be the same as the IRS standard mileage rate going forward;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Stoughton will reimburse
employees for mileage reimbursement at $0.655 per mile effective January 25, 2023 with the
adoption of this resolution; and,

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Stoughton’s mileage reimbursement rate
shall be automatically indexed with the IRS standard mileage rate.

Council Action: |:|Ad0pted |:| Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: |:|Accept I:I Veto

Mayor Tim Swadley Date

Council Action: |:| Override Vote






12/30/22, 8:07 AM IRS issues standard mileage rates for 2023; business use increases 3 cents per mile | Internal Revenue Service

W IRS

IRS issues standard mileage rates for
2023; business use increases 3 cents per
mile

IR-2022-234, December 29, 2022

WASHINGTON — The Internal Revenue Service today issued the 2023 optional standard mileage rates used to
calculate the deductible costs of operating an automobile for business, charitable, medical or moving purposes.

Beginning on January 1, 2023, the standard mileage rates for the use of a car (also vans, pickups or panel trucks)
will be:

* 65.5 cents per mile driven for business use, up 3 cents from the midyear increase setting the rate for the
second half of 2022.

e 22 cents per mile driven for medical or moving purposes for qualified active-duty members of the Armed
Forces, consistent with the increased midyear rate set for the second half of 2022.

e 14 cents per mile driven in service of charitable organizations; the rate is set by statute and remains
unchanged from 2022.

These rates apply to electric and hybrid-electric automobiles, as well as gasoline and diesel-powered vehicles.

The standard mileage rate for business use is based on an annual study of the fixed and variable costs of
operating an automobile. The rate for medical and moving purposes is based on the variable costs.

It is important to note that under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, taxpayers cannot claim a miscellaneous itemized
deduction for unreimbursed employee travel expenses. Taxpayers also cannot claim a deduction for moving
expenses, unless they are members of the Armed Forces on active duty moving under orders to a permanent
change of station. For more details see Moving Expenses for Members of the Armed Forces.

Taxpayers always have the option of calculating the actual costs of using their vehicle rather than using the
standard mileage rates.

Taxpayers can use the standard mileage rate but generally must opt to use it in the first year the car is available
for business use. Then, in later years, they can choose either the standard mileage rate or actual expenses.
Leased vehicles must use the standard mileage rate method for the entire lease period (including renewals) if the
standard mileage rate is chosen.

https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/irs-issues-standard-mileage-rates-for-2023-business-use-increases-3-cents-per-mile 1/2





12/30/22, 8:07 AM IRS issues standard mileage rates for 2023; business use increases 3 cents per mile | Internal Revenue Service

Notice 2023-03 contains the optional 2023 standard mileage rates, as well as the maximum automobile cost
used to calculate the allowance under a fixed and variable rate (FAVR) plan. In addition, the notice provides the
maximum fair market value of employer-provided automobiles first made available to employees for personal
use in calendar year 2023 for which employers may use the fleet-average valuation rule in or the vehicle cents-

per-mile valuation rule.

Page Last Reviewed or Updated: 29-Dec-2022

https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/irs-issues-standard-mileage-rates-for-2023-business-use-increases-3-cents-per-mile 2/2





12/30/22, 8:09 AM Standard Mileage Rates | Internal Revenue Service

¥ IRS

Standard Mileage Rates

The following table summarizes the optional standard mileage rates for
employees, self-employed individuals, or other taxpayers to use in computing the Tax Professionals
deductible costs of operating an automobile for business, charitable, medical, or Topics
moving expense purposes.

¢ Serve Your Clients

Rates in cents per mile e Tax Pro News and
Resources
Medical e Circular 230 Tax
Period Business Charity Moving Source Professionals
e Tax Code,
Official Guidance
2021 56 14 16 IR-2020-279 )
e e-Services
2020 57.5 14 17 IR-2019-215 * TopicNo. 161
Returning an
2019 58 14 20 IR-2018-251 Erroneous Refund -
Paper Check or Direct
2018 54.5 14 18 IR-2017-204 Deposit
e Appeals
. TCJA e IR-2018- Tppp cioral
[ )
127 ax rFroressionals
2017 53.5 14 17 IR-2016-169
2016 54 14 19 IR-2015-137
2015 57.5 14 23 IR-2014-114
2014 56 14 23.5 IR-2013-95
2013 56.5 14 24 IR-2012-95
2012 55.5 14 23 IRB-2012-02

https://www.irs.gov/tax-professionals/standard-mileage-rates 1/2





12/30/22, 8:09 AM

Period

7/1/2011-
12/31/2011

1/1/2011-
6/30/2011

Standard Mileage Rates | Internal Revenue Service

Rates in cents per mile

Medical
Business Charity Moving Source
55.5 14 23,5 IR-2011-69
51 14 19 IR-2010-119

Page Last Reviewed or Updated: 09-Nov-2022

https://www.irs.gov/tax-professionals/standard-mileage-rates

2/2





https://doa.wi.gov/DFTS/Personal%20Mileage%20Reimbursement%20Rates.pdf

Effective July 1, 2012, the personal mileage reimbursement rate is $.51/mile, plus all
applicable sales taxes. Enter your personal mileage in the box next to your county of residence to
calculate the amount of reimbursement due the State.

STATE TOTAL MILE TOTAL
COUNTY PERSONAL —ppy COUNTY STADIUM )y REIMBURSE MILEAGE AMOUNT
NAME MILES RATE TAX RATE TAX RATE RATE RATE RATE DUE
Adams 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Ashland 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Barron 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Bayfield 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Brown 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Buffalo 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Burnett 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Calumet 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
Chippewa 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Clark 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
Columbia 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Crawford 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Dane 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Dodge 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Door 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Douglas 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Dunn 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Eau Claire 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Florence 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Fond du Lac 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
Forest 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Grant 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Green 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Green Lake 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
lowa 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Iron 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Jackson 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Jefferson 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Juneau 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Kenosha 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Kewaunee 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
La Crosse 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Lafayette 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Langlade 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Lincoln 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Manitowoc 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
Marathon 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Marinette 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Marquette 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Menominee 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
Milwaukee 5% 0.50% 0.10% 5.60% $0.51 $0.539 $0.00
Monroe 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Oconto 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Oneida 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00
Outagamie 5% 5.00% $0.51 $0.536 $0.00
Ozaukee 5% 0.50% 0.10% 5.60% $0.51 $0.539 $0.00
Pepin 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00

Pierce 5% 0.50% 5.50% $0.51 $0.538 $0.00





Polk
Portage
Price
Racine
Richland
Rock

Rusk

St. Croix
Sauk
Sawyer
Shawano
Sheboygan
Taylor
Trempealeau
Vernon
Vilas
Walworth
Washburn
Washington
Waukesha
Waupaca
Waushara
Winnebago
Wood

5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%

0.50%
0.50%
0.50%

0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%

0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%
0.50%

0.50%
0.50%

0.50%

0.10%

0.10%
0.10%

5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.10%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.00%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.60%
5.10%
5.50%
5.50%
5.00%
5.50%

$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51
$0.51

$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.536
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.536
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.538
$0.539
$0.536
$0.538
$0.538
$0.536
$0.538

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00





		IRS issues standard mileage rates for 2...pdf

		Standard Mileage Rates _ Internal Revenue Service.pdf

		Personal Mileage Reimbursement Rates.pdf








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Amend depositories for funds of the City of Stoughton

Committee Finance Committee recommended approval 7-0 on 12/13/2022
Action: TIME SENSITIVE ITEM
Fiscal Impact: Zero

File Number: R-218-2022 Date 12/13/22

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:
RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Common Council for the City of Stoughton designated various
depositories for funds of the City of Stoughton with R-85-2022 dated April 19, 2022; and,

WHEREAS, Stoughton Utilities has requested the addition of First Business Bank, which
is headquartered in Madison, WI, to the list of available depositories; and,

WHEREAS, Fidelity Investments used by the Fireman’s Pension Board was not
previously indicated on the list of available depositories;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the following financial institutions shall
be designated as depositories of the City of Stoughton:
US Bank, NA,

Wells Fargo Bank, NA,

One Community Bank,

Associated Bank, NA,

Old National Bank,

First Business Bank,

State of Wisconsin — Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP),
PMA Network — Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative, and
I. Fidelity Investments

Council Action: ‘]/Adopted l:l Failed Vote ! Q- 0

mQFEmUOE >

Maygral Action: f Acgept Veto
e o l
e DA ey iw"\wi“\i‘ix;} ’ B"' | 3 3’3

Mayor Tim Swadley i Date

Council Action: |:] Override Vote











Approved by the Wisconsin Real Estate Examining Board Page 1 of 9, WB-15
03-1-12 (Optional Use Date) 07-1-12 (Mandatory Use Date)

WB-15 COMMERCIAL OFFER TO PURCHASE
1 uceuse;mmm THIS OFFER ON dated as of December 27, 2022 [DATE] IS (AGENT OF BUYER)

3 |GENERAL PROVISIONSl The Buyer Crown Court Propertles Ltd. or its assigns offers to purchase the buildings and other

4 improvements (but specifically excluding the * offers to purchase the Property known as [Street Address] 924 Jackson Street

5 _(92-unit affordable housing multi-family apartment complex) in the City of Stoughton

6 of , County of _Dane, Wisconsin ~Wisconsia
7 (Insert additional description, if any, at lines 109-115 or 277-286 or attach as an addendum per line 479),on the following terms:

8 m PURCHASE PRICE: Five Million One Hundred Twenty Thousand and 00/100

9 Dollars ($.5,120,000.00 ).
10 m EARNEST MONEY of $ $10,000.00 accompanies—this—Offer-and—earnest-money—of $ will be
11 mailed, or commercially or personally delivered within ten (10) days of acceptance to—tisting—broker—or

12 to the title insurance company identified in Section 7.2 of the Rider

13 m THE BALANCE OF PURCHASE PRICE will be paid in cash or equivalent at closing unless otherwise provided below.

14 m INCLUDED IN PURCHASE PRICE: Seller is including in the purchase price the Property, all Fixtures on the Property on the date of this Offer
15 not excluded at lines 20-22, and the following additional items: None.

6 * (from line 4 above) real property upon which such buildings and improvements (collectively, the "Property")-
17 are situated) situated on the real property .
18 All personal property included in purchase price will be transferred by bill of sale or free and clear of all liens and encumbrances
19
20 m NOT INCLUDED IN PURCHASE PRICE: None
21
22 .
23 CAUTION: Identify trade fixtures owned by tenant, if applicable, and Fixtures that are on the Property (see lines 303-310) to be excluded
24 by Seller or which are rented and will continue to be owned by the lessor.

25 NOTE: The terms of this Offer, not the listing contract or marketing materials, determine what items are included/excluded.

26 Acceptance occurs when all Buyers and Sellers have signed one copy of the Offer, or separate but identical copies of the Offer.
27 CAUTION: Deadlines in the Offer are commonly calculated from acceptance. Consider whether short term deadlines running from
28 acceptance provide adequate time for both binding acceptance and performance.

29 This Offer is binding upon both Parties only if a copy of the accepted Offer is delivered to Buyer on or before
30 _11:59 p.m. on Friday, January 6, 2023 . Seller may keep the Property on the market and accept
31 secondary offers after binding acceptance of this Offer.

32 CAUTION: This Offer may be withdrawn prior to delivery of the accepted Offer.

33 [OPTIONAL PROVISIONS] TERMS OF THIS OFFER THAT ARE PRECEDED BY AN OPEN BOX ([ ]) ARE PART OF THIS OFFER ONLY IF
34 THE BOX IS MARKED SUCH AS WITH AN “X.” THEY ARE NOT PART OF THIS OFFER IF MARKED “N/A” OR ARE LEFT BLANK.

35 Unless otherwise stated in this Offer, delivery of documents and written notices to a
36 Party shall be effective only when accomplished by one of the methods specified at lines 37-54.

37 (1) Personal Delivery: giving the document or written notice personally to the Party, or the Party's recipient for delivery if named at line 38 or 39.
38 Seller's recipient for delivery (optional): See attached Rider

39 Buyer's recipient for delivery (optional):
40 (2) Fax: fax transmission of the document or written notice to the following telephone number:

41 Seller: ( ) Buyer: ( )

42 (3) Commercial Delivery: depositing the document or written notice fees prepaid or charged to an account with a commercial delivery
43 service, addressed either to the Party, or to the Party's recipient for delivery if named at line 38 or 39, for delivery to the Party's delivery address at
44 line 47 or 48.

45 - U.S. Mail: depositing the document or written notice postage prepaid in the U.S. Mail, addressed either to the Party, or to the Party's
46 recipient for delivery if named at line 38 or 39, for delivery to the Party's delivery address at line 47 or 48.

47 Delivery address for Seller: See attached Rider

48 Delivery address for Buyer:
49 (5) E-Mail: electronically transmitting the document or written notice to the Party’s e-mail address, if given below at line 53 or 54. If this is a

50 consumer transaction where the property being purchased or the sale proceeds are used primarily for personal, family or household purposes,
51 each consumer providing an e-mail address below has first consented electronically to the use of electronic documents, e-mail delivery and
52 electronic signatures in the transaction, as required by federal law.

53 E-Mail address for Seller (optional): See attached Rider
54 E-Mail address for Buyer (optional):
55 Personal delivery to, or Actual Receipt by, any named Buyer or Seller constitutes personal delivery
56 to, or Actual Receipt by, all Buyers or Sellers.






Page 2 of 9, WB-15

57 [PROPERTY CONDITION REPRESENTATIONS] Seller represents to Buyer that as of the date of acceptance Seller has no notice or knowledge
58 of Conditions Affecting the Property or Transacnon (I|nes 181-215) othe te s-disclosurereport-dated

59 and-Rea 3 dition-Reps dated

60 Si
61
62 INSERT CONDITIONS NOT ALREADY INCLUDED IN THE DISCLOSURE OR CONDITION REPORT(S)
63 CAUTION: If the Property includes 1-4 dwelling units, a Real Estate Condition Report containing the disclosures provided in Wis. Stat. §
64 709.03 may be required. Excluded from this requirement are sales of property that has never been inhabited, sales exempt from the real
65 estate transfer fee, and sales by certain court-appointed fiduciaries, (for example, personal representatives who have never occupied
66 the Property). Buyer may have rescission rights per Wis. Stat. § 709.05.

67 This transaction is to be closed no later than See attached Rider

68 at the place selected by Seller, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties in writing.

9 |[CLOSING PRORATIONS] The following items, if applicable, shall be prorated at closing, based upon date of closing values: real estate taxes,
70 rents, prepaid insurance (if assumed), private and municipal charges, property owners association assessments, fuel and _See attached Rider
71
72 CAUTION: Provide basis for utility charges, fuel or other prorations if date of closing value will not be used.

73 Any income, taxes or expenses shall accrue to Seller, and be prorated at closing, through the day prior to closing.

74 Real estate taxes shall be prorated at closing based on [CHECK BOX FOR APPLICABLE PRORATION FORMULA]:

75 [I:[IThe net general real estate taxes for the preceding year, or the current year if available (Net general real estate taxes are defined as
76 general property taxes after state tax credits and lottery credits are deducted) (NOTE: THIS CHOICE APPLIES IF NO BOX IS CHECKED)

77 Current assessment times current mill rate (current means as of the date of closing)

78 Sale price, multiplied by the municipality area-wide percent of fair market value used by the assessor in the prior year, or current year if
79 known, multiplied by current mill rate (current means as of the date of closing)

80

81 CAUTION: Buyer is informed that the actual real estate taxes for the year of closing and subsequent years may be substantially
g2 different than the amount used for proration especially in transactions involving new construction, extensive rehabilitation, remodeling
83 or area-wide re-assessment. Buyer is encouraged to contact the local assessor regarding possible tax changes.

84 Buyer and Seller agree to re-prorate the real estate taxes, through the day prior to closing based upon the taxes on the actual tax bill for
85 the year of closing, with Buyer and Seller each owing his or her pro-rata share. Buyer shall, within 5 days of receipt, forward a copy of the bill
86 to the forwarding address Seller agrees to provide at closing. The Parties shall re-prorate within 30 days of Buyer’s receipt of the actual tax
87 bill. Buyer and Seller agree this is a post-closing obligation and is the responsibility of the Parties to complete, not the responsibility of the real
88 estate brokers in this transaction.

89 Occupancy of the entire Property shall be given to Buyer at time of closing unless otherwise provided in this Offer at lines 109-115
90 Or 277-286 or in an addendum attached per line 479. At time of Buyer's occupancy, Property shall be in broom swept condition and free of all
o1 debris and personal property except for personal property belonging to current tenants, or that sold to Buyer or left with Buyer's consent.
92 Occupancy shall be given subject to tenant's nghts if any

| EASED PROPERT![
94 &

95 are _see attached Rlder
9 . Insert additional terms, if any, at lines 109-115 or 277-286 or attach as an addendum per line 479.

o7 | |_| |ESTOPPEL LETTERS: Seller shall deliver to Buyer no later than days before closing, estoppel letters dated within
98 days before closing, from each non-residential tenant, confirming the lease term, rent installment amounts, amount of security
99 deposit, and disclosing any defaults clalms or Iltlgatlon with regard to the lease or tenancy

100 RENTAL WEATHERIZATION

103 etesmg—
104 [TIME_IS OF THE ESSENCE] “Time is of the Essence” as to: (1) earnest money payment(s); (2) binding acceptance; (3) occupancy; (4) date of

105 closing; (5) contingency Deadlines [STRIKE AS APPLICABLE| and all other dates and Deadlines in this Offer except: None

106 . If “Time
107 is of the Essence” applies to a date or Deadline, failure to perform by the exact date or Deadline is a breach of contract. If "Time is of the Essence"
108 does not apply to a date or Deadline, then performance within a reasonable time of the date or Deadline is allowed before a breach occurs.

100 |JADDITIONAL PROVISIONS/CONTINGENCIES] See attached Rider.

110
111
112
113
114
115






Property Address: 924 Jackson Street, Stoughton, WI Page 3 of 9, WB-15

116 PROPOSED USE CONTINGENCIES: Buyer is purchasing the Property for the purpose of:
117

118 [insert proposed use and type and size of building, if applicable; e.g.
119 restaurant/tavern with capacity of 350 and 3 second floor dwelling units]. The optional provisions checked on lines 123-139 shall be deemed
120 satisfied unless Buyer delivers to Seller by the deadline(s) set forth on lines 123-139 written notice specifying those items which cannot be
121 satisfied and written evidence substantiating why each specific item included in Buyer’s notice cannot be satisfied. Upon delivery of Buyer’s notice,
122 this Offer shall be null and void. Seller agrees to cooperate with Buyer as necessary to satisfy the contingencies checked at lines 123-139.

123 [] EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS: This Offer is contingent upon Buyer obtaining, within days of acceptance, at
124 (Buyer's) (Seller's) |STRIKE ONE| (“Buyer's” if neither is stricken) expense, copies of all public and private easements, covenants and
125  restrictions affecting the Property and a written determination by a qualified independent third party that none of these prohibit or significantly
126 delay or increase the costs of the proposed use or development identified at lines 116 to 118.

127 ] APPROVALS: This Offer is contingent upon Buyer obtaining, at (Buyer's) (Seller’s) (‘Buyer’s” if neither is stricken) expense,
128 all applicable governmental permits, approvals and licenses, as necessary and appropriate, or the final discretionary action by the granting
129 authority prior to the issuance of such permits, approvals and licenses, for the following items related to Buyer's proposed use:
130

131 or delivering written notice to Seller if the item(s) cannot be obtained or can only be obtained subject to conditions which significantly increase
132 the cost of Buyer's proposed use, all within days of acceptance of this Offer.

133 [] ACCESS TO PROPERTY: This Offer is contingent upon Buyer obtaining, within days of acceptance, at (Buyer's) (Seller’s)
134 |STRIKE ONE (“Buyer’s” if neither is stricken) expense, written verification that there is legal vehicular access to the Property from public roads.
135 [] LAND USE APPROVAL: This Offer is contingent upon Buyer obtaining, at (Buyer's) (Seller’s) (“Buyer’s” if neither is stricken)
136 expense, a [] rezoning; [] conditional use permit; [] license; [] variance; [] building permit; [] occupancy permit; [] other

137 CHECK ALL THAT APPLY) for the Property for its proposed use described
138 at lines 116-118 or delivering written notice to Seller if the item(s) cannot be obtained or can only be obtained subject to conditions which
139 significantly increase the cost of Buyer's proposed use, all within days of acceptance.

140 [[_]| MAP OF THE PROPERTY: This Offer is contingent upon {Buyer-obtaining)-(Seller-providing)- STRIKE ONE] (“Seller providing” if neither is
141 stricken) a survey (ALTA/ACSM Land Title Survey if survey type is not
142 specified) dated subsequent to the date of acceptance of this Offer and prepared by a registered land surveyor, within days of
143 acceptance, at (Buyer's) (Seller's) |[STRIKE ONE| (“Seller's” if neither is stricken) expense. The map shall show minimum of acres,
144 maximum of acres, the legal description of the Property, the Property's boundaries and dimensions, visible encroachments upon
145 the Property, the location of improvements, if any, and:
146 . ISTRIKE AND COMPLETE AS APPLICABLE| Additional map features
147 which may be added include, but are not limited to: staking of all corners of the Property; identifying dedicated and apparent streets; lot
148 dimensions; total acreage or square footage; utility installations; easements or rights-of-way. Such survey shall be in satisfactory form and
149 accompanied by any required surveyor's certificate sufficient to enable Buyer to obtain removal of the standard survey exception on the title policy.
150 CAUTION: Consider the cost and the need for map features before selecting them. Also consider the time required to obtain the map
151 when setting the deadline.

152 This contingency shall be deemed satisfied unless Buyer, within five (5) days of the earlier of: (1) Buyer's receipt of the map; or (2) the deadline for
153 delivery of said map, delivers to Seller a copy of the map and a written notice which identifies: (1) a significant encroachment; (2) information
154 materially inconsistent with prior representations; (3) failure to meet requirements stated within this contingency; or (4) the existence of conditions
155 that would prohibit the Buyer's intended use of the Property described at lines 116-118. Upon delivery of Buyer's notice, this Offer shall be null and
156 VO0id.

157 DOCUMENT REVIEW CONTINGENCY: This Offer is contingent upon Seller delivering the following documents to Buyer within
158 days of acceptance: |CHECK THOSE THAT APPLY; STRIKE AS APPROPRIATE|

159 [_] Documents evidencing that the sale of the Property has been properly authorized, if Seller is a business entity.

160 [_] A complete inventory of all furniture, fixtures, equipment and other personal property included in this transaction which is consistent with
161  representations made prior to and in this Offer.

162 [_] Uniform Commercial Code lien search as to the personal property included in the purchase price, showing the Property to be free and clear
163 of all liens, other than liens to be released prior to or at closing.

164 [_]Rentroll,

165 [] Other
166 .
167 Additional items which may be added include, but are not limited to: building, construction or component warranties, previous environmental site
168  assessments, surveys, title commitments and policies, maintenance agreements, other contracts relating to the Property, existing permits and
169 licenses, recent financial operating statements, current and future rental agreements, notices of termination and non-renewal, and assessment
170 notices.

171 All documents Seller delivers to Buyer shall be true, accurate, current and complete. Buyer shall keep all such documents confidential and
172 disclose them to third parties only to the extent necessary to implement other provisions of this Offer. Buyer shall return all documents (originals
173 and any reproductions) to Seller if this Offer is terminated.

174 m CONTINGENCY SATISFACTION: This contingency shall be deemed satisfied unless Buyer, within days of the earlier of
175 receipt of the final document to be delivered or the deadline for delivery of the documents, delivers to Seller a written notice indicating that this






Page 4 of 9, WB-15

176 contingency has not been satisfied. Such notice shall identify which document(s) have not been timely delivered or do not meet the standard set
177 forth for the document(s). Upon delivery of such natice, this Offer shall be null and void.

178

179 m ACTUAL RECEIPT: “Actual Receipt’ means that a Party, not the Party’s recipient for delivery, if any, has the document or written notice
180 physically in the Party’s possession, regardless of the method of delivery.

181 m CONDITIONS AFFECTING THE PROPERTY OR TRANSACTION: “Conditions Affecting the Property or Transaction” are defined to include:
182 a.  Defects in structural components, e.g. roof, foundation, basement or other walls.

183 h.  Defects in mechanical systems, e.g. HVAC, electrical, plumbing, septic, well, fire safety, security or lighting.

184 ¢.  Underground or aboveground storage tanks presently or previously on the Property for storage of flammable or combustible liquids, including
185 but not limited to gasoline and heating oil.

186 d.  Defect or contamination caused by unsafe concentrations of, or unsafe conditions relating to, lead paint, asbestos, radon, radium in water
187 supplies, mold, pesticides or other potentially hazardous or toxic substances on the premises.

188 €. Production of or spillage of methamphetamine (meth) or other hazardous or toxic substances on the Property.

189 f.  Zoning or building code violations, any land division involving the Property for which required state or local permits had not been obtained,
190 nonconforming structures or uses, conservation easements, rights-of-way.

191 .  Special purpose district, such as a drainage district, lake district, sanitary district or sewer district, that has the authority to impose
192 assessments against the real property located within the district.

193 h.  Proposed, planned or commenced public improvements which may result in special assessments or otherwise materially affect the Property
194 or the present use of the Property.

195 . Federal, state or local regulations requiring repairs, alterations or corrections of an existing condition.

196 . Flooding, standing water, drainage problems or other water problems on or affecting the Property.

197 k. Material damage from fire, wind, floods, earthquake, expansive soils, erosion or landslides.

198 I Near airports, freeways, railroads or landfills, or significant odor, noise, water intrusion or other irritants emanating from neighboring property.
199 m. Portion of the Property in a floodplain, wetland or shoreland zoning area under local, state or federal regulations.

200 n.  Property is subject to a mitigation plan required under administrative rules of the Department of Natural Resources related to county
201 shoreland zoning ordinances, which obligates the owner of the Property to establish or maintain certain measures related to shoreland
202 conditions and which is enforceable by the county.

203 0. Encroachments; easements, other than recorded utility easements; access restrictions; covenants, conditions and restrictions; shared
204 fences, walls, wells, driveways, signage or other shared usages; or leased parking.

205 p.  High voltage electric (100 KV or greater) or steel natural gas transmission lines located on but not directly serving the Property.

206 . Structure on the Property designated as a historic building, any part of the Property located in a historic district, or burial sites or
207 archeological artifacts on the Property.

208 . All or part of the land has been assessed as agricultural land, the owner has been assessed a use-value conversion charge or the payment
209 of a use-value conversion charge has been deferred.

210 S.  All or part of the Property is subject to, enrolled in or in violation of a certified farmland preservation zoning district or a farmland preservation
211 agreement, or a Forest Crop, Managed Forest (see disclosure requirements in Wis. Stat. § 710.12), Conservation Reserve or comparable
212 program.

213 t. A pier is attached to the Property that is not in compliance with state or local pier regulations.

214 U.  Government investigation or private assessment/audit (of environmental matters) conducted.

215 V. Other Defects affecting the Property.

216 m DEADLINES: “Deadlines” expressed as a number of “days” from an event, such as acceptance, are calculated by excluding the day the event
217 occurred and by counting subsequent calendar days. The deadline expires at midnight on the last day. Deadlines expressed as a specific number
218 of “business days” exclude Saturdays, Sundays, any legal public holiday under Wisconsin or Federal law, and other day designated by the
219 President such that the postal service does not receive registered mail or make regular deliveries on that day. Deadlines expressed as a specific
220 number of “hours” from the occurrence of an event, such as receipt of a notice, are calculated from the exact time of the event, and by counting 24
221 hours per calendar day. Deadlines expressed as a specific day of the calendar year or as the day of a specific event, such as closing, expire at
222 midnight of that day.

223 m DEFECT: “Defect” means a condition that would have a significant adverse effect on the value of the Property; that would significantly impair
224 the health or safety of future occupants of the Property; or that if not repaired, removed or replaced would significantly shorten or adversely affect
225 the expected normal life of the premises.

226 (Definitions Continued on page 6)






Property Address: 924 Jackson Street, StOUthons Wi Page 5 of 9, WB-15

227 IF LINE 228 IS NOT MARKED OR IS MARKED N/A LINES 264-269 APPLY.

228 [[_]] FINANCING CONTINGENCY: This Offer is contingent upon Buyer being able to obtain a written

229 [INSERT LOAN PROGRAM OR SOURCE] first mortgage loan commitment as described below, within days of acceptance of this
230 Offer. The financing selected shall be in an amount of not less than $ for a term of not less than years,
231 amortized over not less than years. Initial monthly payments of principal and interest shall not exceed $ .___. Monthly

232 payments may also include 1/12th of the estimated net annual real estate taxes, hazard insurance premiums, and private mortgage insurance
233 premiums. The mortgage may not include a prepayment premium. Buyer agrees to pay discount points and/or loan origination fee in an amount
234 not to exceed % of the loan. If the purchase price under this Offer is modified, the financed amount, unless otherwise provided, shall
235 be adjusted to the same percentage of the purchase price as in this contingency and the monthly payments shall be adjusted as necessary to
236 maintain the term and amortization stated above.

237 CHECK AND COMPLETE APPLICABLE FINANCING PROVISION AT LINE 238 or 239.

238 [CJFIXED RATE FINANCING: The annual rate of interest shall not exceed %.

239 [ ] ADJUSTABLE RATE FINANCING: The initial annual interest rate shall not exceed %. The initial interest rate shall be
240 fixed for months, at which time the interest rate may be increased not more than % per year. The maximum
241 interest rate during the mortgage term shall not exceed %. Monthly payments of principal and interest may be adjusted to
242 reflect interest changes.

243 If Buyer is using multiple loan sources or obtaining a construction loan or land contract financing, describe at lines 109-115 or 277-286
244 or in an addendum attached per line 479.

245 NOTE: If purchase is conditioned on buyer obtaining financing for operations or development consider adding a contingency for that
246 purpose.

247 m BUYER'S LOAN COMMITMENT: Buyer agrees to pay all customary loan and closing costs, to promptly apply for a mortgage loan, and to
248 provide evidence of application promptly upon request of Seller. If Buyer qualifies for the loan described in this Offer or another loan acceptable to
249 Buyer, Buyer agrees to deliver to Seller a copy of the written loan commitment no later than the deadline at line 229. Buyer and Seller agree that
250 delivery of a copy of any written loan commitment to Seller (even if subject to conditions) shall satisfy Buyer’s financing contingency if,
251 after review of the loan commitment, Buyer has directed, in writing, delivery of the loan commitment. Buyer’'s written direction shall
252 accompany the loan commitment. Delivery shall not satisfy this contingency if accompanied by a notice of unacceptability.

253 CAUTION: The delivered commitment may contain conditions Buyer must yet satisfy to obligate the lender to provide the loan. BUYER,
254 BUYER’S LENDER AND AGENTS OF BUYER OR SELLER SHALL NOT DELIVER A LOAN COMMITMENT TO SELLER OR SELLER’S
255 AGENT WITHOUT BUYER'S PRIOR WRITTEN APPROVAL OR UNLESS ACCOMPANIED BY A NOTICE OF UNACCEPTABILITY.

256 m SELLER TERMINATION RIGHTS: If Buyer does not make timely delivery of said commitment; Seller may terminate this Offer if Seller delivers
257 a written notice of termination to Buyer prior to Seller's Actual Receipt of a copy of Buyer's written loan commitment.

258 m FINANCING UNAVAILABILITY: If financing is not available on the terms stated in this Offer (and Buyer has not already delivered an
259 acceptable loan commitment for other financing to Seller), Buyer shall promptly deliver written notice to Seller of same including copies of
260 lender(s)' rejection letter(s) or other evidence of unavailability. Unless a specific loan source is named in this Offer, Seller shall then have 10 days
261 to deliver to Buyer written notice of Seller's decision to finance this transaction on the same terms set forth in this Offer, and this Offer shall remain
262 in full force and effect, with the time for closing extended accordingly. If Seller's notice is not timely given, this Offer shall be null and void. Buyer
263 authorizes Seller to obtain any credit information reasonably appropriate to determine Buyer's credit worthiness for Seller financing.

264 m |F THIS OFFER IS NOT CONTINGENT ON FINANCING: Within 7 days of acceptance, a financial institution or third party in control of Buyer's
265 funds shall provide Seller with reasonable written verification that Buyer has, at the time of verification, sufficient funds to close. If such written
266 Verification is not provided, Seller has the right to terminate this Offer by delivering written notice to Buyer. Buyer may or may not obtain mortgage
267 financing but does not need the protection of a financing contingency. Seller agrees to allow Buyer's appraiser access to the Property for
268 purposes of an appraisal. Buyer understands and agrees that this Offer is not subject to the appraisal meeting any particular value, unless this
269 Offer is subject to an appraisal contingency, nor does the right of access for an appraisal constitute a financing contingency.

270 APPRAISAL CONTINGENCY: This Offer is contingent upon the Buyer or Buyer’s lender having the Property appraised at Buyer’s expense
271 by a Wisconsin licensed or certified independent appraiser who issues an appraisal report dated subsequent to the date of this Offer indicating an
272 appraised value for the Property equal to or greater than the agreed upon purchase price. This contingency shall be deemed satisfied unless
273 Buyer, within days of acceptance, delivers to Seller a copy of the appraisal report which indicates that the appraised value is not
274 equal to or greater than the agreed upon purchase price, accompanied by a written notice of termination.

275 CAUTION: An appraisal ordered by Buyer’s lender may not be received until shortly before closing. Consider whether deadlines provide
276 adequate time for performance.

277 |ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS/CONTINGENCIES| _See attached Rider.

278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286






Page 6 of 9, WB-15

287 [DEFINITIONS CONTINUED FROM PAGE 4|

288 m ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT: An “Environmental Site Assessment” (also known as a “Phase | Site Assessment”)(see lines 379-395)
289 may include, but is not limited to: (1) an inspection of the Property; (2) a review of the ownership and use history of the Property, including a
290 search of title records showing private ownership of the Property for a period of 80 years prior to the visual inspection; (3) a review of historic and
291 recent aerial photographs of the Property, if available; (4) a review of environmental licenses, permits or orders issued with respect to the Property
292 (5) an evaluation of results of any environmental sampling and analysis that has been conducted on the Property; and (6) a review to determine if
203 the Property is listed in any of the written compilations of sites or facilities considered to pose a threat to human health or the environment
204 including the National Priorities List, the Department of Nature Resources’ (DNR) Registry of Waste Disposal Sites, the DNR’s Contaminated
295 Lands Environmental Action Network, and the DNR’s Remediation and Redevelopment (RR) Sites Map including the Geographical Information
296 System (GIS) Registry and related resources. Any Environmental Site Assessment performed under this Offer shall comply with generally
297 recognized industry standards (e.g. current American Society of Testing and Materials “Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments”),
208 and state and federal guidelines, as applicable.

299 CAUTION: Unless otherwise agreed an Environmental Site Assessment does not include subsurface testing of the soil or groundwater
300 or other testing of the Property for environmental pollution. If further investigation is required, insert provisions for a Phase Il Site
301 Assessment (collection and analysis of samples), Phase Il Environmental Site Assessment (evaluation of remediation alternatives) or
302 other site evaluation at lines 109-115 or 277-286 or attach as an addendum per line 479.

303 m FIXTURE: A “Fixture” is an item of property which is physically attached to or so closely associated with land or improvements so as to be
304 treated as part of the real estate, including, without limitation, physically attached items not easily removable without damage to the premises,
305 items specifically adapted to the premises and items customarily treated as fixtures, including, but not limited to, all: garden bulbs; plants; shrubs
306 and trees; screen and storm doors and windows; electric lighting fixtures; window shades; curtain and traverse rods; blinds and shutters; central
307 heating and cooling units and attached equipment; water heaters and treatment systems; sump pumps; attached or fitted floor coverings; awnings;
308 attached antennas; garage door openers and remote controls; installed security systems; central vacuum systems and accessories; in-ground
309 sprinkler systems and component parts; built-in appliances; ceiling fans; fences; storage buildings on permanent foundations and docks/piers on
310 permanent foundations. A Fixture does not include trade fixtures owned by tenants of the Property.

311 CAUTION: Exclude Fixtures not owned by Seller such as rented fixtures. See lines 20-22.

312 m PROPERTY: Unless otherwise stated, “Property” means the real estate described at lines 4-7.

313 Buyer and Seller authorize the agents of Buyer and Seller to: (i) distribute copies of the Offer to Buyer's
314 lender, appraisers, title insurance companies and any other settlement service providers for the transaction as defined by the Real Estate
315 Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA); (ii) report sales and financing concession data to multiple listing service sold databases; and (jii) provide
316 active listing, pending sale, closed sale and financing concession information and data, and related information regarding seller contributions,
317 incentives or assistance, and third party gifts, to appraisers researching comparable sales, market conditions and listings, upon inquiry.

318

319 m H :






Property Address: 924 Jackson Street, Stothtons WI Page 7 of 9, WB-15

340 [TITLE EVIDENCE bill of sale

341 -CONVEYANCE OF TITLE Upon payment of the purchase prlce SeIIer shaII convey the Property by d
0 ep d 0 0 : orein) free and clear of all liens and

345 } ahd-Rea
346 See attached Rider,

347

348 which constitutes merchantable title for purposes of this transaction. Seller shall complete and execute the documents
349 necessary to record the conveyance at Seller’s cost and pay the Wisconsin Real Estate Transfer Fee.

350 WARNING: Municipal and zoning ordinances, recorded building and use restrictions, covenants and easements may prohibit certain
351 improvements or uses and therefore should be reviewed, particularly if Buyer contemplates making improvements to Property or a use
352 other than the current use.

372 m SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS/OTHER EXPENSES Speual assessments if any, IeV|ed or for work actually commenced prior to the date of this

373 Offer shall be paid by Seller no later than closing. All other special assessments shall be paid by Buyer.

374 CAUTION: Consider a special agreement if area assessments, property owners association assessments, special charges for current
375 services under Wis. Stat. § 66.0627 or other expenses are contemplated. “Other expenses” are one-time charges or ongoing use fees
376 for public improvements (other than those resulting in special assessments) relating to curb, gutter, street, sidewalk, municipal water,
377 sanitary and storm water and storm sewer (including all sewer mains and hook-up/connection and interceptor charges), parks, street
378 lighting and street trees, and impact fees for other public facilities, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.0617(1)(f).

379 [[_J] ENVIRONMENTAL EVALUATION CONTINGENCY: This Offer is contingent upon a qualified independent environmental consultant of
380 Buyer's choice conducting an Environmental Site Assessment of the Property (see lines 288-302), at (Buyer's) (Seller's) expense
381 (“Buyer’s” if neither is stricken), which discloses no Defects. For the purpose of this contingency, a Defect (see lines 223-225) is defined to also
382 include a material violation of environmental laws, a material contingent liability affecting the Property arising under any environmental laws, the
383 presence of an underground storage tank(s) or material levels of hazardous substances either on the Property or presenting a significant risk of
384 contaminating the Property due to future migration from other properties. Defects do not include conditions the nature and extent of which Buyer
385 had actual knowledge or written notice before signing the Offer.

386 m CONTINGENCY SATISFACTION: This contingency shall be deemed satisfied unless Buyer, within days of acceptance,
387 delivers to Seller a copy of the Environmental Site Assessment report and a written notice listing the Defect(s) identified in the Environmental Site
388 Assessment report to which Buyer objects (Notice of Defects).

389 CAUTION: A proposed amendment is not a Notice of Defects and will not satisfy this notice requirement.

300 m RIGHT TO CURE: Seller (shall) (shall not) (“shall” if neither is stricken) have a right to cure the Defects. If Seller has the right to
391 cure, Seller may satisfy this contingency by: (1) delivering written notice to Buyer within 10 days of Buyer's delivery of the Notice of Defects stating
392 Seller’s election to cure Defects, (2) curing the Defects in a good and workmanlike manner and (3) delivering to Buyer a written report detailing the
393 work done within 3 days prior to closing. This Offer shall be null and void if Buyer makes timely delivery of the Notice of Defects and written
394 Environmental Site Assessment report and: (1) Seller does not have a right to cure or (2) Seller has a right to cure but: (a) Seller delivers written
395 notice that Seller will not cure or (b) Seller does not timely deliver the written notice of election to cure.





Page 8 of 9, WB-15
396 [DEFAULT] Seller and Buyer each have the legal duty to use good faith and due diligence in completing the terms and conditions of this Offer. A
397 material failure to perform any obligation under this Offer is a default which may subject the defaulting party to liability for damages or other legal

398 remedies.
as its sole remedy, demand and receive the earnest money as liquidated

399 If Buyer defaultsl,. Seller may: damages, which Seller agrees is fair and adequate consideration.
400 Heforsneciic 0o ¢ and-reque arnes partial-pe Urchas
401 a S ahche

402 If Seller defaults, Buyer may:

403 (1) sue for specific performance; or

404 (2) terminate the Offer and request the return of the earnest money, sue for actual damages, or both.
405 additi arti ay-seeka i ailable-in-law '

408 Byragreeing-to-pinging-aro aHoR- e 0s c 8 ete e COLHOand ceetisles co -2 S :
409 NOTE: IF ACCEPTED, THIS OFFER CAN CREATE A LEGALLY ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT. BOTH PARTIES SHOULD READ THIS
410 DOCUMENT CAREFULLY. BROKERS MAY PROVIDE A GENERAL EXPLANATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE OFFER BUT ARE
411 PROHIBITED BY LAW FROM GIVING ADVICE OR OPINIONS CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS UNDER THIS OFFER OR HOW TITLE
412 SHOULD BE TAKEN AT CLOSING. AN ATTORNEY SHOULD BE CONSULTED IF LEGAL ADVICE IS NEEDED.

413 This Offer, including any amendments to it, contains the entire agreement of the Buyer and Seller regarding the
414 transaction. All prior negotiations and discussions have been merged into this Offer. This agreement binds and inures to the benefit of the Parties
415 to this Offer and their successors in interest.

416 [PROPERTY DIMENSIONS AND SURVEYS] Buyer acknowledges that any land, building or room dimensions, or total acreage or building square
417 footage figures, provided to Buyer by Seller or by a broker, may be approximate because of rounding, formulas used or other reasons, unless
418 verified by survey or other means.

419 CAUTION: Buyer should verify total square footage or acreage figures and land, building or room dimensions, if material to Buyer’s
420 decision to purchase.

421 Within 3 days prior to closing, at a reasonable time pre-approved by Seller or Seller's agent, Buyer
422 shall have the right to walk through the Property to determine that there has been no significant change in the condition of the Property, except for
423 ordinary wear and tear and changes approved by Buyer, and that any Defects Seller has agreed to cure have been repaired in the manner agreed
424 10 by the Parties.

425 Seller shall maintain the Property until the earlier of closing or occupancy of
426 Buyer in materially the same condition as of the date of acceptance of this Offer, except for ordinary wear and tear. If, prior to closing, the Property
427 is damaged in an amount of not more than five percent (5%) of the selling price, Seller shall be obligated to repair the Property and restore it to
428 the same condition that it was on the day of this Offer. No later than closing, Seller shall provide Buyer with lien waivers for all lienable repairs and
429 restoration. If the damage shall exceed such sum, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of the damage and this Offer may be canceled at
430 option of Buyer. Should Buyer elect to carry out this Offer despite such damage, Buyer shall be entitled to the insurance proceeds, if any, relating
431 to the damage to the Property, plus a credit towards the purchase price equal to the amount of Seller's deductible on such policy, if any. However,
432 if this sale is financed by a land contract or a mortgage to Seller, any insurance proceeds shall be held in trust for the sole purpose of restoring the
433 Property.

434 You may obtain information about the sex offender registry and persons registered with the
435 registry by contacting the Wisconsin Department of Corrections on the Internet at http://www.widocoffenders.org or by telephone at
436 (608) 240-5830.

437 Buyer may only conduct inspections or tests if specific contingencies are included as a part of this Offer. An
438 “inspection” is defined as an observation of the Property which does not include an appraisal or testing of the Property, other than testing for
439 leaking carbon monoxide, or testing for leaking LP gas or natural gas used as a fuel source, which are hereby authorized. A “test” is defined as
440 the taking of samples of materials such as soils, water, air or building materials from the Property and the laboratory or other analysis of these
441 materials. Seller agrees to allow Buyer's inspectors, testers, appraisers and qualified third parties reasonable access to the Property upon
442 advance notice, if necessary to satisfy the contingencies in this Offer. Buyer and licensees may be present at all inspections and testing. Except
443 as otherwise provided, Seller’s authorization for inspections does not authorize Buyer to conduct testing of the Property.

444 NOTE: Any contingency authorizing testing should specify the areas of the Property to be tested, the purpose of the test, (e.g., to
445 determine if environmental contamination is present), any limitations on Buyer's testing and any other material terms of the
446 contingency.

447 Buyer agrees to promptly restore the Property to its original condition after Buyer’s inspections and testing are completed unless otherwise agreed
448 to with Seller. Buyer agrees to promptly provide copies of all inspection and testing reports to Seller. Seller acknowledges that certain inspections
449 or tests may detect environmental pollution which may be required to be reported to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.






Property Address: 924 JaCKson Street! Stoughton, WI Page 9 of 9, WB-15

450 [[_]]INSPECTION CONTINGENCY: This contingency only authorizes inspections, not testing (see lines 437-449). This Offer is contingent upon
451 a qualified independent inspector(s) conducting an inspection(s) of the Property which discloses no Defects. This Offer is further contingent upon
452 a qualified independent inspector or qualified independent third party performing an inspection of
453 (list any Property feature(s) to be separately inspected, e.g., dumpsite, etc.) which
454 discloses no Defects. Buyer shall order the inspection (s) and be responsible for all costs of inspection(s). Buyer may have follow-up inspections
455 recommended in a written report resulting from an authorized inspection performed provided they occur prior to the deadline specified at line 461.
456 Each inspection shall be performed by a qualified independent inspector or qualified independent third party.

457 CAUTION: Buyer should provide sufficient time for the primary inspection and/or any specialized inspection(s), as well as any follow-up
458 inspection(s).

459 For the purpose of this contingency, Defects (see lines 223-225) do not include conditions the nature and extent of which Buyer had actual
460 knowledge or written notice before signing the Offer.

461 m CONTINGENCY SATISFACTION: This contingency shall be deemed satisfied unless Buyer, within days of acceptance,
462 delivers to Seller a copy of the inspection report(s) and a written notice listing the Defect(s) identified in the inspection report(s) to which Buyer
463 objects (Notice of Defects).

464 CAUTION: A proposed amendment is not a Notice of Defects and will not satisfy this notice requirement.

465 m RIGHT TO CURE: Seller (shall)(shall not) (“shall” if neither is stricken) have a right to cure the Defects. If Seller has the right to
466 cure, Seller may satisfy this contingency by: (1) delivering written notice to Buyer within 10 days of Buyer's delivery of the Notice of Defects stating
467 Seller’s election to cure Defects, (2) curing the Defects in a good and workmanlike manner and (3) delivering to Buyer a written report detailing the
468 work done within 3 days prior to closing. This Offer shall be null and void if Buyer makes timely delivery of the Notice of Defects and written
469 inspection report(s) and: (1) Seller does not have a right to cure or (2) Seller has a right to cure but: (a) Seller delivers written notice that Seller will
470 not cure or (b) Seller does not timely deliver the written notice of election to cure.

471 [[_J] CLOSING OF BUYER'S PROPERTY CONTINGENCY: This Offer is contingent upon the closing of the sale of Buyer's property located at
472 , No later than . If Seller accepts a bona fide secondary offer,
473 Seller may give written notice to Buyer of acceptance. If Buyer does not deliver to Seller a written waiver of the Closing of Buyer's Property
474 Contingency and

475

476 [INSERT OTHER REQUIREMENTS, IF ANY (e.g., PAYMENT OF ADDITIONAL EARNEST MONEY, WAIVER OF ALL CONTINGENCIES, OR
477 PROVIDING EVIDENCE OF SALE OR BRIDGE LOAN, etc.)] within hours of Buyer's Actual Receipt of said notice, this Offer shall be
478 null and void.

479 ADDENDA: The attached Rider isfare made part of this Offer.

480 This Offer was drafted by [Licensee and Firm]

481 on

482 Buyer Entity Name (if any):

483 (X) See attached Rider

484 Buyer's/Authorized Signature A Print Name/Title Here »> Date A
485 (X)
486 Buyer's/Authorized Signature A Print Name/Title Here » Date A

487 [EARNEST MONEY RECEIPT| Broker acknowledges receipt of earnest money as per line 10 of the above Offer.

488 Broker (By)
489 SELLER ACCEPTS THIS OFFER. THE WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS MADE IN THIS OFFER SURVIVE CLOSING
490 AND THE CONVEYANCE OF THE PROPERTY. SELLER AGREES TO CONVEY THE PROPERTY ON THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AS
491 SET FORTH HEREIN AND ACKNOWLEDGES RECEIPT OF A COPY OF THIS OFFER.

492 Seller Entity Name (if any):

493 (X) See attached Rider

494 Seller's/Authorized Signature A Print Name/Title Here » Date A
495 (X)
496 Seller's/Authorized Signature A Print Name/Title Here » Date A

497 This Offer was presented to Seller by [Licensee and Firm]

498 on at a.m./p.m.
499 This Offer is rejected This Offer is countered [See attached counter]
500 Seller Initials A DateA Seller Initials A Date A

#28517484






RIDER

This Rider is hereby attached to and made a part of that certain WB-15 Commercial Offer
to Purchase (“Offer”) dated as of December 27, 2022, made by Crown Court Properties, Ltd. or
its assigns (“Buyer”) for the Property. If any term or provision of this Rider conflicts or is
inconsistent with any term or provision in the pre-printed Offer, this Rider shall control.

1. Acceptance Date. The term “Acceptance Date,” as used in the Offer, shall mean
the date on which the party making the last offer or counter-offer receives an executed copy of the
other party’s acceptance of such offer or counter-offer.

2. Terms. Terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them
in the pre-printed Offer.

3. Personal Property Included in the Purchase Price. All tangible and intangible
personal property owned by Seller as of the date hereof (or replacements therefore) and used in
the operation of the Property is to be conveyed to Buyer at closing and is included in the Purchase
Price, including, but not limited to, all stoves, refrigerators, microwaves, washing machines,
clothes dryers, other appliances, window coverings, tools, heating, cooling, electrical, plumbing
and other mechanical systems and equipment in, on or upon the Property, all of Seller’s Documents
set forth in Section 7.1 of this Rider and all intellectual property, including, but not limited to, the
name “Greenspire Apartments” and the website and domain name used by Seller, if any, to market
and promote the Property.

4. Board Approval. Buyer’s obligation to conclude this transaction is contingent upon
Buyer obtaining approval from its Board of Directors for the transaction contemplated herein
within seven days (7) days following the Acceptance Date (“Board Approval Period”). If Buyer
does not receive such approval from its Board of Directors prior to expiration of the Board
Approval Period, Buyer shall promptly notify Seller within the Board Approval Period, and this
Offer shall be deemed terminated, the Earnest Money shall immediately be returned to Buyer and
Buyer shall have no further obligation or responsibility hereunder.

5. Seller Financing. Seller hereby commits to provide a loan to Buyer for Buyer’s
purchase of the Property on the terms set forth in this Section 5. Seller’s loan to Buyer shall be
evidenced by a promissory note (the “Note”) in the principal amount of approximately Two
Million Nine Hundred Fifty-Three Thousand Five Hundred Seventy-Eight and 00/100 Dollars
($2,953,578.00), which principal amount shall be amortized over a 35-year term and paid by no
later than the date that is 35 years after the date of Closing. The annual interest rate on the Note
shall be the applicable federal rate for the month of Closing for long-term obligations. Payments
shall only be made from the Property’s cash flow.

6. Contingencies. Buyer’s obligation to conclude this transaction is contingent upon
Buyer’s satisfaction or waiver of the matters set forth below, all in form and substance satisfactory
to Buyer, in Buyer’s sole discretion.

6.1 Survey. Buyer obtaining, at Buyer’s sole cost and expense and in form and
substance satisfactory to Buyer, an ALTA/NSPS survey of the Property (“Survey”)
prepared by a registered land surveyor and certified to such parties as Buyer may





reasonably request. The Survey shall be sufficient to permit the removal of all survey
exceptions from the title insurance commitment provided by Seller, and shall reveal no
easements or other set back violations, encroachments or encumbrances that would
adversely affect the current use of the Property and shall contain such additional
information and certifications as are required by Buyer and Buyer’s first mortgage lender.

6.2  Inspection. Buyer obtaining from Seller the Disclosed Defects List as set
forth in Section 7.3 below and an inspection report from an inspector or inspectors of
Buyer’s choice which is satisfactory to Buyer, in Buyer’s sole discretion, and Buyer
determining that no defects or any violations of any applicable laws, rules or ordinances
exist with respect to the structural, mechanical and other physical characteristics of the

Property.

6.3 Environmental Conditions. Buyer obtaining, at Buyer’s sole cost and
expense, a Phase I environmental report, asbestos report and lead paint report from an
environmental consultant or consultants of Buyer’s choice (collectively, the
“Environmental Report”) which is satisfactory, in Buyer’s sole discretion, and Buyer
determining that the results of the Environmental Report, together with information derived
from any other source, establish that, in Buyer’s sole discretion, there are no environmental
liabilities associated with ownership of the Property and that the Property is in compliance
with all environmental laws. If the Environmental Report recommends a Phase II
environmental report with subsurface testing and sampling, Buyer shall deliver a proposed
scope of work consistent with the recommendation of the Environmental Report for
Seller’s approval. Seller shall either approve or disapprove such scope of work within ten
(10) days of receipt. Seller’s failure to timely respond shall be deemed to be Seller’s
approval of the scope of work and Buyer shall be permitted to perform the recommended
Phase Il environmental investigation at Buyer’s sole cost and expense.

6.4  Title Encumbrances; Zoning. Buyer determining that any easements,
restrictive covenants, restrictions, land use regulations, zoning regulations or other
encumbrances affecting the Property will not adversely affect or restrict the current use of
the Property.

6.5  Document Review. Buyer reviewing and approving each of the items
required to be provided by Seller pursuant to Section 7.1 below.

6.6 Financing.

6.6.1 Buyer obtaining an unconditional commitment from a Lender of
Buyer’s choice for a first mortgage loan of not less than Three Million Seven
Hundred Forty-Two Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($3,742,000.00) amortized over
a 35-year period with an 18-month loan term at an annual interest rate not to exceed
6.65% and having level monthly payments not to exceed Twenty-Two Thousand
Nine Hundred Ninety-Five and 00/100 Dollars ($22,995.00).

6.6.2 Buyer receiving Rural Development (“RD”) approval to assume and
re-amortize the existing RD debt of approximately Two Million One Hundred
Sixty-Six Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Two and 00/100 Dollars





($2,166,122.00) over a 50-year amortization period with a 30-year loan term at an
effective annual interest rate not to exceed 1%, with no additional condition or
requirement being added by RD with respect to such assumption.

6.6.3 Buyer applying to WHEDA by January 27, 2023 for a tax credit
reservation of low income housing tax credits for the Property and receiving from
WHEDA by June 1, 2023, a tax credit reservation in the amount of not less than
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) annually.

6.7 Sale of Tax Credits. Buyer obtaining, at Buyer’s sole cost and expense, a
commitment from a recognized tax credit syndicator or direct corporate purchaser (“Tax
Credit Investor”) to purchase the low income housing tax credits referenced in Section
6.6.3 above, for not less than $0.86 per credit upon such conditions as are reasonably
acceptable to Buyer.

6.8 Transfer of Physical Assets. RD and the United States Department of
Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) approving the transfer of the Property to Buyer
in accordance with RD’s and HUD’s respective standard procedures.

6.9  Appraisal. Buyer obtaining, at Buyer’s cost and expense, a MAI appraisal
of the Property confirming the value of the Property in an amount not less than the Purchase
Price set forth in the Offer.

6.10 Rental Increase Approval. Buyer applying for and receiving a rent increase
from HUD of not less than Fifty Dollars ($50.00) per unit at the Property.

Buyer agrees to use its good faith efforts to make such inquiries, retain such consultants,
make such applications and perform such acts as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to
enable Buyer to satisfy the above stated contingencies, provided that Buyer shall not be required
to attempt to satisfy all contingencies simultaneously, but shall be entitled to attempt satisfaction
of the contingencies in a sequential order established by Buyer. In the event any of the conditions
set forth in this Offer are not satisfied or waived by Buyer by the three hundred sixty-fifth (365th)
day following the Acceptance Date (“Contingency Period”) or within the applicable Extension
Period (as defined below), and Buyer does not in its opinion desire to close, Buyer shall promptly
notify Seller within the Contingency Period or the applicable Extension Period, as the case may
be, and this Offer shall be deemed terminated, the Earnest Money shall immediately be returned
to Buyer and Buyer shall have no further obligation or responsibility hereunder. Prior to the
expiration of the Contingency Period, Buyer shall have the right to extend the Contingency Period
for two (2) additional periods of sixty (60) days each (each, an “Extension Period”) by delivering
to Seller written notice on or before the expiration of the initial Contingency Period or the first
Extension Period, as applicable, of Buyer’s election to extend the Contingency Period.

7. Seller’s Obligations. Seller, at Seller’s sole cost and expense, hereby covenants
and agrees to perform the following:

7.1 Seller’s Documents.  Within twenty-one (21) days following the
Acceptance Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the items set forth on Exhibit A, attached
hereto and incorporated herein. In addition, Seller shall make available to Buyer for






inspection, examination and copying, at Seller’s or Seller’s agent’s office, as applicable,
the items set forth on Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated herein.

7.2 Title Insurance. Within ten (10) business days after the Acceptance Date,
Seller shall furnish and deliver to Buyer for examination a commitment for a current ALTA
2021 Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance from a title insurance company reasonably
acceptable to Buyer in the amount of the purchase price which reflects that marketable fee
simple title to the Property is vested in Seller and which names Buyer as the proposed
insured. This title insurance commitment is to contain a complete legible copy of each
easement, restriction, limitation or condition of title, which is referred to in it, and shall
include proper searches covering bankruptcies, state and federal judgments, liens and
levied and pending special assessments. Buyer shall have until twenty (20) days after
receipt of this title insurance commitment to specifically object in writing to the condition
of title. If any such objection is made, Seller shall have ten (10) days to correct the
condition of title. If the condition of title is not acceptable to Buyer and Seller is not able
to correct it within ten (10) days from the date of written objections thereto, this Offer shall,
at the option of Buyer, be terminated, the Earnest Money shall promptly be returned to
Buyer and Buyer shall have no further obligation or responsibility hereunder. If the
Buyer’s objections are to liens that may be removed by the payment of sums of money,
Buyer may elect to take title to the Property pursuant to the terms of this Offer and
discharge any such liens and deduct the same from the Purchase Price. The title insurance
commitment must include a Gap Endorsement and the title insurance company must agree
that the final Owner’s Policy of title insurance will provide for extended coverage. Seller
agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to satisfy promptly any objections to title
raised by Buyer, but shall not be obligated to incur any costs or expenses (other than
reasonable attorneys’ fees and the payment of any liens or unpaid taxes and assessments)
in doing so. At the time of closing, Seller shall pay the premium for the Owner’s Policy
of Title Insurance and the Gap Endorsement.

7.3 Defects of the Property. Within thirty (30) days after the Acceptance Date,
Seller shall furnish and deliver to Buyer a list (“Disclosed Defects List”) setting forth to
Seller’s knowledge all structural, non-structural, mechanical or other defects in the
Property, including, without limitation, the roof or foundation, inadequacy for normal use
of mechanical systems, sanitary disposal systems or water supply.

7.4  PILOT Agreement. Seller shall use its best efforts to cause the terms and
conditions set forth in the existing Payment in Lieu of Taxes Agreement between Seller
and the City of Stoughton for the Property (the “PILOT Agreement”) to apply to the
Property after the Closing of this transaction.

7.5 Cooperation. Seller agrees to cooperate with Buyer and use its good faith
efforts to enable Buyer to satisfy all contingencies set for in this Offer.

8. Closing Requirements of Seller. At closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the
following:

8.1 Bill of Sale (Building). The bill of sale described in Lines 341-349 of the
pre-printed WB-15 Commercial Offer to Purchase to which this Rider is attached and






containing only those exceptions approved by Buyer after its review of and comment on
the title insurance commitment.

8.2  Wisconsin Real Estate Transfer Tax Return. If required, at the time of
closing, Seller shall sign a Wisconsin Real Estate Transfer Return and pay the Wisconsin
real estate transfer taxes associated with the transaction contemplated by this Offer.

8.3 Bill of Sale (Personal Property). Bill of Sale conveying marketable title to
the personal property described in Lines 14-18 of the pre-printed WB-15 Commercial Offer
to Purchase to which this Rider is attached and in Section 3 of this Rider to Buyer free and
clear of all liens, charges and encumbrances.

8.4  Assignment of Warranties. Assignment of any guarantees or warranties
pertaining to the Property.

8.5  Assignment and Assumption of Leases. Assignment of the leases
(“Leases”) affecting the Property that extend beyond the closing date, together with all
original leases and amendments thereto and all materials in each tenant file held by Seller.
At closing, Buyer agrees to assume all of Seller’s obligations under the Leases from the
date of closing through the expiration or earlier termination of the Leases.

8.6  Assignment of Security Deposits. Assignment of any security deposits
and/or prepaid rents held by Seller pursuant to the Leases.

8.7 Assignment and Transfer of Replacement Reserve Accounts. Assignment
and transfer of the entire balance(s) in the Property’s Replacement Reserve Account(s)
having balance(s) on the date of closing of not less than the amount(s) required under the
Regulatory Agreement(s) (the “Minimum Replacement Reserve Transfer Amounts™), and
all necessary approvals of RD or HUD (as applicable) to such assignment and transfer.

8.8 Closing Statement. A closing statement which reflects the transaction
provided for in this Offer and the following additional prorations:

8.8.1 Seller shall pay all utility charges, garbage collection and municipal
charges to the date of the closing and shall cause final meter readings, where
applicable to be taken as of such date.

8.8.2 General real estate taxes allocated to the Property for the current
year, which are not delinquent, shall be prorated as of the date of closing. Such
taxes will be reprorated within ten (10) days after the final tax bills are issued and
adjusted between the parties as necessary with respect to each year for which a
proration was made.

8.8.3  All water and sewer charges shall be prorated at closing.

8.8.4 Prepaid insurance premiums shall be prorated as of the date of
closing if Buyer takes assignment of Seller’s insurance.





8.8.5 All rents paid by tenants of the Property for the current month shall
be prorated as of the date of closing.

8.8.6  All property owner’s assessments and other private charges shall be
prorated for the current period.

8.9 FIRPTA Affidavit. An Affidavit of Seller confirming that Seller is not a
foreign person as such term is defined in Section 1445(f)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended.

8.10  Seller Documents. All items set forth on Exhibit C, attached hereto and
incorporated herein.

8.11 Additional Documents. Such further documents as Buyer, or the title
insurance company issuing the title insurance commitment described in Section 7.2 above
shall reasonably request to effect the transactions contemplated by this Offer.

0. Representations and Warranties of Seller. To induce Buyer to execute, deliver and
perform this Offer, Seller hereby represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:

9.1 Public Improvements. Seller has no notice or knowledge of any planned or
commenced public improvement which may result in special assessments or otherwise
materially affect the Property.

9.2  Required Alterations. Seller has no notice or knowledge of any government
agency, tenant request or demand or court order requiring repair, alteration or correction
of any existing condition of the Property.

9.3 Defects. Except for the Disclosed Defects List, Seller has no knowledge of
any structural, non-structural, mechanical or other defect in the Property, including,
without limitation, the roof or foundation, inadequacy for normal use of mechanical
systems, sanitary disposal systems or water supply. To the Seller’s knowledge, all such
items are in good operating condition and repair and in compliance with all applicable
governmental laws or regulations.

9.4  Litigation. There are no claims, causes of action or other litigation or
proceedings pending or threatened in respect to the ownership or operation of the Property,
including, without limitation, disputes of tenants, government authorities, prior owners,
utilities, contractors, adjoining landowners or suppliers of goods and services.

9.5 Authority. Seller has full capacity, right, power and authority to execute,
deliver and perform this Offer and all documents to be executed by Seller pursuant hereto
and all required action therefor has been duly taken.

9.6  Code Compliance. To Seller’s knowledge, the Property is in compliance
with all applicable building codes and municipal and zoning ordinances.






9.7 Access. There is legal access to the Property from dedicated public roads
sufficient for the normal use and operation of the Property and to insure vehicular and
pedestrian ingress to and egress from the Property.

9.8 Utilities. To Seller’s knowledge, all waste, sewer, gas, electric, telephone
and drainage facilities required by law or by normal use and operation of the Property are
adequate to serve the Property in its present use.

9.9 Binding Offer. This Offer constitutes the valid and binding agreement of
Seller, enforceable in accordance with its terms, neither the execution and delivery of this
Offer nor the consummation of the transaction contemplated herein will constitute a
violation or breach by Seller of any provision of any agreement or other instrument to
which Seller is a party or to which Seller may be subject although not a party, or will result
in or constitute a violation or breach of any judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree
issued against Seller.

9.10  Third Party Consent. The consent of no third party or governmental agency
or authority (other than WHEDA, HUD or RD, as may be applicable) is required for the
execution of this Offer by Seller and the consummation of the transaction contemplated
herein.

9.11 Reassessment. Seller has no knowledge of any completed or pending
reassessment of the Property for real estate tax purposes.

9.12  Smoke Detectors. Seller has no knowledge of any violation of applicable
state or local smoke detector laws.

9.13  Infestation. Seller has no knowledge of any insect or animal infestation of
the Property.

9.14 Health and Safety. Seller has no knowledge of any conditions constituting
a significant health or safety hazard for occupants of the Property.

9.15 Storage Tanks. Seller has no knowledge of any underground or
aboveground storage tanks on the Property or which were previously located on the

Property.

9.16 RD Agreements. All RD and HUD Agreements are in full force and effect,
no defaults exist pursuant to any RD or HUD Agreements and Seller does not know of any
condition which with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute
a default pursuant to any RD or HUD Agreements.

9.17 Environmental Laws. Seller has no knowledge of any violations of
environmental laws or other laws or agreements regulating the use of the Property.

9.18 Other Conditions. Seller has no knowledge of any other conditions or
occurrences which would significantly reduce the value of the Property to a reasonable
person with knowledge of the nature and scope of the condition or occurrence.






The representations and warranties set forth in this Offer shall be continuing and shall be true and
correct at the time of closing with the same force and effect as if made at that time. All
representations and warranties shall survive the closing of this transaction and shall not be merged
in the delivery and execution of the deeds or other instruments of conveyance called for in this
Offer.

10. Seller’s Covenants. From the date of this Offer through the date of closing Seller

shall:

10.1 Maintenance and Maintenance Charges. Maintain the Property in a good,
clean and sanitary condition without any deferred maintenance and shall pay in a timely
fashion all bills and discharge all obligations arising by reason of Seller’s ownership,
operation and management of the Property as they become due;

10.2 Leases and Other Agreements. Continue to lease the Property in the
ordinary course of business and, not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Buyer,
terminate or modify any Lease (except with respect to Leases terminated or modified in
the ordinary course of business), or any other agreement with respect to the Property;

10.3  Zoning. Not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, initiate or consent
to the change in any zoning applicable to the Property or in any other governmental law,
permit, license, ordinance or regulation applicable to the construction, use, occupation or
operation of the Property; and

10.4 Insurance. Maintain adequate insurance on the buildings and all other
improvements located on the Property for the full replacement cost thereof.

11.  Access and Cooperation. Buyer and its designees, at any time after the Acceptance
Date with reasonable notice to Seller, shall have the right to enter the Property, subject to the rights
of tenants in possession, as many times as is reasonably necessary to conduct inspections, studies,
tests, and investigations of the Property. Buyer agrees to repair any damage to the Property caused
by such entry and shall return the Property to substantially the same condition as existed prior to
such entries if this transaction does not close. Seller shall cooperate with Buyer in Buyer’s exercise
of its rights hereunder. Buyer shall, with respect to work performed by or on behalf of Buyer,
indemnify Seller (except to the extent the following arises out of the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Seller or any tenant) against any and all expense, liability or damage arising out of
(1) any mechanics liens filed against the Property; or (i1) the negligent or intentional acts of Buyer
or its agents.

12. Notices. All notices, requests and other communications under this Offer shall be
in writing and shall be deemed properly served if personally delivered; mailed postage prepaid, by
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested; telecopied; or sent via overnight courier;
addressed as follows:

If intended for Seller: Stoughton Housing Authority of the
City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
c/o Stoughton City Hall
Attn: David Ehlinger, Chair of Stoughton





Housing Authority

207 S. Forrest Street

Stoughton, WI 53589

E-mail: dehlinger@ci.stoughton.wi.us

If intended for Buyer: Crown Court Properties, Ltd.
Attn: Menachem Rapoport
2233 W. Mequon Road
Mequon, WI 53092
Fax: (262)242-7711
E-mail: mrapoport@crowncourtproperties.com

With a copy to: Godfrey & Kahn, S.C.
Attn: Mark E. O’Neill
833 E. Michigan Street, Suite 1800
Milwaukee, WI 53202
E-mail: moneill@gklaw.com

Any such notice, if mailed as provided herein, shall be deemed to have been mailed,
rendered, given or served on the date mailed and shall be deemed to have been received on the
expiration of two business days after mailing. Any notice or communication personally delivered,
telecopied or sent via overnight courier shall be deemed to have been given or served upon delivery
thereof to the appropriate party.

13. Additional Provisions.

13.1  Successors and Assigns. Buyer shall have the right to assign this Offer
without the consent of Seller. If Buyer assigns this Offer in accordance with this Section
13.1, the Buyer named herein shall be released of any and all liability or obligation arising
out of this Offer and the assignee shall assume all such liabilities and obligations of Buyer
under this Offer. All of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Offer shall inure to the
benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns.

13.2  Further Assurances. At closing, or thereafter if necessary, each party hereto
shall, without cost or expense to the other party, execute and deliver to or cause to be
executed and delivered to the other party, such further instruments of transfer and
conveyance as may be reasonably requested, and take such other action as a party may
reasonably require to carry out more effectively the transactions contemplated herein.

13.3  Counterparts; Email/Fax. This Offer and any counter-offer or amendment
related thereto may be executed in counterparts and executed copies of any such documents
which are transmitted electronically by email or by facsimile shall be binding on the party
whose signature appears on such electronic copy.

13.4 Captions and Pronouns. The captions and headings of the various sections
or paragraphs of this Agreement are for convenience only, and are not to be construed as
confining or limiting in any way the scope or intent of the provisions hereof. Whenever






the context requires or permits, the singular shall include the plural, the plural shall include
the singular and the masculine, feminine and neuter shall be freely interchangeable.

13.5 Provisions Severable. The unenforceability or invalidity of any provision
or provisions hereof shall not render any other provision or provisions herein contained
unenforceable or invalid.

13.6  Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and the binding
upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the Seller and Buyer.

13.7 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin.

13.8 Independent Consideration. In the event Buyer terminates this Offer for
reasons other than a default by Seller, Buyer shall nevertheless pay Seller One Hundred
Dollars ($100.00) as independent consideration for this Offer.

14. Closing Date. The closing of this transaction shall occur on the later of (i) April
30, 2024 or (ii) the date that is three hundred sixty-five days after the date of the Carryover
Allocation Agreement for low income housing tax credits received by Buyer relating to the

Property.

15. Option to Ground Lease. Seller hereby grants to Buyer the option to ground lease
the real property upon which the Property is situated, substantially pursuant to the terms and
conditions as set forth on Exhibit D, attached hereto and incorporated herein.

16.  Right of First Refusal. Buyer agrees to designate Seller as the holder of the right
of first refusal for the Property upon such terms and conditions to be set forth in the operating
agreement of Buyer’s to-be-established ownership entity, all in accordance with Section
42(1)(7)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

10





BUYER:

CROWN COURT PROPERTIES, LTD.

By:

Menachem Rapoport, Vice President

Accepted as of this day SELLER:
of ,202

STOUGHTON HOUSING AUTHORITY OF
THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN

By:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Rider]





—

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

EXHIBIT A

Copy of all contracts, elevator, trash, pest, lawn, snow, fire monitoring, cable, telephone,
janitorial, elevator monitoring, etc.

Copy of inspections (boiler, fire alarm, emergency lights, elevator, sprinkler, fire
extinguishers, etc.)

Site Phone Number

Most recent Real Estate Tax Bill and Receipt

Current Budget

Most recent complete audit

List of any existing incentives or concessions offered
All current lease files

Current Utility Allowance and copies of past two years
Monitoring Agency Letters and Responses past three years
Copy of current AFHMP

Service Agreements

List of accessible apartments

Current income limits and maximum rents in use
As-built Plans/Blueprints (pdf)

O&M Manuals

Copy of last three REAC Inspections

Vendor Contact List

Elevator Permits

Boiler Permits

Copy of Capital Needs Assessment





EXHIBIT B

Year to date Profit and Loss Statements (monthly)

Current Waiting List and Files

Parking and Storage List

Current Marketing documentation and advertising, including contracts and contacts
Copy of Original Market Study and most recent Market Study

Brochure/print collateral

Floor plans (digital)

B-1





10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

EXHIBIT C

Rent Roll

Security Deposit Liability

Delinquency Report

Detailed Listing and outstanding Receivables

Rent Checks (endorsed to new owner/management agent)
List of residents on auto-payment

Security deposit account funds

Copies of most recent Utility Bills

Housing payments (if any)

Current Waiting List and Files

Parking and Storage List

Current Marketing documentation and advertising, including contracts and contacts

Property Photos

Copy of Original Market Study and most recent Market Study

Brochure/print collateral

Floor plans (digital)

Copy of 1% year files (pdf, on CD)

Vacated Tenant files — last three years

All In-Process Paperwork, including applications
Pending Evictions

Keys/Codes/Fobs (including masters)

Keying Schedule

Site Inventory List (Tools, Equipment)





24.

25.

Any outstanding work orders

All Warranty Information





EXHIBIT D

[See Attached Ground Lease]





Premises:

GROUND LEASE

Between

STOUGHTON HOUSING AUTHORITY
OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN

(Landlord)

And

CROWN COURT PROPERTIES, LTD. OR ITS ASSIGNS

(Tenant)

924 Jackson Street
Stoughton, Wisconsin

D-2





TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1. DEMISED PREMISES .......oiiiiiiiiee et 5
SECTION 2. TERM.....oiiiiiiiiiiiicc ettt s s 5
SECTION 3. RENT ...ttt s st s 5
SECTION 4. RENT TO BE NET TO LANDLORD......cccccceiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciciccceeccc 6
SECTION 5. USE OF DEMISED PREMISES ......ccccooiiiiiiiiiiniecccceeeceeeee e 6
SECTION 6. TAXES AND UTILITY EXPENSES .....ccoiiiiiiiiiiiceeceeceeen 6
SECTION 7. IMPROVEMENTS, REPAIRS, ADDITIONS, REPLACEMENTS...............c....... 7
SECTION 8. REQUIREMENTS OF PUBLIC AUTHORITY .....cccccciviiiiiiiiiiiiiiniciciceee 8
SECTION 9. COVENANT AGAINST LIENS ..o 9
SECTION 10. ACCESS TO DEMISED PREMISES .......cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecccccce 9
SECTION 11. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING......cccciiiiiiiiiiiieeceeeeeeeeeesee e 9
SECTION 12. INDEMNITY ....oiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et 9
SECTION I3. INSURANCE ..ottt s 9
SECTION 14. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION ......cccociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicicccceceee e 10
SECTION 15. DESTRUCTION .......coiiiiiiiiiiieee et 11
SECTION 16. EMINENT DOMAIN .......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieicceeie et 11
SECTION 17. PERMITTED FEE MORTGAGE ........ccccooiiiiiiiieieeeeeeee e 13
SECTION 18. LEASEHOLD MORTGAGES ........cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeceeeicceeee 14
SECTION 19. QUIET ENJOYMENT ......oiiii e 17
SECTION 20. DEFAULTS ..ottt 17
SECTION 21. BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ...cccoiiiiiiiiiiniiieeceeeeneeeeeeee 18
SECTION 22. WAIVERS ..o 18
SECTION 23. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY ..oooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 18
SECTION 24. FORCE MAJEURE .......cccociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitccceeee et 19
SECTION 25. NOTICES ...ttt s 19
SECTION 26. CERTIFICATES ....c..coiiiiiiiiiie et 19
SECTION 27. GOVERNING LAW ....oiiieee e 20
SECTION 28. PARTIAL INVALIDITY ...oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicececeeeeeee e 20
SECTION 29. SHORT FORM LEASE ......cooiiiiiieecceee e 20
SECTION 30. INTERPRETATION.....cc.coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiectecete e 20





SECTION 31. PARTIES ........

SECTION 32. DEFINITIONS

D-4





GROUND LEASE

THIS GROUND LEASE (this “Lease”) is dated the  day of ,20 , by
and between Stoughton Housing Authority of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, a Wisconsin body
politic, having an office for the transaction of business at 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin
(“Landlord”) and Crown Court Properties, Ltd., or assigns, a Wisconsin non-profit corporation,
having an office for the transaction of business at 2233 W. Mequon Road, Mequon, Wisconsin
(“Tenant”).

WITNESSETH:

A. Landlord is the owner of a tract of land in the City of Stoughton, State of Wisconsin,
as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference (the
“Land”).

B. Tenant desires to ground lease the Land from Landlord so that Tenant may
rehabilitate, construct, develop and operate a multi-family housing project (collectively, the

“Project”).

In consideration of One Hundred Dollars ($100.00), other good and valuable consideration,
and the mutual covenants contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, Landlord and
Tenant hereby agree with each other as follows:

SECTION 1. Demised Premises. Commencing on the Commencement Date (as defined
below), Landlord leases and lets to Tenant, and Tenant hereby takes and hires from Landlord, upon
and subject to the terms, conditions, covenants and provisions hereof, the Land, together with any
and all improvements, appurtenances, rights, privileges and easements benefiting, belonging or
appertaining thereto (collectively, the “Demised Premises”).

SECTION 2. Term.

(a) The initial term of this Lease shall begin on the Commencement Date and end on
the last day of the six hundred sixtieth (660th) full calendar month after the Commencement Date,
unless sooner terminated or extended as herein provided.

(b) For purposes of this Lease, the term “Commencement Date” shall mean the date
upon which Landlord delivers the Demised Premises to Tenant in order for Tenant to rehabilitate,
construct, develop and operate the Project.

SECTION 3. Rent.

(a) Commencing on the Commencement Date, as defined below, Tenant covenants and
agrees to pay Landlord for the Demised Premises, without offset or deduction, and without
previous demand therefor, the annual base rent (the “Base Rent”) in an amount equal to One
Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00).

(b) Base Rent shall be payable by Tenant in arrears beginning on , 202
and on the first day of each anniversary thereafter during the term of this Lease and each extension,

D-5





and shall be payable at the office of the Landlord first above set forth or at such other place of
which Landlord shall have given Tenant written notice at least thirty (30) days in advance. In the
event the Commencement Date occurs on any day other than the first day of , the rent for
such partial year shall be prorated accordingly.

(©) As hereinafter used, the term “rent” shall be deemed to include the Base Rent and
the additional rent payable by Tenant to Landlord hereunder.

SECTION 4. Rent to be Net to Landlord. It is the intention of the parties that the Base
Rent payable hereunder shall be net to Landlord, so that this Lease shall yield to Landlord the net
Base Rent specified herein during the term of this Lease, and that all costs, expenses (including,
without limitation, all insurance for and all maintenance, repairs and replacements to the
Improvements (as defined below) and Demised Premises), and obligations of every kind and
nature whatsoever relating to the Improvements and Demised Premises shall be paid by Tenant,
except as may be expressly set forth to the contrary in this Lease.

SECTION 5. Use of Demised Premises

(a) The Demised Premises may be used for the development, use and occupancy of the
Project, and as further set forth in Section 7 hereof. Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises shall
not be changed in any respect without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent may
be granted or withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion.

(b) Tenant shall not use the Demised Premises or permit anything to be done in or about
the Demised Premises which will violate any Laws now in force or which may hereafter be enacted
or promulgated. Tenant shall not use or allow the Demised Premises to be used for any improper,
immoral, unlawful or objectionable purpose or which could otherwise violate any recorded
covenant or restriction affecting the Demised Premises. Tenant shall not cause or maintain or
permit any nuisance or commit or suffer the commission of any waste in, on or about the Demised
Premises.

SECTION 6. Taxes and Utility Expenses.

(a) (1) Tenant shall, during the term of this Lease, as additional rent, pay
and discharge punctually, as and when the same shall become due and payable, without penalty,
all taxes (including, without limitation, real estate taxes), special and general assessments, water
rents, sewer rents, rates and charges, levies, fines, penalties and assessments and all other
governmental impositions and charges of every kind and nature whatsoever, extraordinary as well
as ordinary (hereinafter referred to as “Taxes’), and each and every installment thereof which shall
or may during the term of this Lease be levied, laid, assessed, imposed, become due and payable,
or liens upon or for or with respect to the Demised Premises or any part thereof, or any buildings,
appurtenances, or equipment owned by Tenant thereon or therein or any part thereof, together with
all interest and penalties thereon and all water rents, rates and charges, sewer rents and charges for
water, heat, gas, electricity, light and power, and other service or services, furnished to the
Demised Premises during the term of this Lease (hereinafter referred to as “Utility Expenses”).

(2) All such Taxes which shall become payable during each of the calendar or
fiscal tax years, as the case may be, in which the term of this Lease commences and terminates,

D-6





shall be apportioned pro rata between Landlord and Tenant in accordance with the respective
portions of such year during which such term shall be in effect.

(b) Tenant or its designees shall have the right to contest or review all such Taxes by
legal proceedings, or in such other manner as it may deem suitable (which, if instituted, Tenant or
its designees shall conduct promptly at its own cost and expense, and free of any expense to
Landlord, and, if necessary, in the name of and with the cooperation of Landlord and Landlord
shall execute all documents necessary to accomplish the foregoing), provided that Tenant shall
timely pay all such Taxes notwithstanding any such contest or review.

(c) Landlord covenants and agrees that if there shall be any refunds or rebates on
account of the Taxes paid by Tenant under the provisions of this Lease, such refund or rebate shall
belong to Tenant. Any refunds received by Landlord shall be deemed trust funds and as such are
to be received by Landlord in trust and paid to Tenant upon Landlord’s verification that Tenant
has paid the most current installment of Taxes due. Landlord will, upon the request of Tenant,
sign any receipts which may be necessary to secure the payment of any such refund or rebate, and
will pay over to Tenant such refund or rebate as received by Landlord upon Landlord’s verification
that Tenant has paid the most current installment of Taxes due.

(d) Nothing herein or in this Lease otherwise contained shall require or be construed to
require Tenant to pay any inheritance, estate, succession, transfer, gift, franchise, income or profit
taxes, that are or may be imposed upon Landlord, its successors or assigns.

(e) This Section 6 shall be subject to any Payment in Lieu of Taxes Agreement between
Tenant and the City of Stoughton notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein.

SECTION 7. Improvements, Repairs, Additions, Replacements.

(a) Landlord shall have no responsibility or liability to prepare the Demised Premises
for Tenant’s construction activities. Tenant shall construct, or cause to be constructed, all
infrastructure improvements necessary for the operation of the Project, which infrastructure
improvements shall include, but not be limited to, all driveways and curb cuts necessary for ingress
and egress to the Demised Premises and storm water retention facilities for the Project.

(b) All building and site improvements comprising a part of the Project and any and all
other building improvements and/or site improvements hereafter made to the Demised Premises by
or on behalf of Tenant are collectively referred to herein as the “Improvements.”

(©) Tenant shall, at all times during the term of this Lease, and at its own cost and
expense, keep and maintain or cause to be kept and maintained in repair and good condition
(ordinary wear and tear excepted), all buildings and improvements at any time erected on the
Demised Premises and shall use all reasonable precaution to prevent waste, damage or injury.

(d) Tenant may, at its option and at its own cost and expense, at any time and from time
to time, make such alterations, changes, replacements, improvements and additions in and to the
Demised Premises, and the buildings and improvements thereon, as it may deem desirable.

D-7





(e) Until the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, subject, however, to the
rights of the holder of any Leasehold Mortgage (as hereinafter defined) to obtain a new Lease as
set forth herein, title to any building or buildings or improvements situated or erected on the
Demised Premises and the building equipment and other items installed thereon and any alteration,
change or addition thereto shall remain solely in Tenant; and Tenant alone shall be entitled to all
tax attributes of ownership, including but not limited to, the rights to claim all low-income housing
tax credits and to deduct all depreciation on Tenant’s income tax returns for any such building or
buildings, building equipment and/or other items, improvements, additions, changes or alterations.

() On the last day or sooner termination of the term of this Lease, Tenant shall quit and
surrender the Demised Premises, and the buildings and permanent improvements then thereon,
broom clean and in good condition and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted), free and clear of
all liens and encumbrances, except liens and encumbrances caused by Landlord or expressly
permitted by Landlord; provided, however, Tenant shall have the right to sell the buildings and
permanent improvements situated in the Demised Premises.

SECTION 8. Requirements of Public Authority.

(a) During the term of this Lease, Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, promptly
observe and comply with all present and future laws, ordinances, requirements, orders, directives,
rules and regulations of the Federal, State, County and City Governments and of all other
governmental authorities affecting the Demised Premises or appurtenances thereto or any part
thereof whether the same are in force at the commencement of the term of this Lease or may in the
future be passed, enacted or directed, and Tenant shall pay all costs, expenses, liabilities, losses,
damages, fines, penalties, claims and demands, including reasonable counsel fees, that may in any
manner arise out of or be imposed because of the failure of Tenant to comply with the covenants
of this Section 8. In addition, Tenant shall obtain and keep, or cause to be obtained and kept, in
force throughout the term of this Lease, all licenses, consents and permits required from time to
time by any applicable laws, ordinances, requirements, orders, directives, rules and regulations to
permit the Demised Premises to be used in accordance with this Lease.

(b) Tenant shall have the right to contest by appropriate legal proceedings diligently
conducted in good faith, in the name of the Tenant, or Landlord (if legally required), or both (if
legally required), without cost or expense to Landlord, the validity or application of any law,
ordinance, rule, regulation or requirement of the nature referred to in paragraph (a) of this Section
8, and, if by the terms of any such law, ordinance, order, rule, regulation or requirement,
compliance therewith may legally be delayed pending the prosecution of any such proceeding,
Tenant may delay such compliance therewith until the final determination of such proceeding
provided that Tenant shall timely comply with, observe and/or pay any amounts due for failure to
observe and/or comply with any law, ordinance, rule, regulation or requirement of the nature
referred to in paragraph (a) of this Section 8 notwithstanding any such contest by Tenant.

(c) Landlord agrees to execute and deliver any appropriate papers or other instruments
which may be necessary or proper to permit Tenant to contest the validity or application of any
such law, ordinance, order, rule, regulation or requirement and to fully cooperate with Tenant in
such contest.

D-8





SECTION 9. Covenant Against Liens. If any construction lien or other lien, charge or
order for the payment of money shall be filed against Landlord or any portion of the Demised
Premises, unless such lien, charge or order is caused by the act or neglect of Landlord or Landlord’s
agents, contractors or employees (but excluding any act undertaken by Landlord or Landlord’s
agents, contractors or employees in its or their capacity as a member, agent, contractor or employee
of Tenant), Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, cause the same to be discharged of record or
bonded within ninety (90) days after written notice from Landlord to Tenant of the filing thereof.
Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord in writing if Tenant receives a notice of intent to file a lien,
a claim for lien or any other correspondence or communication regarding a construction lien or
other lien, charge or order for the payment of money filed or threatened to be filed against Landlord
or any portion of the Demised Premises.

SECTION 10. Access to Demised Premises. Subject to the rights of any tenants, Landlord
or Landlord’s agents and designees shall have the right, but not the obligation, to enter upon the
Demised Premises at all reasonable times, upon not less than seventy-two (72) hours prior notice,
except in the case of an emergency, in which case Landlord shall endeavor to give Tenant notice
as soon as reasonably practicable, to examine same. Landlord shall coordinate any such access
upon the Demised Premises with Tenant and shall afford representatives of Tenant an opportunity
to accompany Landlord or Landlord’s agents and invitees during their entry upon the Demised
Premises.

SECTION 11. Assignment and Subletting. Tenant may assign, pledge, mortgage or
otherwise transfer or encumber this Lease or sublet any part or all of the Demised Premises

SECTION 12. Indemnity.

(a) Tenant shall indemnify and save harmless Landlord from and against any
and all liability, damage, penalties or judgments arising from injury to person or property sustained
by anyone in and about the Demised Premises resulting from any act or acts or omission or
omissions of Tenant, or Tenant’s officers, agents, servants, employees, contractors, or sublessees
or resulting from the Improvements or their construction, repair, maintenance or replacement
(including, without limitation, environmental liability). Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense,
defend any and all suits or actions (just or unjust) which may be brought against Landlord or in
which Landlord may be impleaded with others upon any such above-mentioned matter, claim or
claims, unless such suit or action arises from Landlord’s intentional actions or negligence.

(b) Landlord shall not be responsible or liable for any damage or injury to any property,
fixtures, buildings or other improvements, or to any person or persons, at any time on the Demised
Premises, including any damage or injury to Tenant or to any of Tenant’s officers, agents, servants,
employees, contractors, customers or sublessees, unless such damage or injury arises from Landlord’s
intentional actions or negligence.

SECTION 13. Insurance.

(a) Tenant shall provide at its expense, and keep in force during the term of this Lease,
comprehensive general public liability insurance in a good and solvent insurance company or
companies reasonably satisfactory to Landlord and licensed to do business in the State of
Wisconsin having a single limit of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) and umbrella

D-9





coverage of at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) or such greater amount as may then be
reasonably required by Landlord or the holder of a Permitted Fee Mortgage. Such policy or
policies shall name Landlord and the holder of any Permitted Fee Mortgage and Leasehold
Mortgage as an additional insured.

(b) During the term of this Lease, Tenant shall keep all buildings and Improvements
erected by Tenant on the Demised Premises at any time insured for the benefit of Landlord and
Tenant and the holder of any such Permitted Fee Mortgage and Leasehold Mortgage as their
respective interests may appear, against loss or damage by fire and customary extended coverage
for the full replacement value of the Improvements. All such policies or certificates thereof, shall
be held by the holder of any such Permitted Fee Mortgage and Leasehold Mortgage. All proceeds
payable at any time and from time to time by any insurance company under such policies shall be
payable to such mortgagees, if any, or, if none, to Tenant. If any such proceeds are paid to such
mortgagees, Tenant shall be entitled to receive the full amount thereof in accordance with the terms
of such Permitted Fee Mortgage and Leasehold Mortgage and Landlord shall not be entitled to,
and shall have no interest in, such proceeds or any part thereof. Landlord agrees, at Tenant’s cost
and expense, to cooperate fully with Tenant in order to obtain the largest possible recovery and
execute any and all consents and other instruments and take all other actions necessary or desirable
in order to effectuate the same.

(©) Whenever any work shall be performed at the Demised Premises during the term of
this Lease, Tenant or its agents shall obtain completed value builders’ risk insurance when the
estimated cost of the work in any one instance exceeds the sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
($500,000.00).

(d) Any insurance required to be provided by Tenant pursuant to this Lease shall contain
a clause that the insurer will not cancel or change the insurance coverage without at least thirty
(30) days prior written notice to Landlord. A certificate of Tenant’s insurers in form and substance
satisfactory to Landlord evidencing such insurance shall be furnished to Landlord prior to the
Commencement Date and at least thirty (30) days prior to the renewal date and at such other times
as may be reasonably requested by Landlord. Landlord may at any time and from time to time
inspect and/or copy any and all insurance policies required to be procured by Tenant under this
Lease. Any insurance required to be provided by Tenant may be provided by blanket insurance
covering the Demised Premises and other locations of Tenant (or its members) provided such
blanket insurance complies with all of the other requirements of this Lease with respect to the
insurance involved and such blanket insurance is acceptable to any mortgagee.

SECTION 14. Waiver of Subrogation. Each party hereby expressly releases the other from
liability it may have on account of any loss to the Demised Premises or contents of either,
including, without limitation, personal property, trade fixtures, alterations, additions and leasehold
improvements due to fire or any peril included in the coverage of any applicable fire and extended
coverage and material damage insurance, however caused, including such losses as may be due to
the negligence of the other party, its agents or employees, but only to the extent of any amount
recovered by reason of such insurance, and each party hereby waives any right of subrogation
which might otherwise exist in or accrue to such party on account thereof, provided that such
release of liability and waiver of the right of subrogation shall not be operative in any case where
the effect thereof is to invalidate such insurance coverage under applicable state law (or increase
the cost thereof, unless the other party reimburses the insured for any cost increase). If Tenant

D-10





fails to maintain in force any insurance required by this Lease to be carried by it, then for purposes
of this waiver of subrogation it shall be deemed to have been fully insured and to have recovered
the entire amount of its loss.

SECTION 15. Destruction. In the event that, at any time during the term of this Lease,
the Improvements on the Demised Premises shall be destroyed or damaged in whole or in part by
fire or other cause, then, Tenant, at its own cost and expense, shall cause the same to be repaired,
replaced or rebuilt in a reasonably prompt manner exercising all due diligence. For purposes of
clarity, during such period of repair, replacement or rebuilding, all rent shall remain due and
payable by Tenant to Landlord.

SECTION 16. Eminent Domain.

(a) If the whole of the Demised Premises shall be taken for any public or quasi-public
use under any statute or by right of eminent domain or by purchase in lieu thereof, then this Lease
shall automatically terminate as of the date that possession has been taken. In the event of a partial
taking (or a purchase by a governmental entity as the settlement of a proposed taking) of any
portion of the Demised Premises on which Tenant has constructed in whole or in part
Improvements and which makes restoration of the Improvements impracticable or the operation
of such Improvements after restoration economically unfeasible, then Tenant shall have the right,
but not the obligation, to terminate this Lease by giving written notice of such termination to
Landlord on or prior to the date thirty (30) days after the date of such taking (or a purchase by a
governmental entity as the settlement of a proposed taking), and upon the giving of such notice of
termination the term of this Lease shall expire and come to an end on the last day of the calendar
month in which such notice shall be given, with the same force and effect as if said day had been
originally fixed herein as the expiration date of the term of this Lease. In the event this Lease shall
terminate or shall be terminated, the rental shall, if and when necessary, be adjusted to the day of
the taking (or purchase) and neither party shall have any further rights or liabilities hereunder.

(b) In the event of a taking (or purchase) resulting in the termination of this Lease
pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (a) of this Section 16 the parties hereto agree to cooperate
in applying for and in prosecuting any claim for such taking and further agree, that the aggregate
net award, after deducting from their respective distributions all expenses and costs, including
attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection therewith on a pro rata basis based on the amount of
Landlord’s and Tenant’s respective distributions, payable to both Landlord and Tenant shall be
paid to Landlord and Tenant (or if required, to any Permitted Fee Mortgagee and Leasehold
Mortgagee) and distributed as follows:

(1) So much of such net award as is available for distribution shall first be paid
to Landlord in an amount equal to Landlord’s Share (as defined below) subject to the claim of any
Permitted Fee Mortgagee to the extent of the then unpaid principal amount of any Permitted Fee
Mortgage (but in any event such payment to a Permitted Fee Mortgagee shall not exceed
Landlord’s Share); and

(2) Then, the balance to Tenant.

The term “Landlord’s Share,” as used in this subparagraph (1), shall mean the Fair
Market Value of the Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises (including Landlord’s residual

D-11





interest in the Improvements but excluding Tenant’s leasehold interest in the Improvements and
excluding any land previously taken).

“Fair Market Value of Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises” shall be determined
as follows:

(1) In the event of a taking, Landlord and Tenant shall meet within
fifteen (15) days of such taking and in good faith attempt to agree upon the then
fair market value of Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises (including
Landlord’s residual interest in the Improvements). If Landlord and Tenant are
unable to agree upon the then current fair market value of Landlord’s interest in the
Demised Premises within thirty (30) days after the initial meeting, Landlord and
Tenant shall each select an independent appraiser who is a member of the American
Institute of Real Estate Appraisers with at least ten (10) years’ experience
appraising comparable real property to determine the fair market value of
Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises, and advise the other in writing of the
name of such appraiser within ten (10) days. Each party shall be responsible for
paying the fees of the appraiser selected by it.

(2) The two appraisers so appointed shall be instructed to each prepare
a written appraisal which will show the fair market value of Landlord’s interest in
the Demised Premises, assuming (for purposes of determining fair market value)
there is a willing buyer and willing seller, neither under compulsion, assuming that
this Lease remains in effect for a term of twenty (20) years, and assuming a cash
sale within a six (6) month marketing period. Such appraisers shall notify both
parties, simultaneously and in writing, of their determinations as described herein
within thirty (30) days of their appointment. If the difference in the fair market
value between the two appraisals is less than or equal to five percent (5%) of the
lower appraisal, then the arithmetic average of the two appraisals shall be the fair
market value of Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises and such
determination shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties.

3) If the difference in the fair market value between the two appraisals
is more than five percent (5%), then within twenty (20) days after the date that the
parties are notified of such appraisals, the two appraisers previously retained shall
jointly appoint a third similarly qualified and experienced appraiser. If such two
appraisers are unable to agree upon the appointment of a third appraiser within such
twenty (20) day period, they will give written notice of such failure to agree to the
parties, and thereafter, if the parties fail to agree upon the selection of a third
appraiser within ten (10) additional days after they are so advised, then either party
may make application to the then-acting chief judge of the circuit court for Dane
County, Wisconsin, to designate or appoint such third appraiser. Each of the parties
shall pay one-half (1/2) of the fees of the third appraiser.

(4) The third appraiser shall then be instructed as the initial two
appraisers were previously instructed to prepare an appraisal showing the fair
market value of Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises. The third appraiser
shall notify both parties, simultaneously and in writing, of its determination as

D-12





described herein within thirty (30) days after his or her appointment, and (A) if the
fair market value determined by the third appraiser is between the fair market values
determined by the initial two appraisers, the fair market value determined by the
third appraiser shall be the fair market value of Landlord’s interest in the Demised
Premises, and (B) if the fair market value determined by the third appraiser is either
below or above both of the fair market values determined by the initial two
appraisers, the arithmetic average of (i) the third appraiser’s appraisal and (ii) the
appraisal prepared by the first two appraisers that is closest to the third appraiser’s,
shall be the fair market value of Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises. Any
such determination made pursuant to the provisions herein shall be conclusively
binding upon the parties.

(©) (1) In the event of a taking (or purchase) not resulting in the termination of this
Lease, pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (a) of this Section 16, Tenant shall, at its own cost
and expense, make all repairs to the Improvements on the Demised Premises affected by such
taking (or purchase) to the extent necessary to restore the same to a complete architectural unit (to
the extent permitted, however, taking into consideration the amount of land remaining after any
such taking or purchase), provided, however, that Tenant shall not be obligated to expend an
amount in excess of the portion of the net award distributed to Tenant for such purposes, as
hereinafter provided.

2) All compensation available or paid to Landlord and Tenant upon such a partial
taking (or purchase) shall be distributed in the same manner as is provided in subparagraphs (1) and
(2) of paragraph (b) of this Section 16 except that Landlord’s Share shall be reduced proportionately
corresponding to the proportion of the total square footage of land of the Demised Premises so taken
(or purchased); and except that all compensation for any temporary taking shall be distributed to
Tenant without participation by Landlord. In any event, there shall be no abatement of rent as a result
of any partial taking that does not result in a termination of this Lease.

SECTION 17. Permitted Fee Mortgage. (a) During the term of this Lease, Landlord shall
have the right or power to mortgage or otherwise create a security interest affecting its fee interest
in the Demised Premises, and to renew, modify, replace, consolidate, extend or refinance such
mortgage (such mortgage, as the same may be renewed, modified, replaced, extended,
consolidated or refinanced being hereinafter called “Permitted Fee Mortgage”), subject, however
to the following:

(1) The holder of such Permitted Fee Mortgage shall not, in the exercise of any of its
rights arising or which may arise therefrom, disturb or deprive Tenant in or of its possession or its
right to possession of the Demised Premises, or of any part thereof under this Lease, or any right
or privilege created for or inuring to the benefit of Tenant under this Lease or to any Leasehold
Mortgagee(s) of Tenant’s interest herein, provided that this Lease or any new lease contemplated
by Section 18(f) hereof is then in full force and effect;

(2) In the event of a default under any such Permitted Fee Mortgage, and if this Lease
shall, immediately prior to such default, be in full force and effect, then, and in such event, Tenant
shall not be made a party in any action or proceeding to foreclose said Permitted Fee Mortgage,
nor shall Tenant be evicted or removed or its or their possession or right of possession be disturbed
or in any manner interfered with, and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect as a direct

D-13





lease from the holder of the Permitted Fee Mortgage or purchaser in foreclosure to Tenant under
the terms and provisions of this Lease;

3) Tenant and Landlord each covenant to execute and deliver, whenever required by
the other, proper instruments evidencing the provisions of this Section;

(4) If Landlord shall fail or refuse to execute the documents referred to in subsection
(a)(3) of this Section, Tenant shall be entitled to such remedies at law and/or in equity to which it
may be entitled (including specific performance and declaratory judgment); and

(5) Each Permitted Fee Mortgage shall contain the following provisions, among others,
in form satisfactory to Tenant:

(1) A provision, unless waived by Leasehold Mortgagee or Tenant,
obligating the holder thereof to release insurance and condemnation proceeds in accordance with
the provisions of this Lease; and

(11) A provision, unless waived by Tenant, pursuant to which the holder
of a Permitted Fee Mortgage shall grant the non-disturbance assurances and attornments required
under this Lease to be given by Landlord to any subtenant of the Demised Premises.

(b) The term “Permitted Fee Mortgage,” whenever used herein, shall include whatever
security instruments are used in the locale of the Demised Premises, such as, without limitation,
deeds of trust, security deeds and conditional deeds, as well as financing statements, security
agreements and other documentation required pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code. The
term “Permitted Fee Mortgage” whenever used herein, shall also include any instruments required
in connection with a sale-leaseback transaction.

SECTION 18. Leasehold Mortgages. Tenant is hereby given the right by Landlord,
without Landlord’s prior written consent, to mortgage its interests in this Lease, or any part or
parts thereof, upon the condition that all rights acquired under such leasehold mortgage(s) (each a
“Leasehold Mortgage” and, collectively, the “Leasehold Mortgages™) shall be subject to each and
all of the covenants, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Lease, and to all rights and interests
of Landlord herein. If Tenant shall mortgage its interests in this Lease, or any part or parts thereof,
and if the holder(s) of such Leasehold Mortgage(s) shall, within thirty (30) days of its execution,
send to Landlord a true copy thereof, together with written notice specifying the name and address
of the Leasehold Mortgagee and the pertinent recording date with respect to such Leasehold
Mortgage(s), Landlord agrees that so long as any such Leasehold Mortgage(s) shall remain
unsatisfied of record or until written notice of satisfaction is given by the holder(s) to Landlord,
the following provisions shall apply:

(a) There shall be no cancellation, surrender or modification of this Lease by joint action
of Landlord and Tenant without the prior consent in writing of the Leasehold Mortgagee(s);

(b) Landlord shall, upon serving Tenant with any notice of default, simultaneously serve
a copy of such notice upon the holder(s) of such Leasehold Mortgage(s). The Leasehold
Mortgagee(s) shall thereupon have the same period, after service of such notice upon it, to remedy





or cause to be remedied the defaults complained of, and Landlord shall accept such performance
by or at the instigation of such Leasehold Mortgagee(s) as if the same had been done by Tenant;

(c) Anything herein contained notwithstanding, while such Leasehold Mortgage(s)
remains unsatisfied of record, or until written notice of satisfaction is given by the holder(s) to
Landlord, if any default shall occur which, pursuant to any provision of this Lease, entitles
Landlord to terminate this Lease, and if before the expiration of ninety (90) days from the date of
service of notice of termination upon such Leasehold Mortgagee(s) such Leasehold Mortgagee(s)
shall have notified Landlord of its desire to nullify such notice and shall have paid to Landlord all
rent and additional rent and other payments herein provided for, and then in default, and shall have
complied or shall commence the work of complying with all of the other requirements of this
Lease, except as provided in paragraph (g) of this Section 18, if any are then in default, and shall
prosecute the same to completion with reasonable diligence, then in such event Landlord shall not
be entitled to terminate this Lease and any notice of termination theretofore given shall be void
and of no effect;

(d) If the Landlord shall elect to terminate this Lease by reason of any default of Tenant,
the Leasehold Mortgagee(s) shall not only have the right to nullify any notice of termination by
curing such default, as aforesaid, but shall also have the right to postpone and extend the specified
date for the termination of this Lease as fixed by Landlord in its notice of termination, for a period
of not more than one hundred eighty (180) days, provided that such Leasehold Mortgagee(s) shall
cure or cause to be cured any then existing monetary defaults and meanwhile pay the rent,
additional rent and comply with and perform all of the other terms, conditions and provisions of
this Lease on Tenant’s part to be complied with and performed, other than past non-monetary
defaults, and provided further that the Leasehold Mortgagee(s) shall forthwith take steps to acquire
or sell Tenant’s interest in this Lease by foreclosure of the Leasehold Mortgage(s) or otherwise
and shall prosecute the same to completion with all due diligence. If at the end of said one hundred
eighty (180) day period the Leasehold Mortgagee(s) shall be actively engaged in steps to acquire
or sell Tenant’s interest herein, the time of said Leasehold Mortgagee to comply with the
provisions of this Section 18 shall be extended for such period as shall be reasonably necessary to
complete such steps with reasonable diligence and continuity;

(e) Landlord agrees that the name of the Leasehold Mortgagee(s) may be added to the
“Loss Payable Endorsement” of any and all insurance policies required to be carried by Tenant
hereunder on condition that the insurance proceeds are to be applied in the manner specified in
this Lease and that the Leasehold Mortgage(s) or collateral document shall so provide;

€3] Landlord agrees that in the event of termination of this Lease by reason of any
default by Tenant other than for nonpayment of rent or additional rent and other payments herein
provided for, that Landlord will enter into a new Lease of the Demised Premises with the
Leasehold Mortgagee(s) or its nominee(s), for the remainder of the term, effective as of the date
of such termination, at the rent and additional rent and upon the terms, provisions, covenants and
agreements as herein contained and subject only to the same conditions of title as this Lease is
subject to on the date of the execution hereof, and to the rights, if any, of any parties then in
possession of any part of the Demised Premises, provided:

(1) Said Leasehold Mortgagee(s) or its nominee(s) shall make written request
upon Landlord for such new Lease within thirty (30) days after the date of such termination and

D-15





such written request is accompanied by payment to Landlord of sums then due to Landlord under
this Lease;

(2) Said Leasehold Mortgagee(s) or its nominee(s) shall pay to Landlord at the
time of the execution and delivery of said new Lease, any and all sums which would at the time of
the execution and delivery thereof, be due pursuant to this Lease but for such termination, and in
addition thereto, any expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees, to which Landlord shall have
been subjected by reason of such default;

3) Said Leasehold Mortgagee(s) or its nominee(s) shall perform and observe
all covenants herein contained on Tenant’s part to be performed and shall further remedy any other
conditions which Tenant under the terminated Lease was obligated to perform under the terms of
this Lease; and upon execution and delivery of such new Lease, any subleases which may have
theretofore been assigned and transferred by Tenant to Landlord, as security under this Lease, shall
thereupon be deemed to be held by Landlord as security for the performance of all of the
obligations of tenant under the new lease;

(4) Landlord shall not warrant possession of the Demised Premises to tenant
under the new Lease;

(%) Such new Lease shall be expressly made subject to the rights, if any, of
Tenant under the terminated Lease;

(6) The tenant under such new Lease shall have the same right, title and interest
in and to the buildings and improvements on the Demised Premises as Tenant had under the
terminated Lease; and

(7) Said tenant’s use of the Demised Premises shall be in accordance with
Section 5 of this Lease.

(g) Nothing herein contained shall require the Leasehold Mortgagee(s) or its nominee(s)
to cure any default of Tenant referred to in Section 20 hereof;

(h) The proceeds from any insurance policies or arising from a condemnation are to be
held by any Leasehold Mortgagee(s) and distributed pursuant to the provisions of this Lease;

(1) The Leasehold Mortgagee(s) shall be given notice of any arbitration proceedings by
the parties hereto, and shall have the right to intervene therein and be made a party to such
proceedings, and the parties hereto do hereby consent to such intervention. In the event that the
Leasehold Mortgagee(s) shall receive notice of, and a copy of any award or decision made in said
arbitration proceedings; and

() Landlord shall, upon request, execute, acknowledge and deliver to each Leasehold
Mortgagee(s), an agreement prepared at the sole cost and expense of Tenant, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, among Landlord, Tenant and Leasehold Mortgagee(s),
agreeing to all of the provisions of this Section 18.





SECTION 19. Quiet Enjoyment. Tenant, upon paying the rent and additional rent and all
other sums and charges to be paid by it as herein provided, and observing and keeping all
covenants, warranties, agreements and conditions of this Lease on its part to be kept, shall quietly
have and enjoy the Demised Premises during the term of this Lease, without hindrance or
molestation by anyone.

SECTION 20. Defaults. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute a default
by Tenant hereunder:

(a) If Tenant shall fail to pay rent or any other amounts payable hereunder within thirty
(30) days after written notice from Landlord to pay rent or any other amounts payable hereunder;

(b) If Tenant defaults in the prompt and full performance or observance of any other
term, covenant, agreement or provision of this Lease (i.e., other than the failure to timely pay rent
as set forth in Section 20(a) above or any default as set forth in Section 20(c) below), and, such
default continues for sixty (60) business days after receipt of written notice of default from
Landlord (provided, however, that if the nature of such default is such that the same is ultimately
capable of being cured but cannot reasonably be cured within said sixty (60)-day period, said sixty
(60)-day period shall be extended for such additional time, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180)
days, as may reasonably be required for Tenant to cure such default provided Tenant promptly
undertakes to cure such default and prosecutes the same to conclusion with reasonable diligence);
or

() The occurrence of any of the events set forth in Section 21 hereof.

Upon the occurrence of any one or more defaults by Tenant, in addition to any and
all remedies it may have in law and/or equity, Landlord may, without further notice to Tenant,
recover possession of and reenter the Demised Premises without affecting Tenant’s liability for
past rent and other sums due or future rent and other sums to accrue hereunder. In the event of
any such default, Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant, in addition to rent, all other
damages sustained by Landlord on account of the breach of this Lease, including, but not limited
to, the costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by Landlord in enforcing the terms and
provisions hereof and in reentering and recovering possession of the Demised Premises and for
the cost of repairs, alterations and brokerage and attorney fees connected with the reletting of the
Demised Premises. Further, at the election of Landlord, Landlord shall have the right to declare
this Lease terminated and cancelled, without any further rights or obligations on the part of
Landlord or Tenant (other than Tenant’s obligation for rent and other sums due and owing through
the date of termination), so that Landlord may relet the Demised Premises without any right on the
part of Tenant to any credit or payment resulting from any reletting of the Demised Premises. In
case of a default under this Lease, Landlord may, in addition to terminating this Lease, or in lieu
thereof, pursue such other remedy or combination of remedies and recover such other damages for
breach of tenancy and/or contract as available at law or otherwise.

Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, cure any default by Tenant (specifically
including, but not by way of limitation, Tenant’s failure to obtain insurance, make repairs, or
satisfy lien claims) and whenever Landlord so elects, all costs and expenses paid by Landlord in
curing such default, including without limitation attorney fees, shall be payable to Landlord as
additional rent due on demand.





No receipt of money by Landlord from Tenant after the expiration or termination
of this Lease or after the service of any notice or after the commencement of any suit, or after
final judgment for possession of the Demised Premises shall reinstate, continue or extend the
term of this Lease or affect any such notice, demand or suit.

SECTION 21. Bankruptcy and Insolvency. If, after the commencement of the term of this

Lease:

(a)  the Tenant then in possession of the Demised Premises or any guarantor of this Lease
shall be adjudicated a bankrupt or adjudged to be insolvent and such finding has not been reversed
within sixty (60) days;

(b) areceiver or trustee shall be appointed for the Tenant’s property and affairs or any
guarantor’s of this Lease property and affairs and such appointment has not been revoked within
sixty (60) days;

(©) the Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease shall make an assignment for the benefit
of creditors or shall file a petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or for reorganization or shall make
application for the appointment of a receiver; or

(d) any execution or attachment shall be issued against the Tenant or any of the Tenant’s
property, or that of any guarantor of this Lease, whereby the Demised Premises or any building or
buildings or any improvements thereon shall be taken or occupied or attempted to be taken or
occupied by someone other than the Tenant, except as may herein be permitted, and such
adjudication, appointment, assignment, petition, execution or attachment shall not be set aside,
vacated, discharged or bonded within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the issuance of the
same; then, in any such event set forth in (a) — (d) above, a default under Section 20 shall be
deemed to have occurred so that the provisions of Section 20 hereof shall become effective and
Landlord shall have the rights and remedies provided for therein.

SECTION 22. Waivers. Failure of Landlord or Tenant to complain of any act or omission
on the part of the other party no matter how long the same may continue, shall not be deemed to
be a waiver by said party of any of its rights hereunder. No waiver by Landlord or Tenant at any
time, express or implied, of any breach of any provision of this Lease shall be deemed a waiver of
a breach of any other provision of this Lease or a consent to any subsequent breach of the same or
any other provision. No acceptance by Landlord of any partial payment shall constitute an accord
or satisfaction but shall only be deemed a part payment on account.

SECTION 23. Limitation of Liability. Tenant confirms that Landlord has made no
representations or promises with respect to the Demised Premises or the making or entry into of
this Lease except as are expressly set forth herein, and agrees that no claim or liability shall be
asserted by Tenant against Landlord for, and Landlord shall not be liable by reason of, breach of
any representations or promises not expressly stated in this Lease. It is specifically understood
and agreed that there shall be absolutely no personal liability on the part of the members of
Landlord and Tenant shall look solely to the Demised Premises and Landlord’s interest in the
Demised Premises for the satisfaction of each and every remedy of Tenant in the event of any
breach by Landlord, such exculpation of personal liability to be absolute and without any exception
whatsoever.






SECTION 24. Force Majeure. In the event that Landlord or Tenant shall be delayed,
hindered in or prevented from the performance of any act required hereunder by reason of strikes,
lock-outs, labor troubles, inability to procure materials, failure of power, restrictive governmental
laws or regulations, riots, insurrection, the act, failure to act or default of the other party, war or
other reason beyond their control, then performance of such act shall be excused for the period of
the delay and the period for the performance of any such act shall be extended for a period
equivalent to the period of such delay. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no event of force majeure
shall excuse the payment of any monies due under this Lease and the financial inability of any
party to perform its obligations hereunder shall not be excused by the provisions of this Section
24,

SECTION 25. Notices. All communications or notices required or permitted by this Lease
shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (i) upon delivery to an officer of the
person entitled to such notice, if hand delivered, or (ii) two business days following deposit in the
United States mail, postage prepaid, or (iii) one business day following deposit with a nationally
recognized overnight commercial carrier that will certify as to the date and time of delivery, airbill
prepaid, or (iv) upon transmission if by facsimile, and each such communication or notice shall be
addressed as follows, unless and until any of such parties notifies the other in accordance with this
Section of a change of address:

If to Landlord: Stoughton Housing Authority of the
City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
c/o Stoughton City Hall
207 S. Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589
Attn: David Ehlinger, Chair of Stoughton
Housing Authority

If to Tenant: c/o Crown Court Properties, Ltd.
2233 W. Mequon Road
Mequon, WI 53092
Attn: Menachem Rapoport Vice President

SECTION 26. Certificates. Either party shall, without charge, at any time and from time
to time hereafter, within ten (10) days after written request of the other, certify by written
instrument duly executed and acknowledged to any mortgagee or purchaser, or proposed
mortgagee or proposed purchaser, or any other person, firm or corporation specified in such
request:

(a) as to whether this Lease has been supplemented or amended, and if so, the substance
and manner of such supplement or amendment;

(b) as to the validity and force and effect of this Lease, in accordance with its tenor as
then constituted;

(©) as to the existence of any default hereunder;





(d) as to the existence of any offsets, counterclaims or defenses thereto on the part of
such other party;

(e) as to the commencement and expiration dates of the term of this Lease; and
€3] as to any other matters as may reasonably be so requested.

Any such certificate may be relied upon by the party requesting it and any other person, firm or
corporation to whom the same may be exhibited or delivered, and the contents of such certificate
shall be binding on the party executing same.

SECTION 27. Governing Law. This Lease and the performance thereof shall be governed,
interpreted, construed and regulated by the laws of the State of Wisconsin.

SECTION 28. Partial Invalidity. If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this
Lease or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, at any time or to any extent,
be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term or
provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid or
unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term, covenant, condition and provision of
this Lease shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

SECTION 29. Short Form Lease. The parties will at any time, at the request of either one,
promptly execute duplicate originals of an instrument, in recordable form, which will constitute a
short form of this Lease, setting forth a description of the Demised Premises, the term of this Lease
and any other portions thereof, excepting the rental provisions, as either party may reasonably
request.

SECTION 30. Interpretation. Wherever herein the singular number is used, the same shall
include the plural, and the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders, and
vice versa, as the context shall require. The section headings used herein are for reference and
convenience only, and shall not enter into the interpretation hereof. This Lease may be executed
in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and
the same instrument. The terms “Landlord” and “Tenant” whenever used herein shall mean only
the owner at the time of Landlord’s or Tenant’s interest herein, and upon any sale or assignment
of the interest of either Landlord or Tenant herein, their respective successors in interest and/or
assigns shall, during the term of their ownership of their respective estates herein, be deemed to
be Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be.

SECTION 31. Parties. Except as herein otherwise expressly provided, the covenants,
conditions and agreements contained in this Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of Landlord
and Tenant and their respective heirs, successors, administrators and assigns.

SECTION 32. Definitions. Capitalized terms used throughout this Lease, to the extent not
otherwise defined herein, shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Addendum attached
hereto and incorporated herein by reference thereto.

D-20





[Signatures on Following Page]

D-21





IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals the
day and year first above written.

LANDLORD:

STOUGHTON HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN

By:
Name:
Title:

TENANT:

CROWN COURT PROPERTIES, LTD., or assigns

By:

Menachem Rapoport, Vice President

[Signature Page to Ground Lease]

D-22





EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LAND

[To be Inserted)]

28517571.2

D-23






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Amend 2023 adopted budget for Diversity, Inclusion and Equity Task Force strategic plan

Committee Finance Committee recommended approval  on 01/10/2023
Action:

Fiscal Impact: $18,300

File Number: R-xxx-2023 Date 01/24/23

The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows:

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton Common Council approved R-101-2020, a special
resolution condemning racial injustice and hate and to strive for racial equity, on June 9, 2020;
and,

WHEREAS, the Community Affairs/Council Policy (CA/CP) Committee meetings in the
fall of 2020 and summer of 2021 include Community Listening Sessions on racial equity; and,

WHEREAS, the Common Council approved the creation of the Diversity, Equity, and
Inclusion (DEI) Task Force as an ad-hoc committee of the CA/CP Committee under R-003-2022
on January 25, 2022 for the development of a strategic plan; and,

WHEREAS, the DEI Task Force has been developing a strategic plan and recognizes the
need for professional assistance to complete the task; and,

WHEREAS, the DEI Task Force recommended hiring a Facilitator/Project Manager to
execute the completion of the strategic plan for a cost not to exceed $18,300 on January 4, 2023;
and,

WHEREAS, the adopted 2023 budget does not include any funding for the DEI Task
Force; and,

WHEREAS, the Director of Finance/Comptroller recommends funding for the strategic
plan be included in the Common Council’s budget with a transfer from the General Fund
Unassigned Fund Balance; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton Finance Committee recommends amending the 2023
adopted budget to include $18,300 in the Common Council budget for completion of a strategic
plan by the DEI Task Force;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the 2023 adopted budget be amended to





include $18,300 in the Common Council budget for professional services to complete the strategic
plan by the Diversity, Inclusion and Equity Task Force; and,

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that funding for these professional services within the
Common Council’s budget shall come from the General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance.

Fiscal note: Budget amendments require approval of nine (9) members elected. Total
expenditures will increase by 336,600 including the transfer of funds from General Revenues to
Common Council.

Council Action: I:IAdopted I:I Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: I:IAccept I:I Veto

Mayor Tim Swadley Date

Council Action: |:| Override Vote







CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

A Special Resolution Condemning Racial Injustice and Hate and to Strive for Racial Equity

Committee Action:
Fiscal Impact: None

File Number: R-101-2020 Date Introduced: June 9, 2020

A SPECIAL RESOLUTION condemning racial injustice & hate and to strive for racial
equity., The City of Stoughton Common Council supports a public commitment to
addressing the historical inequities of race, place and identity throughout our City, Dane
County, State of Wisconsin and our nation.

WHEREAS, legislative reforms such as the Civil Rights Act of 1964 have been adopted
banning discrimination because of a person's color, race, national origin, religion, or sex
and have supported progress towards racial and social justice; and

WHEREAS, “equality” is enshrined in the founding documents of our nation as one of the
highest ideals in American culture, yet race nevertheless can predict one’s success on any
and all such indicators in Wisconsin and around the country, where equity of opportunity
and outcomes remain elusive for far too many;

WHEREAS, black and brown populations in Wisconsin are far more likely to be the
victims of violent crime and are over-represented in the State’s population of
homeless and incarcerated persons, are more likely to live in areas without access to
adequate transportation, employment, nutritious food, healthcare and pathways to
home ownership;

WHEREAS, this Council reaffirms its commitment to principles of equality and freedom
for all people regardless of sex, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender identity, ability,
and national origin;

WHEREAS, this Council acknowledges that many of these inequities are still encoded and
enforced, either implicitly or subversively, in our laws, policies, and government at every
level,

WHEREAS, this Council declares racism and all systemic discrimination based on identity
unjust, supports equity and equal rights for all, and affirms the City's commitment to ending
disparities based on race, place, or identity.





THEREFORE be it resolved by the City of Stoughton Common Council that

1. The Community Affairs/Council Policy Committee pledges to develop

strategies in working with City Leadership and members of the community to
end racial disparities in Stoughton; and

The principles of inclusiveness and respect are values that can create a healthier

and welcoming community, propagaie a more productive workplace and
cultivate policies and outcomes that benefit the entire City and all its citizens.

Council Action: /_ Adopted Failed vote _|1-O

A - Boersma aDstu e

Mayoral Action: | Accept Veto

- aremerr]

Tim Sw.

,~-91-20

Date

Council Action: D Override Vote







~ RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

Community Affairs/Council Policy is recommending that the City of Stoughton Common Council
approve the formation of the Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force.

Commiftee Action: ~ CACP Committee recommended approval 6-0

File Number: R-3-2022 Date Introduced:  January 25, 2022

Whereas, the City of Stoughton affirms its commitment to ensuring our Community is one that is open,
inclusive and welcoming to all individuals regardless of age, gender, race, culture, sexual orientation,
religion/spiritual practice, ability or any other significant identity.

Whereas, the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin Common Council approved a Special Resolution Condemning
Racial Injustice and Hate and to Strive for Racial Equity on June 9%, 2020

Whereas, further Community Affairs/Council Policy meetings were held including Community Listening
Sessions on Racial Equity in Fall 2020 and Summer 2021

Whereas, we recognize diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) makes our Community vital and stronger; and to
quote the wise words of Maya Angelou, Diversity makes for a rich tapestry and we must understand that all the
threads of the tapestry are equal in value no matter what their color.

Therefore, be it resolved by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the Diversity, Equity
& TInclusion Task Force be formed with a minimum of 2 Common Council members, minimum 1 City Staff
member and, given the focus on a grassroots collective, any Community members, appointed by the Mayor
with the consent of the Common Council, with a passion for DEI and commitment to social justice.

The Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force is empowered with developing a Strategic Plan during
2022-2023 including DEI events & opportunities. It is anticipated the task force will present updates to
Community Affairs/Council Policy during 2022-2023 and then to the Stoughton Community and Committee of
the Whole in Fall 2023,

Council Action: |¥”| Adopted || Failed  Vote __ 10\

Mayoral Action: iZI Accept l:' Veto
i)\/vv\, f; )b(ﬂ/—&gg V- AS- 2203,
Tim Swadley, Mayor Date

Council Action: I:I Override Yote






Stoughton Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force Working Document

Overview

The City of Stoughton affirms its commitment to ensuring our community is one that is open,
inclusive, and welcoming to all individuals regardless of age, gender, race, culture, sexual
orientation, religion/spiritual practice, abilitics or any other significant known identity. In an effort
to advance this vision and amplify the voice of diverse communities within Stoughton, the
Community Affairs/Council Policy (CA/CP) of the Common Council is recommending the
establishment of a Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Task Force.

The task force will work to develop strategies to help the City build stronger relationships with
diverse communities. Through engagement and listening, the task force will identify issues and
barriers that may limit members of our community from full participation in civic life. Acting as a
community voice, the task force will prepare and present a DEI Strategic Plan detailing
recommended actions the City may engage in to help ensure Stoughton is welcoming to all.

The task force will report updates to CA/CP in 2022 and 2023.’ﬁ is anticipated the task force will
present its recommendations to the Stoughton Community and Committee of the Whole in Fall
2023,

Potential Timeline

June 9, 2020 Special Resolution Condemning Racial Injustice and Hate and to Strive for Racial
Equity

Later 2021/Early & Mid 2021 Intermittent CA/CP Discussions

August 2021 Community Listening Sessions on Racial Equity

Fall 2021 CACP discussion, recommend Task Force

January/February 2022 Announce Task Force, seek applicants

Late Winter/Spring 2022 Appoint members, initial meeting,

12 — 15 month development of Strategic Plan with DEI events, opportunities

2023 (Fall anticipated) Presentation of DEI Strategic Plan to Stoughton Community and Committee
of the Whole





Potential Resolution

Community Affairs/Council Policy is recommending that the City of Stoughton Common Council
approve the formation of the Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force.

Whereas, the City of Stoughton affirms its commitment to ensuring our Community is one that is
open, inclusive and welcoming to all individuals regardless of age, gender, race, culture, sexual
orientation, religion/spiritual practice, ability or any other significant identity

Whereas, the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin Common Council approved a Special Resolution
Condemning Racial Injustice and Hate and to Strive for Racial Equity on June 9th, 2020

Whereas, further Community Affairs/Council Policy meetings were held including Community
Listening Sessions on Racial Equity in Fall 2020 and Summer 2021

Whereas, we recognize diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) makes our Community vital and
stronger; and to quote the wise words of Maya Angelou, Diversity makes for a rich tapestry and we
must understand that all the threads of the tapestry are equal in value no matter what their color

Therefore, be it resolved by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the Diversity,
Equity & Inclusion Task Force be formed with a minimum of 2 Common Council members,
minimum 2 City Staff members and, given the focus on a grassroots collective, any Community
members, appointed by the Mayor with the consent of the Common Council, with a passion for
DEI and commitment to social justice.,

The Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force is empowered with developing a Str ategw Plan
during 2022-2023 including DEI events & opportunities. It is anticipated the task force RAN present
updates to Community Affairs/Council Policy during 2022-2023 and then to the Stoughton
Community and Committee of the Whole in Fall 2023.






Potential Application

CITY OF STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL
Community Affairs/Council Policy

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force Application

If you are interested in serving our community on the Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI) Task Force, please
complete this application form and return it by email to the City Clerk: Candee Christen
cchristen@ci.stoughton.wi.us or you can land mail it to City Hall Attn: City Clerk, 207 S. Forrest St., Stoughton, W1
53589. If you have additional questions, please contact City Hall at 608-873-6677 or email Candee Christen at the
email listed above.

Thank you for your interest!

Name:

Street Address:

City: State: Zip Code:
Phone #: Email:

Related Experiences and Strengths (feel free to attach your resume if you have one):

How would you describe your current thinking about diversity, equity & inclusion
and has your thinking changed over time? If so, please describe.

What motivates you to be part of this working group?

Can you commit to six to eight (virtual) meetings (utilizing a doodle poll, most
likely weekday evenings and/or Saturday late morning lasting 60-90 minutes) in
2022 and also six to eight (virtual) meetings in 20237






Potential FAQ document

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Task Force

Most Frequently Asked Questions

What is a Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Task Force?

A Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Task Force (DEI) can take on different for to ms depending on
how it is implemented and how it is utilized. In Stoughton, the task force will begin at the
grassroots by leading efforts to engage and listen to diverse communities within Stoughton. Task
force members are empowered to make recommendations regarding policy, practices, and
standards in a strategic plan to help Stoughton result in positive change.

Why does Stoughton need a Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Task Force?

In the resolution entitled A Special Resolution Condemning Racial Injustice and Hate and to Strive
for Racial Equity, the Common Council emphasized a desire to see take proactive steps taken
ensure Stoughton is open and welcoming to all individuals. A more inclusive and welcoming
Stoughton improves everyone’s quality of life. Stoughton is stronger when everyone fully
participates and engages in civic life. The formation of the task force isn’t the conclusion of this
effort, but an important step toward work that remains in progress and to lead to positive systemic
change,

How will the members be selected?

An application will be posted on the city’s website. Selected applicants will be appointed by the
Mayor with consent of the City Council. Community Affairs/Council Policy and the Mayor desire
to recommend the appointment of individuals who will give voice to a variety of different
perspectives and experiences.

What is the time commitment?

The task force will meet at least once every other month; initially monthly. It is anticipated
meetings will take place weekday evenings or later Saturday mornings. Members may expect to
dedicate 2-3 hours a month outside of meetings depending on task force activities. The time
commitment may vary as the task force progresses in its work. The Stoughton DEI Task Force is
anticipated to complete its work in the Fall of 2023,

Where will meetings take place?

Meetings will likely take place virtually. Eventually, meetings may take place at the Library or City
Hall, depending on availability of space, schedules, and COVID-19 recommendations. DEI Task
Force activities may be conducted virtually or at alternative locations as necessary.





What will the Task Force do?

The task force will work in partnership with CA/CP and City Staff to coordinate outreach and
develop recommendations to ensure Stoughton is a welcoming and inclusive community.

Through engagement and listening, this task force will work to identify issues and any barriers that
may prevent friends or neighbors from fully participating in civic life. To accomplish this the task
force may compile data, conduct surveys, interview residents, gain insight from experts, and
coordinate community focused activities.

What does the DEI Task Force present the Community and Committee of the
Whole?

The task force will develop and present its findings in the form of a DEI Strategic Plan to
Community Affairs/Council Policy and then to the Stoughton Community and Committee of the
Whole, including key themes identified in its engagement and recommendations related to relevant
policies and practices. As a starting point, the task force will focus on actions that:

* Ensure Stoughton is open and welcoming to all
+ Help build new and stronger relationships with diverse communities

* Facilitate a greater understanding of relevant issues, barriers, disparities, and recognition of how
diversity strengthens our community

» Identify barriers and address challenges to a more diverse workforce and representation across the
breadth of elected officials, boards, and committees. CA/CP anticipates that task force members
will have the opportunity to remain involved and assist with implementation and ongoing work
related to diversity, equity, and inclusion in Stoughton beyond 2023.





Resources

Strategic Plans

https://plandev.countvofdane.com/documents/RGEI/RGE]-Final-Plan-03.05.20.pdf Dane County
https://www.happyvalleyor.gov/diversity-equity-and-inclusion-committee/ Happy Valley Oregon pop. 20,000
https://www.ci.northfield. mn.us/DocumentCenter/View/9661/Northfield-Racial-Equity-Action-Plan?bidid= Northfield,
MN pop. 20,000

Events/Webpage
https://equity.countyofdane.com/Cultural-Events Dane County Cuitural Updates and Events

https://www.ci.cedarburg.wi.us/diversity-equity-and-inclusion-task-force Cedarburg pop. 12,000
https.//www.geneva.il,us/1392/Diversity-Equity-Inclusion-Task-Force Geneva, IL pop. 22,000

hitps://www.vi.cottagegrove wi.gov/610/Ad-Hoc-Diversity-Equity-and-Inclusion-Co Cottage Grove
https://www.cityofmadison.com/civil-rights/programs/racial-equity-social-justice-initiative Madison
https://www.cityofmiddieton.us/611/Equity Middleton
https://www.mymonona,com/1510/Diversity-Equity-and-Inclusion-Efforts Monona

Meount Horeb

Oregon

https://cityofsunprairie.com/929/Biversity-and-Inclusion  Sun Prairie

Verona

htips://www.vil. waunakee.wi.us/918/Diversity-Equity-Inclusion Waunakee

https://equity.countyofdane.com/ Dane County

Other Resources

https://wisconsin.planning.org/knowledge-center/equity-and-inclusive-planning/
https://www.wicounties.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Governing-For-Equity-implementing-an-Equity-Lens-in-
Local-Government.pdf

https://www.racialequityalliance.org/tools-resources/
https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Governance/Citizen-Participation-and-Engagement/DE|-Resources-for-Local-
Government.aspx

https://www.ci.northfield.mn.us/1372/Diversity-Equity-and-Inclusion Northfield, MN
https://wwhttps://www.platteville.org/bc/page/task-force-inclusion-diversity-and-equity-tide  Platteville
w.wauwatosa.net/government/open-government/making-wauwatosa-more-inclusive Wauwatosa

Images

https://www.mranet.org/sites/default/files/image/2019-11/bigstock%20-%20diversity.ipg

https://shim-

res.cloudinary.com/image/upload/c crop,h 718w 1277,x Oy 0/w auto:100,w 1200,q 35,f auto/vl/Competencies/i
Stock-1290118946 zviexv.ipg

https://encrypted-
tbn0.gstatic.com/images?q=tbn:ANd9GcQialeH5403c4CHAyyxh71apZxSacseWXNXECS82msBuwBMESYDzA-
734b00Y40k7PamTU&usqp=CAU

https://encrypted-

tbn0.gstatic.com/images?g=tbn:ANd9GcToz6dtVOSEWxbt Z9GEUiByhxNG1UZhBt3yQG27ilZedHzShnkfcB-
2044TnHRz9Ug7Cuk&usgp=CAU

https://encrypted-tbr(.gstatic.com/images?q=thbn:ANd9GcQYPULOUTEU sCto9i0FhUOnoXkiDSYIA-
ZQIFOfGEVxyREGQVLOs46UuSYsytn-9KL8Q&usqp=CAU











RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL

DEI Task force recommends approval up to $18,300 from the Reserve Fund Balance to hire a Facilitator/Project
Manager to execute the completion of the DEI Strategic Plan.

File Number: R--2023 Date Introduced:

Whereas, The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin Common Council approved a Special resolution
condemning Racial Injustice and Hate and to strive for Racial Equity on June 9, 2020

Whereas, Community Affairs Policy meetings were held including, Community Listening Sessions on
Racial Equity in the Fall of 2020 and Summer of 2021.

Whereas, The Common Council approved the formation of a Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI)
Task Force on January 25, 2022

Whereas, The Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Task Force is charged with developing a Strategic Plan
during 2022- 2023 including DEI events & opportunities and anticipate presenting the Strategic Plan to
the City and Stoughton Community in Fall 2023

Whereas, the DEI Task Force has been developing the Strategic Plan and recognizes the need for
professional assistance to complete the task

Therefore be it resolved by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby approves hiring of a
Project Manager for Diversity, Equity & Inclusion for up to $18,300 during 2023-24. The DEI Project Manager
may utilize the resources of the Stoughton DEI Task Force and report to the Stoughton City Council directly.

Council Action: I:I Adopted I:I Failed Vote

Mayoral Action: I:I Accept I:I Veto

Tim Swadley, Mayor Date

Council Action: |:| Override Vote






MQSAIC

City of Stoughton

DEI Task Force:
Project Management
and Plan Development

Prepared By:
Mosaic LLC
Abha Thakkar, Owner

abha@mosaicmadison.com
(608) 213-6879
mosaicmadison.com





Q About Mosaic

Mosaic LLC is a community-based consulting company founded by Abha Thakkar, a
community organizer, facilitator and nonprofit administrator with 20+ years of local
leadership experience.

Mosaic brings a unigue combination of skills, experience and relationships to each
project. Our expertise includes grassroots leadership development, collective action,
non-extractive public engagement, trauma-informed care, food systems resilience,
community journalism, solidarity economics, restorative justice and nonprofit
operations, including fiscal management and policy and process development through
an antiracist lens.

As an organization led by an Indian American woman, Mosaic has deep ties to municipal
and county government, dozens of nonprofits, local businesses and communities of
color and often works through subcontracts with other leaders of color to ensure
authentic and non-extractive processes that center people with lived experience.

Mosaic's portfolio of work includes multiple cross-sector collective impact initiatives in
violence prevention, early childhood, worker-owned cooperative development, mental
health, and neighborhood-based health, which engage extensive networks of expertise
among leaders of color and people with lived experience.

Finally, Mosaic's approach of building trust and shared power among its partners plays a
critical role in ensuring that our work is broadly representative and, in the long-run,
restorative and generative for those involved and impacted.

Mosaic LLC - (608) 213-6879 - abha@mosaicmadison.com






@ Project Summary

The City of Stoughton DEI Task Force is seeking
project management and facilitation services on
behalf of the City of Stoughton's City Council
and municipal government to develop a plan to
address the goals outlined in the June 9, 2020
City Council Resolution R-101-2020:

1. The Community Affairs/Council Policy
Committee pledges to develop strategies in
working with City Leadership and members of
the community to end racial disparities in
Stoughton; and

2. The principles of inclusiveness and respect are
values that can create a healthier and welcoming
community, propagate a more productive
workplace and cultivate policies and outcomes
that benefit the entire City and all its citizens.

Scope of Services:

Mosaic LLC will create and facilitate a process that
supports the DEI Task Force in:
e Developing a shared vocabulary and
understanding of DEI issues;
e Finding clarity and alignment around the
scope, goals and timeline of a DEI plan;
¢ |dentifying and engaging stakeholders to
conduct an environmental scan and gather
feedback based on that scope; and
e Transforming that input into an actionable
plan that will help the City of Stoughton
achieve the values it aspires to in R-101-
2020.

Anticipated Outcomes:

A DEI Plan for the City of Stoughton co-created by
its residents and leaders that articulates the
values, goals and actionable work needed to
foster a more equitable, inclusive and just
community, as articulated in R-101-2020.

Mosaic LLC - (608) 213-6879 - abha@mosaicmadison.com






Q Project Timeline & Budget

Estimated
Hours

Project Tasks Timeframe

Establishing Healthy Group Process February 2023 6 $900

Community Training Workshops on various DEI topics to
help develop a shared vocabulary and framework for
plan development. Topics will include but are not
limited to: the history, attributes and impact of Cultures
of Dominance and Division and the transition to
Cultures of Interconnectedness and Liberation; levels of
impact: from individual to relational to institutional to
systems change; and the roles of power, intersectionality,
trauma, and restorative and transformative justice in DEI
work.

March-June 2023 24 $3600

Developing alignment on Values, Vision, Goals & Scope July - September

of DEI plan, including a survey of plans fromm comparable 5023 12 $1800
communities.
September -
October 2023 $450 -
Environmental Scan (TBD by the 3-15 hours $2250
established
scope of plan)
September -
October 2023 $450 -
Stakeholder Engagement (TBD by the 3-15 hours $2250
established
scope of plan)
. November - $1800 -
C le & Anal Feedback 12-20h
ompile nalyze Feedbac December, 2023 ours $3000
. December 2023 -
Develop & Write Pl 12h 1800
evelop rite Plan January 2024 ours $
January -
February 2024 $900 -
Share with stakeholders for final round of feedback (TBD - could be 6 -12 hours $1800
conducted by
group)
Submit Plan for Approval March 2024 6 hours $900
TOTAL 84 - 122 hours ::z'ggg "
i)

** The final cost will fall within this range but will be dependent on how much time the DEI Task Force would like
to engage Mosaic LLC for the environmental scan, stakeholder engagement, and data transcribing beyond
assisting the task force in designing those processes.

Mosaic LLC - (608) 213-6879 - abha@mosaicmadison.com






(Q Mosaic's Rate: $150 per billable hour

e Mosaic charges a consulting fee of $150 per billable hour, invoiced and paid on a
monthly or quarterly basis. This includes any direct service time and planning time
that is specific to a client's project. We do not charge for time spent in ongoing
model refinement, research and consultant professional development, even when
it directly benefits a specific client.

e Ourfeeincludes training in and use of all of our paid digital tools, at the interest
and consent of the client, with the option for clients to continue using any of those
tools at a reduced subscription fee once our contracted work is complete.

e Our fee also includes administrative costs and costs related to any subcontracting
relationships we establish to provide needed support. We strive to make our
services transparent and accessible while providing fair and equitable wages to
any subcontractor we engage. Mosaic will disclose the existence of any such
relationships to the client before work has been delegated.

e Finally, as part of our antiracist business model, we offer fees on a sliding scale to
ensure that we can support low-wealth communities and organizations in
building capacity and sustainability. We count on those who can afford to pay
market rates to do so, so we can offer reduced costs to those who cannot.

(Q Notes on Project Timeline

Mosaic LLC has attempted to outline a reasonable process and timeline to accomplish
this work. And in order for it to be truly reflective and inclusive of your commmunity and
responsive to its interests and needs, this timeline may need to be adapted. The timeline
and costs, as mentioned on page four, will also be dependent on how much time and
capacity the DEI Task Force and the City of Stoughton is able to leverage to conduct the
environmental scan, stakeholder engagement and data transcription.

Ultimately, in order to have true legitimacy and buy-in, a DEI plan has to include the
voices of people impacted at all levels. Our goal is to create something that the
community is invested in and committed to. This project, even more so than most, will
be a balancing act between the efficient use of time and resources and its eventual
efficacy and impact. We hope to strike a reasonable balance. This proposal reflects our
best estimates, knowing that this process will likely be an organic one as we together
explore these issues and learn more about your community's needs.

Mosaic LLC - (608) 213-6879 - abha@mosaicmadison.com







Abha Thakkar

Social Change Practitioner

A community organizer, trainer and nonprofit administrator with 20+ years of experience in
grassroots leadership, non-extractive community engagement, collective action, restorative
justice, policy development, local food resilience and systems analysis through an antiracist lens.

Recipient of the Madison Social Justice Center Visionary Award.

CONTACT PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE SINCE 2001
608-213-6879 Mosiac LLC, Owner & Lead Consultant
abha@mosaicmadison.com March 2021 - present
mosaicmadison.com e Facilitating and supporting cross-sector collective impact initiatives
in multiple issue areas including violence prevention, early childhood
CURRENT VOLUNTEER SERVICE services, land use and neighborhood-based health councils

e Workshops in grassroots and neighborhood leadership, racial justice,
nonprofit management, as well as executive and board coaching

Dane County Food Council e Community organizing training and advocacy campaign design

Madison Area Community Land e Nonprofit administration, capacity-building, program

Trust Board of Directors implementation, evaluation and assessment, and organizational and
policy development through an antiracist lens

e Antiracist public policy and process development

e Non-extractive community engagement, outreach and input

e Communications, publishing and storytelling

EDUCATION e Harm repair, trauma-informed care, and nature-based healing

e Circle process, meeting, and strategic planning facilitation services

e Participation in Johns Hopkins Racial Equity and Economic Justice

Dane County Violence Prevention
Coalition

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN - food systems learning community

MADISON

Bachelor of Arts, Honors, May 1998

Political Science and International Northside Planning Council, Executive Director

Relations, emphasis in South Asia. Northside News, Editor

Certificates in Integrated Liberal 2001 - 2007; 2013 - 2021

Studies and Global Cultures Community capacity-building and food systems development
Responsibilities

Elementary Education, June 2001 e Managed and stabilized community development and food systems

nonprofit organization. Grew from 3 employees and $240,000 budget
to 24 employees and $1,000,000+ budget in 3 years.

¢ Nonprofit program and social enterprise development,
implementation and evaluation; community organizing, leadership

Grades 1-9, Political Science

INDUSTRIAL AREAS FOUNDATION

Sl 2001 - o development & capacity-building; Northside News publication; fiscal
Broad-Based Organizing Training management and budgeting; operations, administrative oversight
and reporting; fund development and grant writing; visioning and
MADISON COLLEGE strategic planning; organizational development; board development
PHP Developer Certificate and support; personnel development and management; volunteer
December 2010 leadership development; communications and public relations;

foster and maintain external partnerships, including local
government officials and government entities.

Coursework in PHP, Java, JavaScript,
SQL, XML, HTML & CSS






SKILLS & PROFICIENCIES
AT A GLANCE

Systems analysis, evaluation
and redesign through an
antiracist lens

Nonprofit administration and
organizational development
Nonprofit program development,
management and evaluation
Teaching, training, supervision
and mentoring

Meeting and circle facilitation
Social enterprise development
and business planning

Food systems analysis and
program design

Antiracist decision-making and
democratic governance models.
Facilitation of collective impact
cross-sector collaboratives
Grassroots leadership
development

Community organizing:
intentional relationship-
building, issue advocacy,
strategy and tactics

Restorative justice, trauma-
informed care and healing
practices

Community-based economic
development principles
Strategic planning and visioning
Fundraising and grant-writing
Financial management and
budgeting

Writing, public speaking and

storytelling

Community journalism and
newspaper publication
Volunteer management

Web application development &
website design; database design
Languages: French, Gujarati,
Hindi, introductory Spanish

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE SINCE 2001

Northside Planning Council & Northside News (Cont.)
Areas of Focus & Experience

e Stable Families, Strong Community - supported multiple collective
impact initiatives to enhance family and community well-being
through violence prevention and early childhood services.

e Community engagement in local government - organized multiple
public meetings and forums to foster awareness of local candidates
and facilitate community input into public processes.

¢ Land Use & Antiracism Work Groups - convened cross-
organizational collaboratives for learning and action around land use
and antiracist activism.

¢ Northside News - coordinated volunteers, developed content,
assisted with copy editing, design and layout of bimonthly
community newspaper with a circulation of 12,500+

e FEED Kitchens - developed policies and management systems, raised
funds, cultivated stakeholders and oversaw daily operations of 5400
sq. ft. food business incubator. FEED consistently served 80+ food
businesses, over 50% of which were co-owned/operated by women
and/or people of color.

e FEED Bakery Training Program - helped develop, fund and
implement bakery job training program with 100% job placement rate.

e MarketReady Program - developed and oversaw program that
supported 30 food entrepreneurs, primarily women and people of
color, with coaching, training and business development funds to
prepare them for tenancy in the future Madison Public Market. 29 out
of 30 entrepreneurs completed the program successfully.

e Healthy For All - strategized and developed funding for food recovery
program that annually rescued hundreds of thousands of pounds of
prepared foods and gleaned produce for redistribution at food
pantries and community meal sites throughout Dane County.

e FEED To Go - developed and implemented meal delivery program
during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic that contracted
with BIPOC-owned food businesses to help them sustain through the
quarantine. Raised over $250,000 to provide over 40,000 meals to
vulnerable home-bound residents through 100+ new volunteers.

The Memory Project, E-Luminate Program Co-Founder & Director
2007-2013 (2013 - current, continued as volunteer)

Supported the education of former child soldiers in northern Uganda and
former slaves in India through service-learning programs at US schools.

e Oversaw the operations and development of Books of Hope in
which over 20,000 American students wrote and illustrated
hand-made books in their classrooms that were sent to 18
“sister schools” in Uganda and India. Shipped 25,000 Ibs of
books and donated goods to Uganda.

e Transformed Books of Hope into E-luminate. In 2011, transitioned
from sending printed books from U.S. schools to sending
electronic materials made by American students, in the form of
PowerPoint presentations, videos, and PDFs, and building
multimedia centers in Sierra Leone and Uganda for the materials
to be used.

e Assisted with other Memory Project programs, traveling to 45+
countries to work with vulnerable and orphaned children.





